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As an internationally established specialist chemicals 
company, we process crude-oil derivatives into high- 
quality products for a large variety of industries. 

With more than 1,550 employees, we generated nearly 
€1.0 billion in sales revenues in 2015. In the years ahead 
we intend to further increase the value added by our re-
fineries through targeted measures to increase efficiency 
and through continuous improvements in our processes. 
At the same time, we intend to further expand our in-
ternational operations and to benefit from growth in the 
world’s key economic regions. 

PROFILE



During the financial year, we generated decent sales revenues of €0.98 billion. At the same time, our operating in-
come was significantly higher than in past years. Overall, the company showed in 2015 that it is well placed in the 
market and has a stable international position with positive contributions to earnings from virtually all divisions. 

T. 01 THE H&R GROUP IN FIGURES

IN € MILLION 2015 2014
Change in  

absolute terms

Sales revenue 982.9 1.058.6 -75.7

Operating result (EBITDA) 86.0 31.5 54.5

EBIT 49.2 5.8 43.4

Earnings before taxes 34.8 -7.8 42.6

Consolidated earnings (before minority interests) 27.4 -15.6 43.0

Consolidated earnings (after minority interests) 27.5 -15.4 42.9

Consolidated earnings per share (undiluted, in €) 0.77 -0.49 1.26

Operating cash flow 56.4 -0.4 56.8

Equity ratio (in %) 45.7 35.2 10.5

Employees as of 31 December (absolute) 1,568 1,553 15

T. 02 THE SEGMENTS IN FIGURES

IN € MILLION Revenue 2015 Revenue 2014 EBITDA 2015 EBITDA 2014

Chemical and Pharmaceutical Raw Materials Refining

The ChemPharm Refining Segment produces speciality products from 
crude oil in the two domestic refineries in Hamburg and Salzbergen. 614.3 768.7 53.3 18.2

Chemical-Pharmaceutical Raw Materials Sales

Our ChemPharm Sales Segment comprises the production sites 
abroad and our international sales activities. 320.2 244.7 35.1 18.8

Plastics

Our Plastics Segment manufactures high-precision plastic parts along 
with the associated tools and moulds. 60.1 56.5 -0.8 -1.5

Reconciliation -11.6 -11.3 -1.5 -3.9

OUR FINANCIAL YEAR 2015
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  H&R AG    1  Germany (Hamburg, Salzbergen)    2  China (Ningbo, Daxie, Fushun), Malaysia (Batu Caves, Port Klang), The Netherlands (Nuth), 
Singapore, South Africa (Durban), Thailand (Sri Racha, Bangkok), Unites Kingdon (Tipton)    3  Australia (Laverton), China (Hong Kong), India 
(Mumbai), New Zealand (Auckland)

 H&R GROUP    2  Germany (Hamburg)    3  France (Lyon), Poland (Cracow), Spain (Madrid), USA (Houston), Brazil (Sao Paulo)
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OUR BUSINESS MODEL

 H&R AG  
 H&R GROUP  

 1  REFINERY  
 2  PRODUCTION & WAREHOUSE
 3  SALES

We apply intelligent processes to obtain more than 800 innovative, environmentally friendly and high-quality 
products such as plasticizers, white oils and paraffins from crude-oil derivatives. High-precision plastic parts 
complete our product portfolio. Our feedstock has an almost inexhaustible potential and our products are import-
ant building blocks in the processes and products of a great number of industries. These also provide an ideal 
foundation for future success.
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05 TO THE SHAREHOLDERSLetter from the Executive Board

Your H&R AG has faced enormous challenges in recent years. Our annual reports showed unsatisfactory 
business figures, reported on the complex situation of the European refinery sector, described the  
pressure on margins, and seemed to bear witness to the increased com petition and the adverse impact 
on earnings, caused by the high volatility of crude oil prices.
 
Our annual reports reflected, on the other hand, a company that switched into crisis mode to meet these 
challenges.
 
We continuously reported on strategies we designed to reposition H&R AG. We discussed the steps  
we were taking to increase efficiency and improve output, to refinance and to improve our  management 
of raw materials, and we described our plans to strengthen our international presence and to distinguish 
ourselves from conventional lubricant refineries.

As a result, our reports have always borne witness as well to the transformation our company was  
undergoing. 

Today we are pleased to present to you an H&R AG that has emerged stronger than ever from the  
challenges of recent years. With a level of business performance that is not only significantly higher  
than that of previous years, but which also approaches that of the most successful years in the  
company’s history. Given the developments over the past four years and the adjustments that we have 
had to make in virtually every area of the company, we can honestly say that today H&R AG is  
stronger, more flexible and more competitive than it ever was at the height of its financial success. 

To a large extent, therefore, the positive results for 2015 are “homemade”. Naturally, lower  
raw-material prices, good prices for our products, positive margins and high customer demand all 
 contributed. But the company was able to take advantage of these mainly because of its own  
efforts to reposition itself.

Dear Shareholders,
Dear Ladies and Gentlemen,

Dear Employees,
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For 2015 as a whole, the Group posted €86.0 million of operating income (EBITDA). Not only  
was this amount significantly higher than the prior-year figure; it also exceeded the most recent  
projections. EBIT also followed a very positive trend, increasing by €43.4 million to €49.2 million.  
The trend was similar for earnings before taxes (EBT), which stood at €34.8 million in 2015 and 
therefore rose by €42.6 million compared to the previous year.

The adverse effects of commodity prices – the so-called “windfall losses” – also reappeared in 2015. 
However, unlike in 2014, they were more than offset by the good business and margin trends in 2015. 
Consolidated net income totaled €27.5 million, i.e., €42.9 million higher than in the previous year.

Earnings improved despite the fact that total sales revenues of €982.9 million were 7% lower than in 
2014 because of the lower price of raw materials. 

The better figures in 2015 were also reflected in H&R AG’s share price: after starting the year  
under particularly difficult conditions, the share initially reached an all-time low before recovering 
gradually over the course of the year. Overall interest in our shares was higher in 2015 than it has 
been for many years. 

We especially want to thank you, our dear shareholders, for your loyalty to our shares – not only last 
year, but especially over the past few years, as well. 



07 TO THE SHAREHOLDERSLetter from the Executive Board

We also would like to thank our customers, suppliers and investors for the excellent level of 
 cooperation during the past year. We consider our constructive collaboration to be an excellent 
 foundation on which our relationships can continue to grow over the long term.

We would also like to express our sincere gratitude to our employees. Their great commitment 
has made an important contribution to our joint efforts to further improve the efficiency of our 
 organization. Thanks to their dedication, our company is an established global player in the market 
for crude-oil-based specialty products and high-precision plastic components. 

Together, we will succeed in further stabilizing H&R AG, step by step, and developing it so that it  
will generate positive, sustainable earnings in the years to come.

Best regards,

Your H&R AG Executive Board

Niels H. Hansen   Detlev Wösten
Chaiman of the Executive Board Member of the Executive Board

Salzbergen, March 2016
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Executive Board

H&R AG’s Executive Board currently consists of two members.  
Each member of the Executive Board

is responsible for one or more functions within the H&R Group.

Niels H. Hansen
Chairman

Detlev Wösten 
Member of the Executive Board 

 Refineries, Production and Technology

Company Representative Bodies

The representative bodies of H&R AG are comprised of people who combine 
entrepreneurial thinking with professional skills. They complement each  
other with their specific skills and diverse expertise, which they use to 

achieve our shared corporate objectives.



09 TO THE SHAREHOLDERSCompany Representative Bodies

The Advisory Board

The Advisory Board of H&R AG consists of experts who contribute their expertise in the areas of finance  
and economics, industrial management and refinery technology on an advisory basis.

Harald Baumgart 
Managing Director of

KG Deutsche Gasrußwerke GmbH & Co

Eckbert von Bohlen und Halbach
Managing Director of Bohlen Industrie GmbH

Sabine Dietrich 
Member of the Supervisory Board of Commerzbank AG; 

former member of the Board of Directors of BP Europa SE

Dr.-Ing. Bernd Drouven 
Chairman of the Executive Board of Aurubis AG

Dr. Erwin Grandinger 
Businessman

Dr. Bernd Pfaffenbach 
Secretary of State in the German Federal Ministry of

Economics and Technology, retired

Wilhelm Scholten 
Managing Director of Ölfabrik Wilhelm Scholten GmbH

Dr. Gertrud Rosa Traud 
Chief Economist of Helaba Landesbank Hessen-Thüringen

The Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board of H&R AG is responsible for the appointment and supervision of the Executive Board as 
well as for the approval of significant corporate procedures. The Supervisory Board of H&R AG is comprised of 

the members listed below. The Chairman of the Supervisory Board of H&R AG is Dr. Joachim Girg.

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Dr. Joachim Girg
Managing Director of H&R Beteiligung GmbH

Members of the Supervisory Board

Roland Chmiel 
Certified Public/Chartered Accountant, Partner in the 

law and accounting firm of Weiss Walter Fischer-Zernin

Nils Hansen 
General Partner,

H&R Group

Anja Krusel (until 19/5/2015)

CFO, Microsoft Deutschland GmbH (until 30/4/2015) 

Dr. Hartmut Schütter
Consulting Engineer, Schwedt/Oder

Dr.-Ing. Peter J. Seifried
Chemical Engineer, Independent Consultant

Dr. jur. Rolf Schwedhelm
Tax Attorney and Partner in the

law firm of Streck Mack Schwedhelm

Matthias Erl (since 31/1/2016)

Technician at GAUDLITZ GmbH

Reinhold Grothus
Works Council Chairman at

H&R ChemPharm GmbH

Harald Januszewski
Thermoplast Work Preparation at GAUDLITZ GmbH

Rainer Metzner (until 31/1/2016)

Sales Manager – Medical Devices at GAUDLITZ GmbH

Honorary Chairman  
of the Supervisory Board

Bernd Günther (since June 2012)

Honorary Chairman of the Supervisory Board
H&R AG
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At the very beginning of our work process is a substance for which 
 conventional refineries no longer have any use: “atmospheric residue”, a 

by-product of crude-oil distillation. But as a specialty refinery, this substance 
has  an almost inexhaustible potential for us: Through a time-consuming 

 separation process as part of an elaborate joint-production process,   
we can extract from the distillate base oil and more than 800 innovative, 

 environmentally friendly and high-value products.

Our specialty products are used in more than 100 industries.  
In our everyday lives, we hardly notice them – and yet they are 

 indispensable. Thanks to their qualities and properties, they make it  possible 
to produce countless modern materials and products that we come into 

 contact with every day.

As they become more advanced, both the demand for and demands on our 
products increase. We are ready to tackle any challenge, anywhere in the 

world - wherever our customers need us.

Plasticizers
Process oils

Base oils
Paraffins
White oils

Atmospheric residue
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Areas of application:  
Tires, technical rubber goods (e.g., shoe soles),

thermoplastic products (e.g., toothbrush handles),
cable sheathing, rubber erasers

Production sites:
Hamburg, Salzbergen (Germany), Houston (North America), Sri Racha (Thailand),

Ningbo (China), Durban (South Africa) and Port Klang (Malaysia)

As exemplified by:
Tires

PLASTICIZERS
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Areas of application:  
Leather treatment (e.g., waterproofing), 

building protection (e.g., demolding agent),  
fertilizers, rubber/plastic processing, cable fillers

Production sites:  
Hamburg, Salzbergen (Germany), Ningbo (China),  

Port Klang (Malaysia), Sri Racha (Thailand)

As exemplified by:
Printing inks

PROCESS OILS
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Areas of application:  
Basic components of auxiliary and production materials 
for many industrial, automotive or marine applications, 
e.g., motor, industrial, machine, marine or turbine oils

Production sites:  
Hamburg and Salzbergen (Germany)

As exemplified by:
 Hydraulic oil

BASE OILS
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Areas of application:  
Cosmetics (e.g., lipstick), pharmaceutical products (e.g., ointments), 

food (e.g., cheesemaking wax), leather care (e.g., shoe polish), 
coatings for packaging, kneading/modeling compounds, body-cavity sealants, 

ski waxes, antiozonant waxes, wood preservatives, candles

Production sites:  
Hamburg, Salzbergen (Germany), Fushun (China)  

and Nuth (the Netherlands)

As exemplified by:
Candle

PARAFFINS
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Areas of application: 
Cosmetics industry (e.g., creams, lotions),  

pharmaceutical industry (e.g., ointments, oleogels), textile and plastics industry, 
food industry (e.g., lubricants used in food-processing) and chemical industry

Production sites:  
Hamburg, Salzbergen (Germany), Ningbo (China),  

Durban (South Africa)

As exemplified by:
Cream

WHITE OILS
TECHNICAL/MEDICAL
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Dear Shareholders,

Following two difficult years in 2013 and 2014, 
H&R AG can look back on a strong 2015 that saw 
earnings levels almost as high as those seen at the 
end of the last decade. This was made possible, 
on the one hand, by a better market environment 
for lubricant refineries in Europe – and not least 
by the disappearance of some providers during 
the crisis period – and, on the other hand, by 
the clear successes of the measures introduced 
since 2012 to improve efficiency at our two sites 
in Hamburg and Salzbergen. We are particularly 
pleased by the latter, which indeed proves that we 
are on the right path. H&R AG must and will stay 
the course in order to maintain and further ex-
pand our position as a technologically innovative 
specialty-refinery operator. 

General Information about Super-
visory Board Activities
The Supervisory Board diligently and conscien-
tiously performed the supervisory and advisory 
duties required by law, the Articles of Association 
and internal rules of procedure. During finan-
cial year 2015, the Supervisory Board and the  
Ex ecutive Board had a good, intensive work-
ing relationship. The Chairman of the Executive 
Board kept the Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board informed about all important issues on a 
regular  basis and in a timely manner. Outside 
of meetings, the Supervisory Board and the  
Executive Board also stayed in close contact in 
order to ensure a constant flow of information and 
an exchange of opinions.

Whereas during the two previous years the work 
of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board 
was often of a short-term or medium-term nature, 
in 2015 we were once again able to devote our 
attention to longer-term issues, i.e., to return to 
“normal” Supervisory Board activities. 
 
Therefore, in addition to the recurring agenda 
items regarding the current business trend, the 
committee reports or the status of individual 
projects, every Supervisory Board meeting also 
 focused on a key topic. H&R’s current position 
and the targets for the next few years were dis-
cussed in detail with the Executive Board and the 
respective specialists from the subsidiaries. 

The initial focal points were the international 
business, as a driver of overall growth, and  China. 
During the second half of the year, we turned 
our attention to the individual product segments. 
The first topic was the Paraffins product seg-
ment; then, at the December meeting, we dealt 
with by-products. Considering the latter at such 
an early date may seem surprising, but as high- 
volume products for the refineries, by-products 
have a significant impact on earnings. We will 
continue to follow this sequence for our meetings 
in financial year 2016.

Supervisory Board Report
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In addition to our general supervisory and con-
trol functions, we consider the core mission of 
our Supervisory Board work to lie in helping the 
Executive Board to accomplish the following five 
company goals for the Refinery and International 
Sales/Distribution segments:

–  Reducing low-margin and negative-margin 
by-products and converting these into high- 
value specialty products (measured via a state-
ment of refinery quantities) 

–  Securing and improving our competitive posi-
tion (measured using comparative refinery ana-
lyses by Solomon)

–  Expanding the international performance of 
Sales/Distribution (measured as percentage of 
sales revenues and earnings) 

–  Safety and environmental protection (measured 
by safety and environmental-protection records)

–  Generating an EBITDA margin of > 10%.

Over the medium term, we intend to achieve a 
similarly high EBITDA margin for the Plastics Di-
vision.

Members of the Executive Board and of the Su-
pervisory Board must immediately disclose any 
conflicts of interest to the Supervisory Board. 
No conflicts of interest involving members of the 
Executive Board or members of the Supervisory 
Board arose during financial year 2015. 

Composition and Efficiency Audit
As a listed stock corporation that falls under the 
German One-Third Employee Participation Act 
(Drittelbeteiligungsgesetz/DrittelbG), H&R AG’s 
Supervisory Board consists of nine members. Six 
of the members are shareholder representatives, 
four of whom are independent. The remaining 
three members are elected by the employees. 
During the reporting period, all Supervisory 
Board members attended at least one-half of the 
Supervisory Board meetings. 

H&R AG’s Supervisory Board would like to pro-
mote and strengthen a culture of diversity as a 
forward-looking foundation for our business. To 
us, diversity is a way of thinking that is charac-
terized by mutual respect and open-mindedness. 
The Supervisory Board places particular empha-
sis in this regard on promoting women to leader-
ship positions and to a corresponding level of rep-
resentation within the company’s management 
bodies. The company has set an initial women’s 
quota of 20% by 2017. As a company with inter-
national operations, we also want to ensure that 
particular attention is given to the international 
side – especially to international experience, for-
eign languages, cultures and mindsets. Finally, 
our selection criteria for Supervisory Board can-
didates also include company-specific character-
istics, such as extensive knowledge of refinery 
technology, plant construction and engineering 
and specialty oils. 
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T. 03 COMPOSITION OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD AND MEMBERSHIP OF COMMITTEES

Training and Professional Focus Function and Committees Special Points

Dr. Joachim Girg  
Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board

Dipl.-Kfm., Managing Director 
of H&R Beteiligung GmbH, 
Hamburg

Functions
Banking and Capital Markets
International Business
Strategic Issues
Corporate Governance
Committees
Steering Committee (V)
Audit Committee 
Refinery Technology and Strategy
Corporate Actions (V)
Nomination

Representative of the 
Majority Shareholder

Roland Chmiel  
Deputy Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board

CPA/Chartered  Accountant, 
Partner in the law and 
accounting firm Weiss Walter 
Fischer-Zernin, Munich

Functions
Accounting, Controlling and  
Compliance
Taxes
Committees
Steering Committee
Audit Committee (V)
Corporate Actions 

Supervisory Board’s inde-
pendent financial expert

Nils Hansen Managing Partner of the H&R 
Group, Hamburg

Functions
Entrepreneurship
Strategic Issues and Innovations
ChemPharm Specialty Products
Committees
Steering Committee
Refinery Technology and Strategy
Nomination (V)

Majority Shareholder

Anja Krusel (until 19/5/2015) CFO of Microsoft Deutsch-
land GmbH, Munich (until 
30/4/2015)

Functions
Accounting and Capital Markets
Committees (until 19/5/2015)
Audit Committee 
Corporate Actions

Independent Member, 
Supervisory Board

Dr. Hartmut Schütter Consulting Engineer, 
Schwedt/Oder

Functions
Refinery Technology,  
Plant Con struction, Engineering
Strategic Issues
Committees
Refinery Technology and Strategy (V)

Independent Member, 
Supervisory Board

Dr. jur. Rolf Schwedhelm Tax Attorney and Partner 
of the law firm Streck Mack 
Schwedhelm, Cologne

Functions
Corporate and Tax Law
Corporate Governance
Committees
Nomination

Independent Member, 
Supervisory Board

Dr.-Ing. Peter J. Seifried  
(from 19/5/2015)

Chemical Engineer, Indepen-
dent Consultant, Seevetal

Functions
Refinery Technology, Plant Con
struction, Engineering
Strategic Issues
Committees (from 12/8/2015)
Audit Committee 
Refinery Technology and Strategy
Corporate Actions

Independent Member, 
Supervisory Board

Reinhold Grothus Works Council Chairman at 
H&R ChemPharm GmbH; 
Salzbergen

Committees
Steering Committee 

Employee Representative

Harald Januszewski Thermoplast Work Prepara-
tion at GAUDLITZ GmbH, 
Coburg

No committee work Employee Representative

Rainer Metzner  
(until 31/12/2015)

Works Council Chairman at 
GAUDLITZ GmbH, Coburg

No committee work Employee Representative
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During the past year, particular attention was 
paid to auditing the efficiency of the Superviso
ry Board. After studying and comparing various 
offers from specialized service providers, we de
cided to combine implementation using our own 
capacity with help from an outside partner. Under 
the leadership of our Manager of Audit and Com
pliance, a list of around 150 questions (divided 
into ten sections) was drawn up in coordination 
and agreement with the Chairman of the Audit 
Committee. Logistics were handled by a service 
provider that guaranteed the necessary anonymi
ty. In turn, the evaluation was carried out by H&R 
AG’s Senior Auditor. After an intensive discussion 
of the results at a meeting of the Audit Commit
tee held on 7 December 2015, a presentation was 
given to the entire Supervisory Board on the day 
following the meeting. 

In general, we rate the composition and the work 
of our Board as good. Nevertheless, during the 
course of the discussion, we developed improve
ments for some work processes. We also placed 
particular emphasis on conflicts of interest. We 
decided to modify the procedures for how these 
should be reported and how they can be handled 
better in the future. 

There were two personnel changes that affected 
the Executive Board and Supervisory Board in 
 financial year 2015. In January 2015, the Exe
cutive Board employment contract with  Thierry 
Chevrier was terminated after Mr Chevrier as
sumed new responsibilities for Acquisitions, 
Marketing and Sales/Distribution activities within 
Hansen & Rosenthal KG. In May 2015, Ms Anja 
Krusel resigned from her position on the Supervi
sory Board as required by her new employer after 
she changed jobs. 

Visits to the Chinese Locations
While the Supervisory Board Chairman regularly 
visits domestic production sites, another longer 
trip to visit our international units took place in 
2015. In 2015, the destination was again China, 
where our site in Ningbo/Beilun celebrated its 
tenth anniversary. The visit, which took place 
shortly after the Annual Shareholders’ Meet
ing at the end of May 2015, also included the 
Chairman of the Executive Board, Mr Niels H. 

Hansen, and the Managing Director of our Chi
nese ChemPharm businesses, Mr Hugh Luo. As a 
result, with the exception of Australia, the Super
visory Board Chairman has visited all major units 
in recent years. In addition, in September 2015, 
the Chairman of the Audit Committee and the new 
auditor jointly visited the sites in China as part of 
a comparable tour. 

Today, the Ningbo/Beilun location is one of the 
H&R Group’s success stories. It serves as a mod
el for further international expansions. Following 
a difficult startup phase not untypical for China, 
development of the Ningbo/Beilun site has been 
very dynamic and successful since 2007. The  
initially expected sales volume of 35,000 tons p.a. 
had already been reached 3 years later. In 2014, 
the site – which was originally designed with an 
annual sales capacity of only 50,000 tons – sold 
more than 75,000 tons. Because further expan
sion of capacity at that site was not possible, 
in 2012, following an intensive search, a new 
site was located around 25 kilometers away, at  
Ningbo/Daixi, and a modern conversion plant was 
built and placed into operation at the end of 2014. 

The strategic plan calls for continuing the suc
cessful first decade in China with the new site at 
Ningbo/Daixi. On the other hand, with its links to 
the world’s largest paraffin refinery, the Fushun 
site offers the opportunity to develop into a new 
international player in this product segment over 
the long term. 

H&R’s three locations in China currently have an 
annual capacity of up to 200,000 tons of primary 
products. This is roughly comparable to the annu
al tonnage of primary products from our Salzber
gen refinery.

Supervisory Board Meetings 
A total of 10 Supervisory Board meetings took 
place in 2015, six of which were facetoface 
meetings and four of which were held via telecon
ference. The attendance rate was 93%. The Su
pervisory Board was extensively informed about 
the company’s situation by the Executive Board 
on a regular basis, both verbally and in writing. 
To the extent required by law or the Articles of 
Association, the Supervisory Board approved 
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proposed resolutions after thoroughly reviewing 
them.

At the beginning of the year (on 15 January and 
27 January 2015), two Supervisory Board meet
ings were held to discuss the reorganization of 
the Executive Board. As a result, it was decided to 
terminate the Executive Board employment con
tract with Mr Thierry Chevrier.

At the meeting held on 20 February 2015, the 
separate financial statements and the consolidat
ed financial statements of H&R AG and the report 
on the company’s ties to affiliated companies 
were audited and discussed in the presence of 
the auditors. In order to give Supervisory Board 
members time to carefully study the documents, 
they were adopted at a Supervisory Board meet
ing held on 27 February 2015. The meeting also 
discussed the current status of plans to further 
develop sales/distribution agreements, the com
pany’s start to the year and measures planned by 
individual subsidiaries in 2015. The Supervisory 
Board’s report for the 2014 Annual Report was 
also approved, as were the newly defined Execu
tive Board responsibilities and the new version of 
the Statement of Compliance. 

The meeting held on 25 March 2015 dealt with 
the invitation to the Annual Shareholders’ Meet
ing on 19 May 2015 and the proposal, included 
in the invitation, to elect a new auditor. Follow
ing the debate on this, both items were approved 
unanimously. Other focal points included the 
status of optimization measures at the Hamburg 
refinery site and further development of interna
tional sales/distribution activities. The status quo 
and mediumterm and longterm goals of the in
dividual units were discussed in detail in the pres
ence of the Manager of Operations for the Inter
national Sales/Distribution segment and our Thai 
subsidiary. 

At the meeting held on 18 May 2015, directly 
before the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, the 
Supervisory Board considered the current busi
ness situation and the status of preparations for 
the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting. Another topic 
discussed was the current status of new financing 
for H&R AG. 

At the Supervisory Meeting on 17 July 2015, the 
Chairman and the CFO reported on the results of 
negotiations with banks regarding refinancing of 
a major portion of H&R AG’s financing. Following 
an indepth discussion, the Supervisory Board – 
which had already been informed during previous 
meetings about continued developments in the 
discussions – authorized the Executive Board to 
conclude the loan agreements presented.

Our activities in China dominated discussions at 
the 12 August 2015 meeting. The Supervisory 
Board Chairman reported on his trip to China, 
while the Executive Board Chairman reported on 
measures at the Ningbo/Beilun and Fushun sites. 
In addition, the Executive Board Chairman gave a 
presentation on the status of various international 
projects in Asia and Europe. Other major topics 
included a review of developments at H&R AG’s 
subsidiaries during the first half and the status of 
the sale of the quartz sand deposits at the Sythen
grund site. Finally, byelections were held for var
ious committees, as required due to the departure 
of Ms. Anja Krusel. 

The Supervisory Board meeting held on 22 Sep
tember 2015 discussed flood protection at the 
Hamburg refinery site. Following extensive pre
paratory work by the RTS Committee, the histo
ry and project planning for construction of the 
floodprotection facilities in accordance with 
the guidelines set by the Hamburg Port Author
ity (HPA) were presented and discussed. Current 
fundingsupport aspects were also discussed. 
Following a thorough discussion, the Supervi
sory Board approved the overall design to build 
the new floodprotection system at H&R Ölwerke 
Schindler GmbH by 2019.

At the 20 October 2015 meeting, the Executive 
Board reported on the company’s business situa
tion following the end of the third quarter. More
over, an overview was given of the results of the 
comparative refinery study by Solomon. The ana
lysis highlighted the efficiency, competitiveness 
and sustainability of the H&R Group. In the study, 
which encompassed almost 50% of the lubricant 
refineries worldwide, our two refinery sites in 
Hamburg and Salzbergen consistently occupied 
good positions. At the same time, though, there 
was also clearly potential for making improve
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ments in specific segments. The Executive Board 
presented measures for tapping into and realizing 
such potential. In addition to the German Corpo
rate Governance Code, the Statement of Compli
ance and the efficiency audit, paraffins were also 
discussed. In light of current global changes in 
this industry, the Executive Board presented the 
strategic approach of Global Wax, which was dis
cussed in detail. 

On 8 December 2015, we focused on the refin
ery businesses’ byproducts. Because of their 
volume, these have a significant influence on 
earnings. Furthermore, the Executive Board pre
sented its budget for 2016 and the coming years. 
Following deliberations, the Supervisory Board 
approved the 2016 budget. This meeting also 
dealt with the Supervisory Board efficiency audit, 
the 2015/2016 Statement of Compliance and, in 
addition, the presentation and discussion of the 
energy plan for the Salzbergen refinery site. The 
last Supervisory Board meeting of the year was 
rounded out by an update on the status of sales/
distribution agreements and financing for the 
Chinese companies.

The Work of the Supervisory Board 
Committees 
Pursuant to the rules of procedure, the Superviso
ry Board has established five committees:

• the Steering Committee, 
• the Audit Committee,
•  the Refinery Technology and Strategy  

Committee,
• the Corporate Actions Committee
• and the Nomination Committee. 

It is also empowered to set up adhoc committees. 
Unlike in 2014, it did not exercise that power 
 during the past financial year. 

In 2015, the committees’ work again focused on 
meetings of the Audit Committee and the Refinery 
Technology and Strategy Committee. These two 
committees accounted for twelve of the fifteen 
meetings held. At subsequent Supervisory Board 
meetings, reports were given of the committees’ 
work. As a result of our efficiency audit, in the 
future we intend to reduce the number of commit

tees to three by abolishing the Corporate Actions 
Committee and the Steering Committee.

The attendance rate for all fifteen committee 
meetings was 91%. The composition of the com
mittees is shown on page 24.

In financial year 2015, the members of the Steer-
ing Committee held one meeting. The meeting’s 
agenda included Executive Board and Superviso
ry Board issues and general questions about the 
situation of the company. 

All committee members attended the meeting.

The Audit Committee held four meetings during 
the reporting year. In the presence of the auditors 
and the Executive Board, it dealt with the finan
cial statements and the combined Management 
Report for H&R AG and the Group, the Subordi
nate Status Report and the appropriation of net 
income. In addition, the committee helped to pre
pare the prospectus for the admission of the new 
shares to trading in connection with the increase 
in capital through a contributioninkind in Sep
tember 2014.

Further, the Audit Committee provided the Su
pervisory Board with a recommendation on the 
proposal for electing the (new) statutory auditor 
at the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting. The follow
ing topics were then discussed in detail: issuing 
the audit engagement to the auditors for financial 
year 2015; monitoring the auditors’ independ
ence and qualifications; determining the focal 
points of the audit; and determining the auditing 
firm’s fees.

In addition, the body actively reviewed the effi
ciency of the work by the Supervisory Board. The 
type of evaluation procedure, the results of the 
review and the implementation of improvements 
were also discussed. In addition, the Audit Com
mittee examined the organizational structure and 
humanresources situation in connection with the 
Group’s accounting process and internal control 
system, as well as specific Group compliance is
sues, and received reports on the activities, re
sults and audit plan of the internal audit function. 
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On top of the committee meetings, the Chairman 
of the Audit Committee, the auditors, the Execu
tive Board and the Head of Finance held regular 
meetings to exchange information and coordinate 
their work.

The Audit Committee’s attendance rate was 92%.

The Refinery Technology and Strategy Com-
mittee met eight times last year. The committee’s 
work focused mainly on strategic issues, such as 
evaluating the market environment and market 
position of our refineries and opportunities for 
action; assessing energy, chemicals and environ
mental legislation was also a key area of interest. 

The committee also discussed developing and 
implementing optimization and adhoc projects. 
These included the optimized use and process
ing of byproducts, valuecreation concepts, 
construction of the floodprotection system for 
the Hamburg refinery site and modernization of 
 energygeneration at our Salzbergen refinery site. 

Other important issues related to safety perfor
mance at our refinery sites, the fire in the paraffin 
mold facility at the Salzbergen site on 3 June 2015 
and the analysis of the results of the comparative 
international refinery study by Solomon in 2014. 
In addition to the above, committee members 
carry out safety inspections at both refinery sites 
every year.

The attendance rate for the Refinery Technology 
and Strategy Committee was 87%.

The Corporate Actions Committee held one 
meeting at the beginning of 2015. The meeting 
discussed possible corporate actions given the 
current market environment. Because of the good 
business performance in the period following the 
meeting, such considerations were put on ice for 
the time being.

All committee members attended the meeting 
of the Corporate Actions Committee.The Nomi-
nation Committee held one meeting during the 
past year. In a letter dated 9 February 2015, Ms 
Anja Krusel notified the Supervisory Board Chair
man that she was transferring from Microsoft 
Deutschland GmbH, Munich to Borealis AG, Vien
na effective 1 May 2015. In connection with this 
change, Borealis AG asked Ms Krusel to resign 
from her position on H&R’s Supervisory Board. 
After an intensive search and thorough deliber
ation, the Nomination Committee unani mously 
recommended at its March meeting to propose 
Dr.Ing. Peter Seifried as a Supervisory Board 
candidate at the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting. 
In the future, as well, when selecting suitable can
didates for the Supervisory Board, we will make 
the interests of the company the sole focus of all 
deliberations.

All committee members attended the meeting of 
the Nomination Committee.

Audit of the Separate and  
Consolidated Financial Statements
Warth & Klein Grant Thornton AG Wirtschaftsprü
fungsgesellschaft, Hamburg, audited the separate 
and consolidated financial statements and the 
combined management report for H&R AG and 
the Group for the financial year 2015 and issued 
an unqualified audit certificate for each.

The separate financial statements for H&R AG 
and the combined management report for H&R 
AG and the Group were prepared in accordance 
with the requirements of the German Commercial 
Code (HGB). The consolidated financial state
ments were prepared in accordance with Inter
national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
applicable in the European Union (EU) and the 
supplementary provisions of German commercial 
law required by Article 315a, paragraph 1 of the 
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HGB. The auditors carried out the audit in accord
ance with Article 317 of the HGB and the gener
ally accepted auditing principles promulgated by 
the Institute of Public Auditors in Germany (IDW). 
The Executive Board distributed the aforemen
tioned documents to the Supervisory Board in 
good time. The separate and consolidated finan
cial statements and the combined management 
report were also dealt with in depth at the Audit 
Committee meeting on 9 March 2016.

The audit reports by Warth & Klein Grant Thorn
ton were distributed to all Supervisory Board 
members and were reviewed thoroughly in the 
presence of the auditors at the Supervisory Board 
meeting held on 16 March 2016 to discuss the 
financial statements. The auditors reported on the 
main findings of their audit and confirmed that 
the internal control and riskmanagement system 
had no major weaknesses as far as the accounting 
process was concerned. In addition, the auditors 
talked about significant transactions and deci
sions that had been taken concerning accounting 
policies. At the plenum meeting, the Chairman of 
the Audit Committee gave an extensive report on 
the Audit Committee’s review of the separate and 
consolidated financial statements. 

Based on the recommendation by the Audit 
Committee, we accepted the results of the audit 
conducted by the auditors and approved both 
the separate and the consolidated financial state
ments. The separate financial statements were 
thereby adopted. Because the separate financial 
statements did not report a distributable profit for 
the reporting year, the Executive Board did not 
present any proposal for the appropriation of net 
income to the Supervisory Board.

The report on relations with affiliated companies 
prepared by the Executive Board in accordance 
with Article 312 of the German Stock Corporation 
Act (AktG) was also examined by the auditors. 
The auditors informed the Supervisory Board of 
the outcome of the audit and issued the following 
auditors’ opinion:

“Having carried out the audit and assessment in 
accordance with our professional duties, we con
firm that

1.  the factual information provided in the report 
is correct,

2.  the payments made by the company for the le
gal transactions listed in the report were not 
inappropriately high.”

This report by the auditors was also reviewed by 
the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board 
endorses the closing statement made by the 
 Executive Board in the report and has no objec
tions to raise.

The Supervisory Board thanks the members of the 
Executive Board, all employees worldwide and 
the employee representatives for their hard work, 
their personal contributions and their construc
tive collaboration for the good of the company.

March 2016

Signing for the Supervisory Board

Dr. Joachim Girg
Chairman
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Corporate Governance

Declaration on Corporate Govern-
ance and Corporate Governance 
Report  

Corporate governance refers to a company’s deci-
sion-making and control processes. Good corpo-
rate governance means making decisions based 
on long-term value creation, ensuring that a com-
pany’s Executive Board and Supervisory Board 
work together effectively and demonstrating a 
high level of transparency in corporate commu-
nications. These factors are the key guiding prin-
ciples when it comes to the management and su-
pervision of H&R AG.

The Executive Board hereby issues the following 
Statement on Corporate Governance, in accord-
ance with Article 289a of the German Commercial 
Code (HGB), which is an integral part of the com-
bined Management Report, thereby also fulfilling 
Recommendation Number 3.10 of the current 
German Corporate Governance Code (Prepara-
tion of the Corporate Governance Report).

2015/2016 Statement of Compliance
The Executive Board and Supervisory Board is-
sued the last Statement of Compliance pursuant 
to Article 161 of the German Stock Corporation 
Act (AktG) on 20 February 2015. The following 
statement refers to the recommendations of the 
Code as updated on 5 May 2015, which was pub-
lished in the electronic version of the Federal Ga-
zette (Bundesanzeiger) on 12 June 2015.

The Executive Board and Supervisory Board of 
H&R AG hereby declare that the recommenda-
tions of the Government Commission on the Ger-
man Corporate Governance Code have been and 
are being complied with, with the following ex-
ceptions:

–  Section 4.2.3, paragraph 2 of the Code: 
The variable remuneration components paid to 
Detlev Wösten, member of the Executive Board, 
are made up equally of the annual consolidated 
operating result (EBITDA), adjusted for any ex-
traordinary result within the meaning of Article 
275, paragraph 2, no. 16 of the German Com-
mercial Code (HGB), and personal targets (so-
called earnings component). Beginning with the 

company’s 2013 financial year, this is capped at 
100% of the fixed annual remuneration. When 
this form of variable remuneration was select-
ed, Detlev Wösten’s position on the Executive 
Board was initially scheduled to terminate at the 
end of 2013.

In November 2014, this contract was renewed 
until the end of 2016 without any adjustments 
to the remuneration arrangement. Although a 
long-term basis theoretically exists for calculat-
ing the amount of variable remuneration over 
several years, it is not used to measure variable 
remuneration for two additional years; nor are 
possible negative developments taken into ac-
count. The Executive Board and the Superviso-
ry Board are nonetheless certain that this form 
of variable remuneration sets no incentive that 
would be contrary to the company’s sustainable 
development, since the variable remuneration 
components will be capped at 100% of the fixed 
annual remuneration from financial year 2013. 
If Mr Detlev Wösten’s Executive Board appoint-
ment is renewed again after 2016, the Supervi-
sory Board will once again review whether the 
variable remuneration should be adjusted to the 
Code recommendations in effect at that time.

– Section 5.1.2, paragraph 2 of the Code: 
Currently, only the executive employment con-
tract with Mr Detlev Wösten stipulates a general 
age limit of 65. Neither the remaining executive 
employment contracts currently in force nor 
the rules of procedure for the Executive Board 
stipulate a general age limit for members of 
H&R AG’s Executive Board. In view of the cur-
rent age structure of the company’s Executive 
Board, the Executive and Supervisory Boards to 
date have seen no reason for such a provision, 
because a formal age limit would unnecessari-
ly complicate the search for suitable Executive 
Board members. However, the Supervisory 
Board intends to set a general age limit of 65 
when concluding new executive employment 
contracts and in the event of any amendments 
to existing executive employment contracts. 

– Section 5.4.6, paragraph 2 of the Code:
The variable annual remuneration for Supervi-
sory Board members according to Article  15, 
paragraph 1 of the Articles of Association 
is linked to the return on capital employed 



31 TO THE SHAREHOLDERSCorporate Governance 

(ROCE), which is calculated on the basis of the 
audited and approved consolidated financial 
statements by dividing earnings before interest 
and taxes (EBIT) by the interest-bearing capital 
(capital employed, i.e., the sum of net financial 
debt, equity and pension provisions). This var-
iable remuneration for the financial year is not 
geared to sustainable business performance 
over a period spanning several years, as Article 
87, paragraph 1, sentences 2 and 3 of the Ger-

man Stock Corporation Act (AktG) stipulate for 
Executive Board remuneration. The Executive 
Board and the Supervisory Board are current-
ly deciding whether to propose to the Annual 
Shareholders’ Meeting an adjustment to the Su-
pervisory Board’s variable remuneration in light 
of the new Code recommendations.

Salzbergen, 8 December 2015

Niels H. Hansen Detlev Wösten  Dr. Joachim Girg
Chairman of the Executive Board Member of the Executive Board  Chairman of the Supervisory Board 

Declaration on Corporate Governance and Corporate Governance Report
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Corporate Governance Report

In the following section, the Executive and Super-
visory Boards report on Corporate Governance at 
H&R AG pursuant to Section 3.10 of the German 
Corporate Governance Code. The section also in-
cludes the Executive Board Remuneration Report.

Corporate Governance Practices and 
Compliance
Management and control at H&R AG are based 
on the Articles of Association, the rules of pro-
cedure for the Supervisory Board and Executive 
Board, the German Corporate Governance Code 
and the relevant national legislation. Corporate 
management practices going above and beyond 
the statutory requirements are summarized in a 
Group-wide Code of Conduct. This Code defines 
binding rules of conduct derived from our corpo-
rate policy. Our values and the resulting corporate 
policy can be consulted online at www.hur.com 
under the heading “About H&R”. We work contin-
uously to make our employees aware of the need 
to behave in accordance with the Code of Conduct 
when carrying out their jobs. We also hold exten-
sive training sessions on special issues, depend-
ing on the area of responsibility. These courses 
at H&R focus on topics relating to occupational 
health and safety, environmental protection and 
anti-trust legislation.

Compliance infringements are systematically 
tracked and consistently subjected to disciplinary 
actions. Compliance with the requirements of the 
Group-wide Code of Conduct is regularly the sub-
ject of deliberations by the Supervisory Board.

Shareholders and Annual Share-
holders’ Meeting
Our shareholders decide on company matters by 
exercising their voting rights at a General Share-
holders’ Meeting which is held at least once a 
year. The shareholders entitled to attend and vote 
are those who on the 21st day before the Share-
holders’ Meeting (Record Date) hold H&R shares 
and correctly register to attend the Shareholders’ 
Meeting. Each share entitles its holder to cast one 
vote (one- share-one-vote rule). Every sharehold-
er who is entitled to vote has the option of ex-

ercising his voting right in person, appointing a 
proxy or abstaining from the vote. In addition, we 
offer shareholders the option to pool their votes 
through our company’s instruction-bound vot-
ing-rights representative.

Shareholders have the right to speak at the An-
nual Shareholders’ Meeting, submit motions and 
request information about matters concerning the 
company and its affiliated companies insofar as is 
necessary to reach a constructive assessment of 
an item on the agenda. Our Annual Shareholders’ 
Meeting elects six of the nine members of the Su-
pervisory Board by rotation. Among other things, 
it also makes decisions on the appropriation of 
distributable profit, the formal approval of the ac-
tivities of the Supervisory and Executive Boards, 
the appointment of the (Group) auditors, corpo-
rate actions and amendments to the Articles of 
Association. The invitation and all documents to 
be made accessible to the Annual Shareholders’ 
Meeting are published on the H&R AG section of 
our website, www.hur.com, in a timely manner. 
After the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, the re-
sults of voting and attendance figures can also be 
found in this section of the website.

Executive and Supervisory Board 
Cooperation
In accordance with statutory requirements, we 
have implemented a dual management system 
with a strict separation between corporate man-
agement and control functions: the Executive 
Board manages the company independently and 
under its own responsibility. The Executive Board 
regularly coordinates and agrees on the strategic 
direction of the company and the business plan 
with the Supervisory Board and notifies it about 
the progress towards meeting targets and im-
plementing the strategy. The Supervisory Board 
appoints, supervises and controls the Executive 
Board on the basis of rules of procedure for the 
Executive Board adopted by the Supervisory 
Board which, inter alia, regulate Executive Board 
reporting to the Supervisory Board. It is directly 
consulted and involved in decisions of fundamen-
tal importance for our company. Pursuant to Ar-
ticle 111, paragraph 4, sentence 2 AktG, the Su-
pervisory Board has also issued to the Executive 
Board a list of transactions that require approval. 

www.hur.com
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Supervisory Board
Composition of the Supervisory Board. In ac-
cordance with Article 8, paragraph 1 of the Arti-
cles of Association, in conjunction with Article 96, 
paragraph 1, alt. 4; Article 101, paragraph 1, sen-
tence 1 AktG; in conjunction with Article 1, para-
graph 1, sentence 1, no. 1; paragraph 2, sentence 
1, no. 1, Article 4, paragraph 1 of the German 
One-Third Employee Participation Act (Drittel-
bG), our Supervisory Board is composed of nine 
members in total, of whom six are appointed by 
the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, with no obli-
gation to follow proposals made by the company, 
and three by the employees in accordance with 
the regulations on co-determination. The body is 
therefore subject to co-determination in accord-
ance with the DrittelbG.

Dr. Joachim Girg and Mr Nils Hansen have been 
elected to the Supervisory Board as shareholder 
representatives for the period up to the close of 
the 2017 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, which 
will formally approve the activities of the mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board for financial year 
2016.

The same applied to Ms Anja Krusel. However, 
due to her career change, Ms Anja Krusel re-
signed from her position on the Supervisory 
Board, effective at the close of the 2015 Annual 
Shareholders’ Meeting. Dr.-Ing. Peter J. Seifried 
was elected to replace her on the Supervisory 
Board. His term of office will end at the close of 
the 2020 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting.

Mr. Sven Hansen was elected as a substitute mem-
ber for Supervisory Board member Nils Hansen, 
on condition that he will become a member of the 
Supervisory Board if Mr Nils Hansen should leave 
the Supervisory Board before his regular term of 
office expires. 

The 2013 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting elected 
Dr. Hartmut Schütter to the Supervisory Board. 
His term of office will end at the close of the 2018 
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting. 

The term of office of the Supervisory Board mem-
bers elected by the 2011 Annual Shareholders’ 
Meeting, Mr Roland Chmiel and Dr. Rolf Schwed-
helm, will end at the close of the 2016 Annual 

Shareholders’ Meeting. The Supervisory Board 
has been chaired by Dr. Joachim Girg since his 
election to the Supervisory Board at the 2012 An-
nual Shareholders’ Meeting.

The term of office of the three employee repre-
sentatives on the Supervisory Board, Mr Reinhold 
Grothus, Mr Harald Januszewski and Mr Rainer 
Metzner, will also end at the close of the 2017 An-
nual Shareholders’ Meeting. However, because 
Mr Metzner left the Group on 31 January 2016, 
on the same date Mr Matthias Erl replaced him 
as employee representative on the Supervisory 
Board Mr Erl had already been elected as a sub-
stitute member for Mr Metzner at the 2012 Annu-
al Shareholders’ Meeting. His term of office will 
also end at the close of the 2017 Annual Share-
holders’ Meeting.

Tasks. The Supervisory Board oversees the Ex-
ecutive Board and advises its members on their 
management of the company. Executive Board 
members are appointed and dismissed by the Su-
pervisory Board in line with Articles 84 and 85 of 
the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) or, in 
exceptional cases, by the court. Amendments to 
the Articles of Association are made on the basis 
of Articles 133 and 179 AktG and Article 20, par-
agraph 2 of the Articles of Association. The Su-
pervisory Board is nevertheless entitled to adopt 
amendments to the Articles of Association that 
only affect their wording without the approval 
of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting. Article 13 
of the Articles of Association defines further cir-
cumstances, in addition to those defined by stat-
ute, in which the Supervisory Board’s approval 
is required. Specifically, these are: entering into 
long-term liabilities, establishing and dissolv-
ing branch offices and establishing, liquidating, 
merging or converting subsidiaries. The Supervi-
sory Board has also adopted rules of procedure 
as recommended in Section 5.1.3 of the German 
Corporate Governance Code. 

Mode of Operation. Five committees have been 
formed from among its members:

–  A Steering Committee chaired by Dr. Joachim 
Girg; the other committee members are Mr Ro-
land Chmiel, Mr Reinhold Grothus and Mr Nils 
Hansen. This committee is responsible for mak-

Corporate Governance Report
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ing preparations for the appointment of Execu-
tive Board members and carries out long-term 
succession planning. In addition, the committee 
is expected to propose resolutions regarding 
Executive Board remuneration to the Supervi-
sory Board plenum.

–  A Committee on Corporate Actions and Invest-
ments chaired by Dr. Joachim Girg; the other 
committee members are Mr Roland Chmiel and 
Dr.-Ing. Peter J. Seifried. This committee pre-
pares Supervisory Board votes on corporate ac-
tions. By joining H&R AG’s Supervisory Board, 
Dr.-Ing. Peter J. Seifried replaced Ms Anja Kru-
sel, who left effective at the close of the 2015 
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting. 

–  An Audit Committee chaired by Mr Roland 
Chmiel; the other committee members are Dr. 
Joachim Girg and Dr.-Ing. Peter J. Seifried. By 
joining H&R AG’s Supervisory Board, Dr.-Ing. 
Peter J. Seifried replaced Ms Anja Krusel, who 
left effective at the close of the 2015 Annual 
Shareholders’ Meeting As an auditor, Mr Chmiel 
has specialist knowledge and experience apply-
ing accounting principles and internal control 
procedures. This is a requirement for chairing 
this committee under Section 5.3.2 of the Ger-
man Corporate Governance Code. Moreover, in 
the opinion of the Supervisory Board, he is qual-
ified as an independent financial expert within 
the meaning of Article 100, paragraph 5 AktG. 
The Audit Committee’s responsibilities include 
supervising the accounting process, monitor-
ing the effectiveness of the risk-management 
system and overseeing the audit of the financial 
statements, in addition to other responsibilities.

–  A Nomination Committee chaired by Mr Nils 
Hansen; the other members are Dr. Joachim 
Girg and Dr. Rolf Schwedhelm. This commit-
tee’s remit is to identify suitable Supervisory 
Board candidates who are then nominated by 
the Supervisory Board plenum at the Annual 
Shareholders’ Meeting. Here, the committee is 
guided – apart from qualifications relating en-
tirely to professional background – by the prin-
ciple of diversity and it has set a target for wom-
en to occupy one-fifth of all positions on the 
Supervisory Board which are up for election.

–  A Refinery Technology and Strategy Commit-
tee chaired by Dr. Hartmut Schütter; the other 
committee members are Dr. Joachim Girg, Nils 
Hansen and Dr.-Ing. Peter J. Seifried (since May 
2015). The Committee’s purpose is to advise 
and supervise the Executive Board on the stra-
tegic future development of the H&R Group’s 
refinery sites. 

As individuals may not be members of the Ex-
ecutive Board and the Supervisory Board at the 
same time, the two management bodies have a 
high degree of independence. There are current-
ly no former members of the Executive Board 
serving as members of the Supervisory Board. 
To enable the members of the Supervisory Board 
to diligently prepare for meetings, the Executive 
Board informs them in advance of the topics to be 
addressed.

Objectives. Pursuant to Section 5.4.1 of the Code, 
the Supervisory Board has set concrete objectives 
regarding its composition. These objectives are 
as follows:

–  To ensure that women make up at least 20% of 
the Supervisory Board members by the middle 
of financial year 2017; the goal is for an equal 
percentage to be represented on both the share-
holder and employee side. Currently, the Super-
visory Board is not meeting this objective.

–  Electing Supervisory Board members with an 
international background.

–  Consider special knowledge and experience ap-
plying accounting principles and internal con-
trol procedures.

–  Consider technical expertise, particularly in the 
field of refining technology.

–  Consider knowledge of the company. 

–  Independence of Supervisory Board members.

–  Avoid conflicts of interest.

–  Consider the age limit of 70 years at the time of 
the election.
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In addition, pursuant to Section 5.1.2 of the Ger-
man Corporate Governance Code, the Superviso-
ry Board has set concrete objectives for the com-
position of the Executive Board and the second 
tier of management, in particular as regards the 
percentage of women. These objectives are as 
follows:

–  To ensure that women make up at least 20% of 
the first tier of management (Executive Board) 
and second tier of management (refinery man-
agers) by the middle of financial year 2017. This 
target is already being met for the second tier of 
management and on H&R AG’s Advisory Board.

With regard to the criterion of independence of 
the Supervisory Board members, the Supervisory 
Board plenum believes that, based on a Super-
visory Board consisting of nine members, the 
number of independent board members should 
be at least six, taking into account the employee 
representatives. The Supervisory Board considers 
the employee representatives in connection with 
Annex II, Section 1 b) of the Commission Rec-
ommendation of 15 February 2005 on the role of 
non-executive directors/Supervisory Board mem-
bers of listed companies and on the committees 
of the Management/Supervisory Board (OJ L 52, 
25 February 2005, p.51) to be independent. By 
separate resolution of the shareholder representa-
tives on the Supervisory Board, these have set the 
number of independent shareholder represent-
atives to at least three. The current composition 
of the Supervisory Board of H&R AG at present 
complies fully with the aforementioned specific 
objectives. From the perspective of the Supervi-
sory Board, the Board includes four independent 
shareholder representatives, Mr Roland Chmiel, 
Dr. Rolf Schwedhelm, Dr. Hartmut Schütter and 
Dr.-Ing. Peter Seifried. Thus, taking into account 
the employee representatives on the Supervisory 
Board, the total number of independent Supervi-
sory Board members is seven.

Further details concerning the work of the Super-
visory Board during the reporting period can be 
found in the Supervisory Board Report on pages 
22 to 29 of this Annual Report.

Executive Board
Composition of the Executive Board. The Ex-
ecutive Board represents the company exter-
nally. It conducts business transactions for H&R 
AG independently and manages the company. In 
doing so, it considers the concerns and interests 
of shareholders, its employees and other groups 
affiliated with the company (stakeholders) while 
pursuing the goal of sustainable added value. It is 
guided by the law, the Articles of Association, its 
rules of procedure and resolutions adopted by the 
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting. 

The members of the Executive Board have joint 
responsibility for overall management. 

In financial year 2015, the Executive Board to a 
very large extent consisted of two people with the 
following responsibilities (inter alia):

Niels H. Hansen,
Chairman of the Executive Board:
Corporate Strategy, Research & Technology, Cap-
ital Market Communications, Sales and Distribu-
tion Companies, International Business and IT

Detlev Wösten,
Member of the Executive Board:
Refineries, Production and Technology 

On 25 November 2014, the Supervisory Board 
appointed Mr Thierry Chevrier as Chief Operat-
ing Officer and a member of the Executive Board, 
effective 1 January 2015. This Executive Board 
employment contract was rescinded by mutual 
agreement on 29 January 2015. Mr Chevrier did 
not receive any remuneration from the company 
during his term of employment.

Tasks. The Executive Board develops the cor-
porate objectives, the basic strategic direction, 
corporate policy and the Group structure. It is re-
sponsible for preparing the quarterly and annual 
reports, including the management reports. Fur-
ther, the Executive Board oversees an appropriate 
risk-management and risk-control system and en-
sures compliance with legal provisions and inter-
nal company guidelines and enforces compliance 
with these by Group companies. For further  

information  
see page 22–29
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Mode of Operation. The Executive Board holds 
regular meetings. These are convened by the 
Chairman of the Executive Board, who coordi-
nates the Board’s work. The results of the meet-
ings are recorded in minutes which are made 
available to all members of the Executive Board. 
As the Executive Board is relatively small, it has 
not formed any committees.

On the Executive Board, cooperation is regulated 
in detail by rules of procedures issued by the Su-
pervisory Board. Each Board member is required, 
without first being asked, to inform the other Ex-
ecutive Board member(s) of all significant events 
in the areas under his responsibility. The rules 
of procedure also stipulate circumstances which 
require a unanimous decision by the Executive 
Board plenum. 

Objectives. Pursuant to Section 4.1.5 of the Ger-
man Corporate Governance Code, the Executive 
Board has set concrete objectives for the percent-
age of women at both levels of management be-
low the Executive Board These objectives are as 
follows:

–  As for attaining a percentage of women at the 
first level of management below the Executive 
Board, the Executive Board, working jointly 
with the Supervisory Board, has defined a target 
figure of at least 20% by the middle of financial 
year 2017; these targets are already being met. 

–  As for attaining a percentage of women at the 
second level of management below the Execu-
tive Board, the Executive Board has also defined 
a target figure of at least 20% by the middle of 
financial year 2017. These targets are already 
being met as well.

Audit of the Financial Statements by 
WKGT
Both the consolidated financial statements of H&R 
and the quarterly reports were prepared in ac-
cordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). The separate financial state-
ments for H&R AG were drawn up in accordance 
with the requirements of the German Commercial 
Code (HGB). The separate and consolidated finan-
cial statements of H&R AG for the 2015 financial 

year have been audited by Warth & Klein Grant 
Thornton AG (WKGT), Wirtschaftsprüfungs-
gesellschaft, Hamburg, which has declared itself 
to be independent as required by Section 7.2.1 of 
the German Corporate Governance Code. It was 
agreed with WKGT that the Supervisory Board 
Chairman would be notified immediately of any 
grounds for disqualification or conflicts of inter-
est which may arise during the audit, unless these 
are resolved immediately. It was also agreed that 
the Supervisory Board would be notified imme-
diately of any findings and events arising during 
the audit that are significant to the duties of the 
Supervisory Board. Finally, WKGT is obliged to 
inform the Supervisory Board should any facts be 
identified during the audit which would render 
incorrect the Statement of Compliance issued by 
the Executive and Supervisory Boards in accord-
ance with Article 161 of the German Stock Corpo-
ration Act (AktG).

Risk Management
We have an early-warning system for risks that is 
reviewed by the auditor.
For a detailed description of the system, please 
refer to the section of the Management Report en-
titled “Risk report”.

Avoidance of Conflicts of Interest
There were no consulting or other service agree-
ments or contracts between the Supervisory 
Board and the company during the year under 
review. 

There were no conflicts of interest of Executive 
or Supervisory Board members that had to be 
disclosed to the Supervisory Board without delay. 
Seats on supervisory boards and/or comparable 
German and foreign control bodies of business 
enterprises that had to be set up by law which are 
held by Executive Board and Supervisory Board 
members can be found on page 154 of this report 
in the section entitled “(41) Management Bodies 
of the Company”. Relations with related parties 
are given in the notes to the consolidated finan-
cial statements beginning on page 158.

For further  
information  
see page 85

For further  
information  

see page 154

For further  
information  

see page 158
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Deductible for D&O Insurance
The company has taken out property damage li-
ability insurance (D&O) for the members of the 
Executive Board and the Supervisory Board with 
an appropriate deductible in accordance with Ar-
ticle 93, paragraph 2, sentence 3 AktG (Executive 
Board members) or in accordance with the Ger-
man Corporate Governance Code (Supervisory 
Board members).

Shares Held by Members of the Su-
pervisory Board and Executive Board
As of 31 December 2015, members of our Su-
pervisory Board held a total of 21,695,429 H&R 
shares and therefore an interest of considerably 
more than 1% of the share capital of H&R AG.

According to the last informal notification re-
ceived from him, Mr Nils Hansen privately held 
a total of 441,279 H&R shares (1.23% of share 
capital) as of year-end 2015. In addition, anoth-
er 15,405,213 H&R shares were attributable to 
Mr Hansen via H&R Holding GmbH (stake in the 
share capital: 43.00%) and another 5,847,042 
H&R shares were attributable to Mr Hansen via 

H&R Internationale Beteiligung GmbH (stake in 
the share capital: 16.32%).

Mr Nils Hansen therefore held a total of 
21,693,534 H&R shares as of 31 December 2015, 
corresponding to 60.55% of the share capital.

As of 31 December 2015, members of our Exe-
cutive Board held a total of 1,100 shares and 
therefore an interest of less than 1% of the share  
capital of H&R AG.

Directors’ Dealings
In accordance with Article 15a of the German Se-
curities Trading Act (WpHG), management bod-
ies and related individuals are obliged to disclose 
transactions involving H&R AG shares with a trad-
ing volume exceeding €5,000 in the course of a 
calendar year. 

The regulation also includes financial instruments 
such as derivatives based on H&R shares. The fol-
lowing transactions have been reported to H&R 
AG for financial year 2015:

T. 04  DIRECTORS’ DEALINGS 2015

Date Place Name Function
Denomination 
of the financial Type of Number Price per unit

Transaction 
volume

13/3/2015 Xetra Nils Hansen Supervisory Board H&R share Purchase 10,000   6.27 62,730.00

21/4/2015 Xetra Nils Hansen Supervisory Board H&R share Purchase 10,000   7.28 72,787.50

2/6/2015 Xetra Nils Hansen Supervisory Board H&R share Purchase   10,000 7.04 70,408.40

16/6/2015 Xetra Nils Hansen Supervisory Board H&R share Purchase 10,000 6.88 68,828.00

19/6/2015 Xetra Nils Hansen Supervisory Board H&R share Purchase   5,000 7.87 39,430.70

30/6/2015 Xetra Nils Hansen Supervisory Board H&R share Purchase 10,000 7.62 76,188.00

23/7/2015 Xetra Nils Hansen Supervisory Board H&R share Purchase 10,000 8.83 88,279.00

9/10/2015 Xetra Nils Hansen Supervisory Board H&R share Purchase 10,000 8.06 80,578.00

16/10/2015 Xetra Nils Hansen Supervisory Board H&R share Purchase 10,000 8.60 85,988.00

28/10/2015 Xetra Nils Hansen Supervisory Board H&R share Purchase 10,000 8.23 82,880.00

Transparency
The prime objective of our communications is 
to provide comprehensive, prompt and equal 
information to shareholders, financial analysts, 
journalists, staff and interested members of the 
public.

For this purpose, important documents – such as 
quarterly and annual reports, ad-hoc statements 

and press releases, the Statement of Compliance 
with the German Corporate Governance Code, 
the Articles of Association, the invitation to the 
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting and the financial 
calendar – are all published in the Investor Rela-
tions section of the H&R AG website. Interested 
parties can also register to receive the latest com-
pany news automatically via an e-mail newsletter. 
We also send out free copies of the reports upon 
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request. The Executive Board and the Investor 
Relations team are in regular contact with both 
institutional and private investors at capital mar-
ket conferences and shareholder events. For a de-
tailed description of our capital market activities, 
please consult the section entitled “H&R on the 
Capital Market” elsewhere in this Report.

Remuneration Report

The following remuneration report is an integral 
part of the Management Report. It describes the 
system of remuneration for the Executive Board 
and the Supervisory Board at H&R AG.

Remuneration of the Executive Board
The Executive Board of H&R AG consists of up to 
three members. The Supervisory Board plenum 
establishes and reviews the remuneration system 
for the Executive Board and the total remuner-
ation paid to individual Executive Board mem-
bers on the basis of discussions by the Personnel 
Committee. In accordance with the German Act 
on the Appropriate Remuneration of Executives 
(VorstAG), which came into effect on 5 August 
2009, the Supervisory Board must ensure that the 
individual Executive Board members’ total remu-
neration is commensurate with their responsibili-
ties and performance. It must also be appropriate 
in the light of the company’s position and should 
not exceed standard remuneration levels except 
in special cases. 

At publicly listed companies such as H&R AG, the 
remuneration structure must also be geared to-
wards sustainable company performance.

Following these requirements, the total remuner-
ation of the Directors of H&R AG consists of both 
non-performance-related and performance-re-
lated components. The non-performance-related 
portions consist of a fixed salary and benefits, 
while the performance-related components con-
sist of a two-step variable remuneration with a 
sustainability component and an annual special 
or recognition bonus determined at the discretion 
of the Supervisory Board that is limited to a max-
imum of €100,000.00. 

Special arrangements apply to the variable remu-
neration components paid to the Executive Board 
member Detlev Wösten, whose term of office was 
extended for another two years in 2014; his vari-
able remuneration is derived in equal parts from 
the annual consolidated operating profit (EBIT-
DA), adjusted by any extraordinary result within 
the meaning of Article 275, paragraph 2, no. 17 
HGB, and from his personal targets.

The criteria for measurement of the Board mem-
bers’ remuneration include the economic situa-
tion, the company’s performance and its future 
prospects. In addition, individual remuneration is 
dependent on the different duties of the members 
of the Executive Board and on their individual 
performance.

The amount and structure of the remuneration 
paid to the Executive Board is reviewed regular-
ly and adjusted as necessary by the Supervisory 
Board. To evaluate appropriateness, the Direc-
tors’ remuneration is compared to that of other 
listed companies in similar industries of a similar 
size and complexity, as well as with the remuner-
ation structure within the company itself.  Moreo-
ver, it is also set at a level that ensures the compa-
ny is in a position to compete for highly qualified 
top managers. 

Fixed Remuneration
The fixed remuneration consists of a non-perfor-
mance-related basic remuneration – which is paid 
pro-rata each month as a salary – plus various 
fringe benefits and non-monetary remuneration. 
At present, this primarily comprises insurance 
premiums for private life and disability insurance 
policies; contributions to pension, health and 
long-term-care insurance policies corresponding 
to the amount payable by an employer if social-in-
surance contributions were payable in full; and 
the private use of a company car. The Executive 
Board members pay tax on non-monetary remu-
neration based on the amounts reportable under 
tax guidelines.

The fixed salary is reviewed regularly (every two 
years).

For further  
information  

see page 42–45
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Variable Remuneration
The variable remuneration paid to Executive 
Board members, apart from Mr Detlev Wösten, is 
based on a hurdle system with a target range de-
termined using the Group’s operating income for 
the year (EBITDA) and certain long-term objec-
tives for a rolling three-year period. In the case of 
Mr Niels H. Hansen, the maximum annual bonus 
is limited to 100% of the respective gross annual 
salary. One-half of the variable remuneration con-
sists of a component with a short-term incentive 
effect (referred to as the “earnings component”) 
based on the annual operating group profit (EBIT-
DA), adjusted by any extraordinary result within 
the meaning of Article 275, paragraph 2, no. 17 
HGB, with the other half being a component with 
a long-term incentive effect (referred to as the 
“sustainability component”).

The earnings component can be up to 50% of 
the annual target bonus and depends on wheth-
er the EBITDA defined in the business plan is 
achieved. If EBITDA is 110% or more of the plan, 
the Executive Board member is entitled to 100% 
of the earnings component (50% of the annual 
target bonus). The maximum entitlement to the 
earnings component is reduced on a straight-line 
basis by the percentage by which EBITDA is be-
low plan. The sustainability component provides 
for a variable bonus based on the average return 
on capital employed (ROCE) over a rolling three-
year period. The return is calculated as the ratio 
of EBIT to average capital employed (equity plus 
net financial debt, pension provisions and other 
non-current provisions). A maximum of 50% of 
the annual target bonus is paid if the average an-
nual ROCE reaches 20% or more. The maximum 
entitlement to the sustainability component is re-
duced pro-rata to 0% for a ROCE of up to 5%. 
By including this component, we satisfy the re-
quirements of Article 87, paragraph 1, sentence 3 
AktG, which stipulates that variable remuneration 
components must be calculated based on a time-
frame spanning several years.

Should an Executive Board member’s term of of-
fice end prematurely, any payments agreed for 
the departing Executive Board member – includ-
ing fringe benefits – should not exceed the value 
of twice the annual salary (severance pay cap) 
or the value of the remuneration that would be 
payable for the remaining term of the executive 
employment contract. This is stipulated in Rec-
ommendation Number 4.2.3, paragraph 4 of the 
German Corporate Governance Code as amended 
on 24 June 2014. The company has followed this 
recommendation to the extent legally possible by 
including what are known as “coupling clauses” 
in executive employment contracts. These stipu-
late that, if the appointment is revoked, the Board 
member resigns for good cause or the Board po-
sition is otherwise terminated by the company, 
the employment contracts of Executive Board 
members will terminate two years after the term 
of office ends, but no later than the planned end 
of the appointment period.

The executive employment contracts of all Ex-
ecutive Board members ensure that the variable 
remuneration is limited in case of extraordinary 
developments in the company that could not 
have been foreseen at the time the executive em-
ployment contract was signed or at the time that 
targets were defined and which are deemed to 
render unreasonable for the company adherence 
to the payment of the agreed variable remunera-
tion or to the defined targets. This could also be 
dealt with by appropriate adjustment of the tar-
gets already defined for the payment of variable 
remuneration. The company does not use securi-
ties-based incentive systems such as stock-option 
programs. No loans or advances were granted to 
members of the Executive Board.

Corporate Governance Report | Remuneration Report
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T. 05  EXECUTIVE BOARD REMUNERATION (GRANTED)

Allocation granted Niels H. Hansen Detlev Wösten

Chairman of the Executive Board Member of the Executive Board – Refineries

Chairman of the Executive Board 
since 1 January 2012

Member of the Executive Board 
since 1 August 2011

IN € 2014 2015 
2015 

(Min)
2015  

(Max) 2014 2015
2015 

(Min)
2015  

(Max)

Fixed remuneration 356,747 356,788 356,788 356,788 231,747 231,788 231,788 231,788

Fringe benefits* 251 251 251 251 16,478 17,103 17,103 17,103

Total 356,998 357,039 357,039 357,039 248,226 248,891 248,891 248,891

One year variable remuneration 92,750 225,000 – 356,788 141,750 225,000 – 231,788

Multiple year variable remuneration – – – – – – – –

Total 449,748 582,039 357,039 713,827 389,976 473,891 248,891 480,679

Pension expenses – – – – – – – –

Total compensation 449,748 582,039 357,039 713,827 389,976 473,891 248,891 480,679

* Inter alia, this item includes the use of a car and accidentinsurance premiums

T. 06  EXECUTIVE BOARD REMUNERATION (ACCRUED)

Accrual Niels H. Hansen Detlev Wösten

Chairman of the Executive Board Member of the Executive Board – Refineries

Chairman of the Executive Board  
since 1 January 2012

Member of the Executive Board  
since 1 August 2011

IN € 2015 2014 2014 2015

Fixed remuneration 356,747 356,788 231,747 231,788

Fringe benefits* 251 251 16,478 17,103

Total 356,998 357,039 248,226 248,891

One year variable remuneration 74,375 92,750 126,500 141,750

Multiple year variable remuneration – – – –

Other – – – –

Total 431,373 449,789 374,725 390,641

Pension expenses – – – –

Total remuneration 431,373 449,789 374,725 390,641

* Inter alia, this item includes the use of a car and accidentinsurance premiums
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Supervisory Board remuneration
Supervisory Board remuneration is governed by 
Article 15 of our Articles of Association and pri-
marily comprises the following elements:

Every member of the Supervisory Board receives 
a fixed annual payment of €20,000.00 in addition 
to the reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses. 
The Chairman of the Supervisory Board receives 
three times and his deputy one and a half times 
this amount. In addition to this, every member 
of the Supervisory Board receives variable an-
nual remuneration linked to the return on capi-
tal employed (ROCE), which is calculated on the 
basis of the audited and approved consolidated 
financial statements for the respective financial 
year. The return is calculated by dividing earn-
ings before interest and taxes (EBIT) by the inter-
est-bearing capital (capital employed, i.e., the sum 
of net financial debt, equity, pension provisions 
and non-current provisions). A minimum return 
of 10% must be achieved in order for variable 
remuneration to be paid. If the minimum return 
is achieved, €10,000.00 is paid to each Supervi-
sory Board member per financial year. For each 

percentage point over the 10% minimum return, 
the variable remuneration increases by €1,500.00 
for each Supervisory Board member per financial 
year. The variable remuneration is limited to a total 
of €32,500.00 per Supervisory Board member and 
financial year. 

Supervisory Board members who belong to one 
of the Supervisory Board’s committees receive an 
additional 1/8 of the fixed annual remuneration 
per committee. Members of the company’s Audit 
Committee receive 1/4 of the fixed annual remu-
neration. Supervisory Board members who chair 
one of the committees receive twice the remuner-
ation payable for membership of the committee in 
question. The members of the Supervisory Board 
receive an attendance fee of €200.00 for each Su-
pervisory Board or committee meeting they attend.

The fees paid in 2015 under a consulting contract 
with the company controlled by the former Chair-
man of the Supervisory Board, Mr Bernd Günther, 
i.e., Idunahall Verwaltungs-Gesellschaft m.b.H., 
amounted to €100,000 (prior year: €102,000). 

T. 07  SUPERVISORY BOARD REMUNERATION 

Fixed  
Remuneration

Remuneration for Super-
visory Board activities

Variable  
remuneration Total

IN € 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

Dr. Joachim Girg (Chairman) 60,000 60,000 20,000 20,000 11,050 – 91,050 80,000

Roland Chmiel 30,000 30,000 15,000 15,000 11,050 – 56,050 45,000

Nils Hansen 20,000 20,000 10,000 10,000 11,050 – 41,050 30,000

Dr. Rolf Schwedhelm 20,000 20,000 2,500 2,500 11,050 – 33,550 22,500

Dr. Hartmut Schütter 20,000 20,000 5,000 5,000 11,050 – 36,050 25,000

Dr. Peter Seifried 12,384 – 3,863 – 6,842 – 23,089 –

Reinhold Grothus 20,000 20,000 2,500 2,500 11,050 – 33,550 22,500

Rainer Metzner 20,000 20,000 – – 11,050 – 31,050 20,000

Harald Januszewski 20,000 20,000 – – 11,050 – 31,050 20,000

Anja Krusel 7,616 20,000 2,856 7,500 4,208 – 14,680 27,500

Summe 230,000 230,000 61,719 62,500 99,450 – 391,169 292,500

Remuneration Report
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H&R on the Capital Market

Company Share and Share Price 
Performance  

Shares Close Higher After Another 
Volatile Year
On the last trading day of a year rated by ex-
perts as good overall, the DAX ended 2015 at 
10,743. The year of trading that preceded this 
was nerve-racking and extremely volatile, with 
the key German stock index increasing by a total 
of 9.6% – after rising just 2.7% in the previous 
year. The DAX therefore closed positive for the 
fourth year in a row – the longest upward trend 
in almost a decade. Other stock-market segments 
also performed well in 2015. 

A further boost to share prices came from the 
favorable monetary policies pursued by central 
banks, which for years have been stimulating the 
economy – and, consequently, the equity markets 
– with low interest rates. 

However, the year was not worry-free: among 
other things, investors were concerned about 
economic performance in China and the abrupt 
drop in share prices there. Even the collapse in 
the price of oil, which was welcomed by consum-

ers at the gasoline pump, evoked mixed reac-
tions. Many economists regard it as a symptom of 
massive oversupply and fear that the geopolitical 
consequences will be explosive.

Following the worldwide turbulence in share 
 prices seen at the beginning of the year, expec-
tations for performance of the equity markets in 
2016 are also mixed:  while some have set a target 
of 12,000 for 2016, others do not rule out a drop 
to around 8,500. 

H&R Share is Rising Again
H&R’s share price had a modest start to trading in 
2015. The share price was unable to withstand the 
strong pressure following publication of the profit 
warning in December 2014, starting a downward 
trend from the level of €7.50 that only bottomed 
out at €5.85 in mid-March. 

In the second quarter, the share price performed 
considerably better, climbing above the €8.00 
mark and remaining above €7.00 until well into 
the summer. Affected by bad news from the stock 
markets in China toward the end of the summer of 
2015, H&R’s share price was forced below €7.00 
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again for a short time. Attracted by such buy-
ing opportunities, investors once again took the 
plunge and helped the share price to recover to 
more than €8.50 by mid-September. Good figures 
for the first nine months and an increase in the 
projections for the full year gave the share price 
an additional boost. H&R AG’s shares approached 
the 10-Euro mark, trading at €9.70, and ended 
trading on 30 December 2015 at €9.24.

At the beginning of 2016, our share price fol-
lowed the general market trend, dropping be-
low the 8-Euro mark in the wake of discussions 
about low crude-oil prices and difficulties on the 
 Chinese capital markets.

T. 08  BASIC DATA ON THE H&R SHARE

ISIN/WKN DE0007757007/775700

Abbreviation 2HR

Type No-par bearer shares

Listings

Official market Frankfurt (Prime Stand-
ard), Hamburg and Düsseldorf, freely 
traded Stuttgart and Munich

Index

Prime Standard All Share, Classic All 
Share, Prime Chemicals und Prime IG 
Chemicals Speciality,  
DAXPlus Family-Index

Designated 
Sponsor Oddo Seydler Bank AG

Number of Shares, Market Capitali-
zation and Trading Volume. 
The number of company shares issued totaled 
35,820,154 on 31 December 2015, unchanged 
from the previous year. 

As a company in the Prime Standard segment, 
H&R AG meets all important disclosure and trans-
parency standards. The share price can be ob-
tained from the trading systems and the financial 
press.

During the past year, interest in our share was 
very high, as evidenced by the fact that the H&R 
share’s trading activity was nearly twice as high as 
in the previous year. A total of around 9.1 million 
shares with a total volume of almost €73.1 million 
were traded on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange and 
on Xetra (previous year: €38.0 million).

  G. 02  HIGHEST AND LOWEST PRICES OF THE H&R SHARE, FULL YEAR 2015

  IN €

 Highest and lowest prices

January February March April May June July August September October November December
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Company Share and Share Price Performance



44 H&R AG ANNUAL REPORT 2015

T. 09  KEY SHARE DATA 

 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Number of shares on 31 December 35,820,154 35,820,154 29,973,112 29,973,112 29,973,112

Earnings per share €0.77 €-0.49 €-0.47 €0.02 €1.29

Highest price for the year €9.70 €9.40 €13.03 €17.90 €21.86

Lowest price for the year €5.86 €6.45 €8.05 €11.57 €12.98

Price on 31 December €9.24 €7.54 €8.70 €11.83 €16.55

Performance (excluding dividend) 23.2% -19.2% -28.1% -28.2% -21.4%

Market capitalization on 31 December €330.9 million €270.1 million €260.7 million €354.4 million €496.1 million

Dividend – –  –  – €0.60

Dividend yield – – – – 3.6%

Average daily trading volume
€269  

thousand
€130  

thousand
€324  

thousand
€522  

thousand
€575  

thousand

Board Members Further Increase 
Stake in H&R AG 
During the reporting period, we received notice 
of 10 directors’ dealings in H&R shares.

Supervisory Board member Nils Hansen in-
creased his holdings of H&R shares by a total of 
97,000 shares. The individual transactions are 
listed in the “Directors’ Dealings” section on page 
37 of this report.

Shareholder Structure
According to the notification from Mr Nils Hansen 
dated 26 September 2014, his share of voting 
rights, held by H&R Beteiligung GmbH and attrib-
utable to Mr Nils Hansen via H&R Holding GmbH, 
was 41.89% on 25 September 2014 and therefore 
was below the 50% threshold on that date.

According to an informal notification on 11 De-
cember 2014, H&R Beteiligung GmbH’s stake 
rose by another 1.11%.

According to another notification from Mr Nils 
Hansen dated 26 September 2014, his share of 
voting rights, held by H&R Internationale Beteili-
gung GmbH and likewise attributable to Mr Nils 
Hansen, exceeded the 15% threshold on 25 Sep-
tember 2014 and amounted to 16.32% on that 
date.

According to the last informal notification re-
ceived from Mr Nils Hansen, he personally held 
an additional 441,279 (1.23%) of the outstanding 
H&R shares as of year-end 2014.

According to a notification on 2 April 2003 pur-
suant to the German Securities Trading Act 
(WpHG), on 28 March 2003, Mr Wilhelm Scholten 
held 6.65% of the voting rights via the company 
Wilhelm Scholten Beteiligungen GmbH, which 
is attributable to him. Following the dilution of 
voting rights caused by the conversion of pre-
ferred shares into ordinary shares in 2008, this 
corresponded to a notional stake of 6.08%. The 
increase in capital resulting from the use of ap-
proved capital diluted Mr Wilhelm Scholten’s 
share of voting rights on 25 September 2014 to 
5.10%. 

According to an informal notification, as of 31 De-
cember 2015, this share had changed to 6.07%, 
5.45% of which is held via Wilhelm Scholten 
Beteiligungen GmbH and the remaining 0.62% 

For further
information
see page 37

G. 03 SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE AS OF 31/12/2015

IN % (VALUES AT THE END OF THE PREVIOUS YEAR)

60.55 (60.28) 
 
 

6.07 (5.10) 
 
 

33.38 (34.62)

Nils Hansen (59,32%  
through H&R Holding 
GmbH and subsi-
diary)

Wilhelm Scholten 
(5.45% through 
Wilhelm Scholten  
Beteiligungen GmbH)

Free float
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of which is held via Ölfabrik Wilhelm Scholten 
GmbH and subsidiary.

The remaining 33.38% of H&R shares were in 
free float as of 31 December 2015.

Investor Relations
Capital-Market Communications Continue at 
Usual Level. During the 2015 reporting year, 
numerous investors, analysts and private inves-
tors again took advantage of the opportunity to 
exchange information with the company by tele-
phone or e-mail. Investors also visited us at our 
production sites in Hamburg and Salzbergen, 
where they toured our refineries and received  
information about current business developments 
directly from the Executive Board.

Members of the company’s management team 
and employees of the IR department represent-
ed the company at roadshows and information 
events in Hamburg, Munich and Frankfurt.

During the year, we routinely provided informa-
tion to our target groups through the quarterly 
reports and company press releases. Important 
announcements were accompanied by telecon-
ferences with our analysts. 

Research Coverage. During the past year, the 
number of banks covering H&R shares decreased 
from six to five. This was mainly due to adjust-
ments on the part of the analyst firms; some 
went out of business and others combined their 
research departments. In 2015, the following 
banks wrote research reports on H&R’s share and  
informed investors with regular updates:

T. 10  RESEARCH COVERAGE OF THE H&R SHARE

Bankhaus Lampe

Kepler Chevreux

Oddo Seydler Bank AG

Commerzbank

Baader Bank

We Would Like to Hear from You 
Interested parties can download our company re-
ports at any time from the H&R AG section of our 
website, www.hur.com. We will be happy to send 
you a printed copy, on request. 

We also keep our target groups informed about 
current developments at our company through 
our e-mail newsletter. You can also register for 
these publications in the Investor Relations  
section of our website.

Should you have any questions or suggestions, 
please contact us as follows:

H&R AG
Investor Relations
Am Sandtorkai 50
20457 Hamburg
Germany
Telephone: +49 (0) 40-43 218-321
Fax: +49 (0) 40-43 218-390
e-mail: investor.relations@hur.com
Website: www.hur.com

www.hur.com

Company Share and Share Price Performance
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Group Business Model and  
Structure

Sectors and Organizational Structure
The H&R Group organizes its operating activi-
ties into two business divisions: the large Chemi-
cal-Pharmaceutical Division and the smaller Plas-
tics Division. 

At the same time, we have three business seg-
ments: the ChemPharm Refining segment, the 
ChemPharm Sales segment and the Plastics seg-
ment.

Our biggest segment, ChemPharm Refining, in-
cludes the refineries in Hamburg-Neuhof and 
Salzbergen. These two production sites differ from 
conventional lubricant refineries in that they have 
a higher output of crude-oil-based specialty prod-
ucts such as plasticizers, paraffins and white oils, 
while devoting a lower percentage of production 
to base oils. During the course of our production 
processes, we create over 800 different products 
that are used in more than 100 client industries.

Our Sales segment is comprised of numerous 
production sites, as well as our distribution sites 
worldwide. The segment’s main products include 
label-free plasticizers for the tire industry and par-
affins for countless applications.

In the Plastics segment, we produce high-precision 
plastic parts and the molds needed to manufacture 
them. In addition to the headquarters in Coburg, 
Germany, we also operate production sites in East-
ern Europe and Asia. The Plastics segment’s cus-
tomers include the automotive industry, the medi-
cal technology industry and other industries.

Group’s Legal Structure
As the Group’s holding company, H&R AG is in 
charge of the strategic management of our busi-
ness operations. It is responsible for communicat-
ing with the public and the capital markets, and 
for the Group’s financing. In addition, it provides 
various management functions and services for 
our subsidiaries.

At the end of the reporting period, there were 34 
consolidated subsidiaries (31 December 2014: 
34). A new addition to the consolidated group is 
 Dunrose Investment (Pty) Ltd., headquartered in 
Durban, South Africa, to whose premises the pro-
duction of H&R South Africa (Pty) Ltd., Durban, 
South Africa, will be relocated in the future. At 
the same time, there was a disposal: H&R Czechia 
s.r.o, Prague, was liquidated in 2015. 

Our subsidiaries can be found in the list of share-
holdings in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements under “(5) Scope of Consolidation and 
Holdings”. 

The ChemPharm Refining segment, which pri-
marily consists of the refineries in Hamburg and 
Salzbergen, uses a functional management struc-
ture owing to the similarity and regional proximi-
ty of the production sites. Managerial staff within 
this segment have cross-site responsibility for key 
functions such as raw-materials purchasing, pro-
ject management, accounting and sales/distribu-
tion. 

In the ChemPharm Sales segment, which does not 
possess any refinery capacity of its own, the re-
sponsibility for all functions is held by local Man-
aging Directors who report directly to the Group’s 
Executive Board.

There are two management levels at the Plastics 
segment: Managing Directors at the international 
sites report to the Divisional Management Team, 
which is also responsible for managing the domes-
tic production plant in Coburg, Germany.

i
For further

information see 
the glossary on 

page 164 f.

For further
information see  
page 119

Group Fundamentals
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Group Business Model and Structure

Group Fundamentals

Locations
At year-end 2015, our Group employed 1,568 
people worldwide. The following overview shows 

our most important sites with more than 20 em-
ployees: 

T. 11 MAIN SITES IN THE H&R GROUP

Continent Country City Business Division Employees

Africa South Africa Durban ChemPharm 40

Asia China Wuxi Plastics 137

Ningbo/Daixi ChemPharm 105

Fushun ChemPharm 49

Thailand Bangkok/Sri Racha ChemPharm 44

Europe Germany Hamburg ChemPharm 266

Salzbergen ChemPharm 260

Coburg Plastics 344

Great Britain Tipton ChemPharm 38

Benelux Nuth ChemPharm 22

Czech Republic Dačice Plastics 81

  G. 04  PRESENTATION OF GROUP STRUCTURE

Holding

H&R AG

Strategic Management  
Central services

Divisions
Chemical-

Pharmaceutical
Raw Materials

Plastics Other

Quartz sand and other 
intra-Group activities

Segments
Chemical-

Pharmaceutical
Raw Materials

Refining

Chemical-
Pharmaceutical
Raw Materials

Sales

Plastics

Domestic  
and International
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Main Products, Services and Business 
Processes
So-called atmospheric residue (ATRES) and vac-
uum-gas oil (VGO) are the primary raw materials 
used at our ChemPharm Refining segment’s spe-
cialty refineries in Germany.

We generate more than 800 other crude-oil-based 
specialty products in joint production processes 
from these so-called derivatives, which are ob-
tained by distilling crude oil in the upstream fuel 
refineries. In addition to base oil as a raw materi-
al for lubricant production, we primarily produce 
plasticizers for the rubber industry, technical and 
medical white oils, paraffins and specialty wax 
products. 

In our propane deasphalting facilities, we carry 
out efficient further refinement of by-products 
and co-products. This creates more high-grade 
crude-oil-based specialty products and a new 
co-product, bitumen, which is used in road con-
struction. While in Hamburg we exclusively man-
ufacture our own specialty products, we act as 
a service provider at the Salzbergen production 
site: for one of our main customers, we manufac-
ture products to its specifications on a contract 
basis. Furthermore, at a special filling facility, we 
also mix lubricants based on different end cus-
tomers’ formulations.

We also refine crude-oil-based feedstock at the 
ChemPharm Sales segment’s production sites. 
Production here focuses on environmentally 
friendly, label-free plasticizers and wax emul-
sions. Partnerships with local producers around 
the world allow us to lower our investment costs, 
limit risks and accelerate our growth.

In the Plastics segment, we produce high- 
precision, injection-molded plastic components 
as well as the molds required to manufacture 
them. This division is particularly skillful at pro-
ducing complex plastic parts that require the use 
of different types of materials.

Key Sales Markets and Competitive 
Position
By consistently focusing on customer needs, we 
have established a solid market presence in the 
crude-oil-based specialty products business. A 
comparative study for 2014 published by the re-
nowned U.S. research organization Solomon As-
sociates in 2015 in which companies representing 
around 50% of the worldwide refinery capacity 
in the lubricants segment participated evaluates 
H&R as being “well positioned competitively”: as 
core elements of our ChemPharm Refining seg-
ment, our refineries rank within the first or sec-
ond quartile of the study’s peer group, especially 
in terms of their efficiency and productivity, and 
based on the product mix generated are more 
properly regarded as specialty refineries than as 
lubricant refineries. 

This assessment is supported by the fact that 
H&R’s refineries are well established in a market 
environment which for years has experienced 
a continual shortage of generating capacity in 
Group 1 refineries. Thanks to their high percent-
age of specialty products, our refinery sites can 
also hold their own against bigger units owned by 
major oil companies.

Our environmentally friendly, label-free plasticiz-
ers are used in rubber blends for almost all well-
known car tire manufacturers as well as in addi-
tional rubber and caoutchouc products. Our main 
competitors in this product area are the major oil 
companies.

Our paraffins are used for an especially wide va-
riety of applications: in the food industry, for ex-
ample, cheese rinds are coated with paraffin to 
prevent the cheese from drying out. The packag-
ing industry has various uses for paraffins, includ-
ing coating the inside of Tetra Pak containers. In 
the construction industry, wax emulsions provide 
construction materials with water-repellent char-
acteristics. In this product segment, we and other 
competing companies jostle for second place be-
hind the market leader.

i
For further

information see 
the glossary on 

page 164 f.
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For further
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Thanks to our ability to reliably meet high quality 
standards, we have also established a good repu-
tation in the market for white oils. For instance, 
our technical white oils are used to clean printing 
presses or as plasticizers for plastic components. 
Our medical white oils are found, among other ap-
plications, in cosmetic products such as creams 
and ointments. The large oil companies are also 
significant producers in this field.

We sell the vast majority of our base oils to lu-
bricant manufacturers as a raw material. Using 
additives, we further process a small quantity of 
these base oils into ready-made lubricants that 
are primarily used in agriculture.

Hansen & Rosenthal KG currently handles sales 
and distribution for a large portion of the prima-
ry products from our Chemical-Pharmaceutical 
Division. Our sales/distribution partner has been 
trading in crude-oil-based specialty products for 
over 90 years. Thanks to its long-established mar-
ket presence, Hansen & Rosenthal has excellent 
market knowledge and close customer contacts.

More and more attention is being devoted to 
intensifying efforts to market co-products and 
by-products. As a matter of principle, H&R AG 
is focusing on maximizing its output of primary 
products and avoiding by-products. Nevertheless, 
the production process at our production sites 
in Salzbergen and Hamburg generates residues 
which, by using our propane deasphalting plants, 
we can convert into environmentally friendly, 
crude-oil-based specialty products and asphalt 
for use in the road-building industry. Some of this 
bitumen can also be reused as a raw material by 
other refinery operators.

The customers of our Plastics Division can be di-
vided into three groups, of which the automotive 
industry is by far the biggest. Other customer 
groups include the medical technology indus-
try and other industrial customers. In the latter 
group, we primarily include products for custom-
ers in the electrical, the measuring and control 
technology and the mechanical engineering seg-
ments.

The market for plastic components is highly frag-
mented and comprises several hundred competi-
tors in Germany alone.

Legal and Economic Factors
REACH (The European regulation on the Regis-
tration, Evaluation, Authorization and Restric-
tion of Chemicals) entered into force in the EU in 
2007. The main aim of REACH is to protect human 
health and the environment when dealing with 
chemical substances. In order to accomplish this 
goal, REACH places a special level of responsibili-
ty on the manufacturer or importer of a substance 
by requiring it to assess the risks of substances 
it has brought to market and their uses over the 
entire lifecycle and to register as a manufacturer 
or importer with the European Chemicals  Agency 
(ECHA). H&R AG has submitted the required doc-
uments for all the substances manufactured at 
its refineries. The assessment (evaluation) phase 
by ECHA and domestic agencies is currently un-
derway. Certain substances of very high concern 
require authorization. Moreover, H&R AG current-
ly also uses substances for which an application 
must be filed during the first half of 2016. A pro-
ject team set up for that purpose will ensure that 
the relevant documents are compiled in a timely 
manner and are ready to submit before the dead-
line.

The price of the crude-oil derivatives used as the 
primary feedstock at our specialty refineries in 
Germany generally correlates with the current 
price of crude oil. The so-called windfall effects 
result in a temporary change in the earnings situ-
ation, i.e., windfall losses or profits. Such effects 
on earnings have nothing to do with the compa-
ny’s own operating performance, but instead are 
caused by sudden, random variations in the mar-
ket situation. At our company, we define windfall 
losses or profits as negative or positive changes in 
inventory prices (raw materials, work-in-progress 
and finished goods) compared to the previous 
month. In contrast to just-in-time production, due 
to the length of our production processes, feed-
stocks are processed with a time lag. 

i
For further
information see 
the glossary on 
page 164 f.

i
For further
information see 
the glossary on 
page 164 f.
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This is closely related to currency-translation ef-
fects: the price of crude oil worldwide is denomi-
nated in USD, meaning that H&R AG is directly af-
fected by fluctuations in this reserve currency and 
the corresponding currency-translation effects, 
due to its high requirements for raw materials and 
the fact that raw-material supplies are sourced in-
ternationally.

Company Control

Internal Management System
A value-based management system is used to 
guide and manage the Group. This system is 
centered around comprehensive reporting of key 
performance indicators and ratios, which sup-
ports management’s monitoring of profitability, 
liquidity, the capital structure and operating per-
formance.

In addition to this, we monitor both company- 
specific and macroeconomic early indicators. At 
the production level, this includes data on plant 
availability, reject rates and quality fluctuations. 
In sales and distribution, we examine sales vol-
ume statistics, general market data and leading 
macroeconomic indicators.

The system also consists of monthly reports from 
the divisions, the management of risks and op-
portunities and our functional management struc-
ture, whereby responsibility is assigned for more 
than one site in important areas such as raw- 
materials purchasing, project management and 
sales/distribution.

Over the past two years, we have shifted the  focus 
of our control instruments to more short-term 
performance parameters in response to changes 
in the overall economic environment.

We measure and control profitability, in particu-
lar, through profit contributions. Manufacturing 
planning is based on optimizing contribution 
margins; the business segments are controlled by 
means of EBITDA and EBT ratios.

The long-term WACC (Weighted-Average Cost of 
Capital) ratio, which consists of the weighted cap-

ital costs of our equity and borrowed capital, once 
again was not taken into account as a control pa-
rameter during the course of the year; however, it 
was used in the medium and long-term planning. 
For more detail, please consult the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements.

Likewise, the ROCE profitability ratio (Return On 
Capital Employed), which compares earnings be-
fore interest and taxes to the average committed 
capital necessary for operations, is applied only 
as part of medium and long-term planning.

Liquidity. Our free cash flow is essentially de-
termined by the operating result (EBITDA), the 
change in net working capital (total of inventories 
and trade accounts receivable less trade accounts 
payable) and capital expenditure/investments. 
Because of our business model, our cash flow 
is generally quite volatile. This is attributable to 
changes in our net working capital, in particular 
when deliveries of raw materials for our refineries 
occur around the same time as the balance-sheet 
reporting dates. By constantly monitoring our 
free cash flow, we can reliably detect any issues 
requiring action so that we can respond accord-
ingly. This also ensures that we will be able to 
maintain the H&R Group’s financial stability in 
the future.

T. 12  FREE CASHFLOW

IN € MILLION 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Cash flow from 
operating  
activities 56.4 -0.4 88.9 84.7 -11.8

Cash flow from 
investment 
activities -28.1 -10.1 -16.2 -33.7 -42.3

Free cash flow 28.4 -10.5 72.8 50.9 -54.2

The main reason for the improved cash flow from 
operating activities in 2015 was the significant 
improvement in consolidated earnings to €27.4 
million (31 December 2014: €-15.6 million). 
Therefore, despite having more than doubled our 
capital expenditures to €28.1 million, we once 
again generated positive free cash flow of €28.4 
million (31 December 2014: €-10.5 million).
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Capital Structure. Our goal is to have a balanced 
capital structure that optimizes the cost of capital 
for our equity and debt.

Under the terms of our loan agreements and our 
borrower’s note loans, we are obliged to uphold 
two financial covenants relating to our equity 
funding and the ratio of our net debt to operating 
earnings (EBITDA).

Another control parameter relating to our capital 
structure is net gearing, which compares our net 
debt to equity. The decrease in net debt in 2015 
and the significant improvement in equity caused 
this ratio to change from 45.6% to 30.2%.

T. 13  CAPITAL STRUCTURE

 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Net debt/EBITDA 1.00 3.41 2.24 2.97 2.15

Equity ratio in % 45.7 35.2 31.8 34.2 38.0

Net gearing in % 30.2 45.6 42.2 73.6 79.4

Operative Performance. We essentially measure 
our operating business based on sales and abso-
lute earnings indicators such as EBITDA, EBIT 
and EBT, as well as by sales volumes for our chem-
ical-pharmaceutical specialty products. The trend 
in the crude-oil price always has a  direct impact 
on the cost of materials, which affects H&R AG’s 
sales revenues for reasons related to the business 
model. On its own, our revenue is therefore only 
of limited use as a performance indicator.

We calculate the sales and EBITDA figures both 
for the individual segments and for the Group as 
a whole. While sales revenues serve primarily as 
a performance indicator, EBITDA and net debt are 
the main relevant control parameters used by the 
company.

T. 14  EARNINGS AND VOLUME GROWTH

IN € MILLION 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Sales volume 
primary products 
in kt1) 762 697 734 839 872

EBITDA 86.0 31.5 32.6 49.4 89.1

EBIT 49.2 5.8 -4.1 25.5 68.1

EBT 34.8 -7.8 -16.8 1.6 54.5

1) Chemical-Pharmaceutical Raw Materials Division

Research and Development

Focus of Our R&D Activities
Our crude-oil-based specialty products and plas-
tic parts are directly incorporated into our cus-
tomers’ products; we cooperate closely with them 
to optimize the value of the components we sup-
ply for their end products. Another focus of our 
R&D work is on boosting the efficiency of our pro-
duction processes, thereby increasing the value 
we add. Research activities are managed at the 
divisional level.

Our Chemical-Pharmaceutical Division oper-
ates R&D laboratories at its domestic refineries. 
In  China, the focus of our labs is on paraffins. 
 Valuable synergies are created both from com-
munication between these areas and from ex-
changing ideas with other production areas. We 
apply a similar concept in the Plastics Division by 
combining our R&D work at the headquarters in 
Coburg.

As in prior years, in 2015 we once again collabo-
rated closely with universities and research insti-
tutes. To the extent possible and expedient, we 
try to protect our own research results from ex-
ternal use through patents.

We did not receive any subsidies or other funding 
for research activities.

Chemical-Pharmaceutical Raw Materials. Our 
products, which overall total around 800, are used 
as inputs in more than 100 different industries. 
Equally large is the potential for the development 
of new or improved products. Our sales/distribu-
tion staff and partners are an important source of 
ideas for product innovations; thanks to the cus-
tomer relationships they have developed over a 
long period of time, they have an excellent feel for 
clients’ changing needs. Our research activ ities 
focus with particular intensity on the  paraffin, 
plasticizer and white-oil product groups. 
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We are also researching processes that could in-
crease the yield of crude-oil-based specialty prod-
ucts from our raw materials and thereby further 
improve the level of value added at our refineries. 
The promising results of this research work have 
influenced our investment planning. While in the 
past we focused mainly on expanding our produc-
tion capacity, in recent years we have increased 
our investments in plants that can further refine 
our products. The division’s collaboration with 
the universities of Hamburg, Hanover, Magde-
burg, Munich, Rostock (all in Germany), Bangkok 
(Thailand) and Enschede (the Netherlands) forms 
an important part of its research activities. These 
partnerships give us access to the universities’ 
research infrastructure and enable us to establish 
contact with high-potential R&D candidates at an 
early stage.

Plastics. The use of increasingly sophisticated 
technologies in vehicles to reduce fuel consump-
tion and CO2 emissions is leading to a growing 
demand for lightweight and simultaneously com-
plex plastic parts. We often develop such parts – 
which consist of several different materials – in 

cooperation with our clients, who are direct sup-
pliers to automobile manufacturers. We further 
expanded our research and development work in 
the field of medical technology – an increasingly 
important market segment for the Plastics Divi-
sion.

R&D Expenses, Staff and Key Figures
The importance of our research activities has 
for years been reflected in our consistently high 
spending and the increase in the number of peo-
ple we employ in this area. All employees in the 
Research & Development department have out-
standing qualifications, either in the form of tech-
nical training in a chemistry-related profession 
or in some cases a master’s qualification. Other 
staff, such as engineering graduates, are as high-
ly qualified as our employees who hold doctorates 
in chemistry. At around €1.9 million, R&D spend-
ing was at the same level as in the previous year. 
Our R&D ratio, defined as R&D expense divided 
by sales revenues, increased slightly from 0.17% 
to 0.20% due to the decrease in revenues.

T. 15  RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS

IN € THOUSAND 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Research and Development costs 1,955 1,909 1,906 2,072 2,117

  of which ChemPharm 1,749 1,563 1,585 1,720 1,817

 of which Plastics 206 346 321 352 300

as % of annual revenues 0.20 0.17 0.16 0.17 0.18
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Macroeconomic Conditions
In 2015, around 57.0% of H&R AG’s sales reve-
nues were generated in Germany (2014: 65.7%). 
The pace of Germany’s economic expansion con-
tinued through the end of the year. In particu-
lar, the positive labor-market situation, lower oil 
prices and higher disposal real incomes  boosted 
consumer spending and with it the German econ-
omy. Additional expenditures for housing and 
integrating refugees could provide additional 
momentum. By contrast, decreasing demand in 
emerging economies had a negative impact on 
German exports. 

In their current winter forecast, experts at the Kiel 
Institute for the World Economy (Institut für Welt-
wirtschaft in Kiel/IfW) put Germany’s GDP growth 
at around 1.8% in 2015. The economic research-
ers projected quarterly growth rates of between 
0.3% and 0.6%. Over the next two years, the 
pace of expansion is expected to accelerate to 
GDP growth rates of between 2.2% and 2.3%. 

The euro, which is the functional currency used to 
calculate the earnings trend at H&R AG, came un-
der severe pressure at the end of 2014/beginning 
of 2015, at one point in the spring trading at just 
above parity with the USD, which again rein-
forced its position as the international reserve 
currency.

Global economic momentum slowed in 2015, 
with quarterly growth rates of only around 0.7% 
(quarterly data). Overall, researchers at the Kiel 
Institute for the World Economy (IfW) recent-
ly stated that they expect global GDP growth of 
3.1% – the lowest increase since 2009. At the 
same time, growth momentum continued to shift 
from emerging economies and developing coun-
tries to the advanced economies. Above all, the 
U.S. economy appears relatively strong. The up-
swing also appeared to continue in the  United 
Kingdom. Once again, the Eurozone turned in 
moderate growth in the third quarter, thereby 
recording positive economic performance for the 
tenth quarter in a row. 

In the emerging economies, in particular, the sit-
uation has worsened, in part because the weak 
economy in China has affected these countries’ 

trade. The pace of expansion in the emerging 
markets of southeast Asia has slowed markedly 
as a result; Brazil and Russia are in recession.

Overall, however, the IfW believes global output 
increased by 3.1% in 2015 – more or less the 
same rate as in the previous year.

Crude-oil prices (all data refer to the average 
price of a barrel of North Sea Brent) remained low 
throughout the year. The rapid drop in  prices at 
the end of the year was initially followed by side-
wards movement, with the price ranging from 
US$68.36 to US$42.57 between May and August. 
In the following months, Brent managed to recov-
er slightly, mostly trading at more than US$50.00. 
However, this trend was unsustainable. By mid- 
December 2015, the price of Brent crude oil fell 
to US$36.21, its low for the year. This was pri-
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marily due to the glut of oil on the market. Oil 
production by OPEC countries remained high; at 
the same time, the lifting of the sanctions against 

Iran signaled the return to the market of another 
major producer of cheap crude oil. 

Industry-Specific Climate
The economic performance of the chemical-phar-
maceutical industry in Germany in 2015 was 
mixed. Although production rose slightly, sales 
revenues stagnated, mainly because producer 
prices continued to drop (-2.5%). While over-
seas exports increased considerably, particularly 
because of the euro’s depreciation against the 
dollar, domestic demand for chemical products 
remained weak. Overall, production increased by 
1% in 2015.

Overview of Business Performance

H&R AG’s Chemical-Pharmaceutical Raw Materi-
als Division sold a total of 762,000 tons of primary 
products in 2015 (2014: 697,000 tons), generating 
€982.9 million in sales revenues – less than in the 
previous year (2014: €1,058.6 million). Above all, 
persistently low prices for raw materials reduced 
the cost of materials, the main factor influencing 
pricing and, therefore, the level of sales revenues. 

Unlike at the end of the previous year, year-end 
2015 did not see a concentration of negative 
 effects from the continued weakness of crude oil. 
Although “windfall losses” were spread through-
out the entire year of 2015, these were offset by 
positive countervailing effects, such as accept-
able margins resulting from a good price situation 
for primary and by-products and stable base-oil 
 prices. For 2014 as a whole, the related negative 
effects reduced net income by €-16.1 million. 

To summarize, the company’s consolidated op-
erating income (EBITDA) totaled €86.0 million 
(2014: €31.5 million).
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Events with a Major Impact on the 
Course of Business
Overall, the Group’s €0.98 billion of sales rev-
enues were below the prior-year level (2014: 
€1.06 billion). At the same time, the improved 
earnings demonstrate that H&R AG’s business-
es were more profitable in 2015 than in previous 
years. Cost efficiencies and high levels of facility 
availability also enabled the company to benefit 
from the structural changes that have been visi-
ble in the market for years. The elimination and 
restructuring of major Group 1 refinery capacity 
in Western Europe increased customer demand 
for our specialty products. In addition to the posi-
tive price situation for our entire product portfolio, 
lower oil prices relieved the burden on the com-
pany on the purchasing side.

After OPEC decided in December not to restrict its 
members’ production quotas (and thereby not to 
transmit any signals to stabilize and/or cause the 
price of crude oil to recover), the price for a barrel 
of Brent dropped further. As in the previous year, 
the Group experienced “windfall losses” during 
2015; however, these were offset by the positive 
business performance and improved demand and 
margin situation.

H&R AG therefore ended financial year 2015 with 
a correspondingly positive EBITDA of €86.0 mil-
lion. 

Comparison of the Actual Course of 
Business with the Forecast Made in 
the Previous Year
The expectations with which H&R AG started fi-
nancial year 2015 were based in no small part on 
the company’s repositioning in the internation-
al arena. The business and profit projections for 
2015 were higher than in 2014.

With sales revenues more or less at the same  level 
as in the previous year, we initially expected op-
erating income (EBITDA) to range from €45.0 
million to €65.0 million. During the summer, we 
first adjusted these expectations, placing target 
income “in the upper end of the range from €45.0 
million to €65.0 million”. When the preliminary 
figures for the first nine months were published, 
we released a more specific projection, expressing 
the possibility that the company would surpass the 
previous forecast by “up to 15%”. 

Ultimately, we posted revenues of €0.98 billion. 
The €86.0 million of EBITDA reported on the con-
solidated income statement for financial year 2015 
was above the upper limit in the original forecast 
and also higher than the excess performance sug-
gested in the most recent forecast.

T. 16 FORECAST FOR FINANCIAL YEAR 2015

Forecast Date 17/3/2015 21/7/2015 16/10/2015 Actual value

Sales in ChemPharm Refining ca. €635 million Not defined Not defined €614.3 million

Sales in ChemPharm Sales ca. €360 million Not defined Not defined €320.2 million

Sales in Plastics ca. €64 million Not defined Not defined €60.1 million

EBITDA at Group level
ca. €45 million  
to €65 million

"Upper end of 
the range"

"May exceed upper end of  
range by up to 15%" €86.0 million

In the Chemical-Pharmaceutical Raw Materials 
 Division, sales revenues after consolidation  effects 
stood at €922.9 million, lower than the prior-year 
figure (2014: €1,002.1 million). Above all, the 
 decrease in the price of raw materials we used had 
a major impact on the cost of materials, which in 

turn affected the amount of sales revenues. We re-
ferred to this obvious trend in lower sales revenues 
in our interim reports but did not change the fore-
cast.
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The situation was similar in the Plastics Division. 
This segment attracted less new customer business 
than planned and its sales revenues of €60.1 mil-
lion did not quite reach the sales target announced 
at the beginning of 2015 (previous year: €56.5 mil-
lion).

H&R AG’s decision to adjust the projected operat-
ing income for the first half to the upper end of the 
range in the original forecast was based primarily 
on the very good indicators for the second quar-
ter of 2015, which showed significantly more mo-
mentum following a generally moderate start to the 
year. With crude-oil prices stable overall during the 
first half, the Refining segment, in particular, bene-
fited from a substantial recovery in prices for both 
primary and by-products – despite the continuing 
decrease in revenues. The fact that the previous 
year’s total EBITDA had already been exceeded 
in the second half meant that it was necessary to 
correct the forecasts accordingly. We initially ex-
pected a slowdown in the business and earnings 
trend in the second half, but then we nevertheless 
continued to perform at a good level. Because the 
nine-month figures were correspondingly positive, 
we again adjusted the forecast upwards. Although 
the fourth quarter was the weakest in terms of con-
tributions, the company’s €86.0 million of EBITDA 
was its best showing in recent years. 

Economic Position of the  
H&R Group

Earnings Position 
In financial year 2015, we continued the trend of 
recent years, generating €982.9 million of sales 
revenues (previous year: €1,058.6 million) – 
somewhat lower than the prior-year figure. Sales 
revenues from the Chemical-Pharmaceutical busi-
nesses (which accounted for 93.9% of sales rev-
enues in 2015; previous year: 94.7%) were lower 
mainly because of the continued lower cost of raw 
materials in 2015. In the Plastics business (which 
contributed 6.1% of sales revenues in 2015; pre-
vious year: 5.3%), by contrast, business declined 
because of lower demand.

Although revenues were considerably lower, H&R 
AG’s operating income was significantly higher 
than the prior-year figure. 

The regional focus of our business activities re-
mains on Germany, where 55.8% of sales rev-
enues were generated in financial year 2015 
(2014: 65.7%). 

This percentage includes transactions with our 
sales partner, the Hansen & Rosenthal Group, 
which in turn generates a large proportion of its 
sales revenues outside of Germany. The actual 
percentage of products purchased by foreign end 
customers is therefore higher than our statistics 
suggest. Of the remaining 44.2% of revenue, 
other European countries accounted for 12.8%, 
while the rest of the world contributed 31.4%.

H&R AG faced some challenges at the beginning 
of the financial year, because the first quarter 
of 2015 saw additional “windfall losses”. Unlike 
the situation at the end of 2014, these losses 
were more than offset by satisfactory margins 
and, above all, by a significant recovery in  prices 
across our entire portfolio of primary products 
and by-products. The improved business trend 
accelerated again over the summer and persisted 
into late autumn. 

Two special effects provided additional momen-
tum for the results in the third quarter of 2015. 
 After a late-summer fire in the paraffin mold 
 facility at the Salzbergen site, H&R AG was able 
to collect insurance benefits. 

The disposal of a property in Haltern am See 
formerly used in the production of explosives re-
sulted in an extraordinary gain. Since shutting 
down that division, H&R AG had continuously 
looked for alternative uses and possibilities for 
repurposing that land.

These special effects totaled approximately €5.5 
million and were recognized in earnings at the 
end of September 2015.
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Although business performance is usually less dy-
namic towards the end of the year, our customers’ 
demand for specialty products continued virtually 
unabated through the final quarter of 2015. As a 
result, the premature de-stocking effects experi-
enced in 2014 did not recur. Instead, customer 
orders were pleasantly large, even in December. 
H&R AG believes that one reason for this was the 
impact of this year’s refinery closings at some of 
our competitors’ sites, which may have led to no-
ticeable shortages of certain specialty products.

Overall, the company posted a significantly better 
result for 2015 that exceeded both the prior-year 
figure and those of recent years: total consoli-
dated operating income (EBITDA) jumped by 
€54.5 million, from €31.5 million in 2014 to €86.0 

million in 2015. The EBITDA margin rose by 5.7 
percentage points, from 3.0% in financial year 
2014 to 8.7% in financial year 2015. 

The other earnings indicators also improved ac-
cordingly. For example, consolidated earnings 
before interest and taxes (EBIT) totaled €49.2 
million in 2015 (previous year: €5.8 million). 
Earnings before taxes (EBT) also increased 
signifi cantly, from €-7.8 million in 2014 to 
€ 34.8 million in 2015. Consolidated net income 
to shareholders rose to €27.5 million (previous 
year: €-15.4 million). 

After a net loss per share of  €-0.49 in the 
 prior-year period, the company reported earnings 
per share of €0.77 for 2015.

T. 17 CHANGE IN SALES REVENUES AND EARNINGS

IN € MILLION 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Sales revenues 982.9 1,058.6 1,214.4 1,228.9 1,209.5

EBITDA 86.0 31.5 32.6 49.4 89.1

EBIT 49.2 5.8 -4.1 25.5 68.1

Earnings before taxes 34.8 -7.8 -16.8 1.6 54.5

Consolidated earnings after taxes 27.4 -15.6 -14.0 0.4 38.5

Net profit/loss to shareholders 27.5 -15.4 -14.0 0.5 38.5

Earnings per share 0.77 -0.49 -0.47 0.02 1.29

Orders Trend
For 2015 as a whole, new orders for products in 
our Chemical-Pharmaceutical business remained 
at a stable level. At the end of the year, in particu-
lar, demand remained pleasantly high, unlike in 
previous years.

In another year of restructuring, figures for much 
of the Plastics Division remained below those of 
the previous year, but the order book again in-
creased around the end of the year to around 
€32.9 million (31 December 2014: €36.2 million). 

Trends in the Main Items on the  
Income Statement
Inventories of finished products and work-in- 
progress decreased by €27.9 million during the re-
porting period. In addition to measurement effects 
caused by cheaper prices during the year for raw 
materials, economies of scale also contributed to 
this development. Due to the de-stocking by major 
customers at the end of 2014/beginning of 2015, 
H&R AG started financial year 2015 with bigger 
and, above all, more highly valued inventories.

In financial year 2015, our cost of materials de-
clined by 19.5% to €709.4 million (previous year: 
€881.4 million) as a direct result of the reduction in 
the cost of raw materials. The material expenditure 
rate decreased to 75.0% (2014: 83.2%), mainly 
due to the decrease in the price of raw materials 
and to better operating margins.
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T. 18 TRENDS IN THE MAIN ITEMS ON THE INCOME STATEMENT

IN € MILLION 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Sales revenues 982.9 1,058.6 1,214.4 1,228.9 1,209.5

Changes in inventories -27.9 0.4 -56.5 -6.4 29.0

Other operating income 32.4 18.7 22.3 19.7 21.0

Cost of materials -709.4 -881.4 -981.3 -1,017.4 -987.3

Personnel expenses -79.9 -72.7 -71.4 -72.9 -76.2

Depreciation and amortization -36.8 -25.6 -36.7 -23.9 -21.0

Other operating expenses -112.5 -92.4 -95.2 -102.9 -107.2

Operating profit/(loss) 48.9 5.7 -4.5 25.2 67.8

Financial result -14.1 -13.5 -12.4 -23.6 -13.4

Consolidated earnings before taxes 34.7 -7.8 -16.8 1.6 54.5

Consolidated earnings before  
minority interests 27.4 -15.6 -14.0 0.4 38.5

Net profit/loss to shareholders 27.5 -15.4 -14.0 0.5 38.5

Personnel expenses increased by 9.8 % to €79.9 
million (previous year: €72.7 million), due to the in-
crease in the total number of employees resulting 
from the majority inclusion of the Hansen & Rosen-
thal Group’s Chinese businesses in the autumn of 
2014. These employees were included in person-
nel expenses for the entire year for the first time 
in 2015.

Depreciation and amortization charges, which to-
taled €25.6 million in the previous year, increased 
significantly to €36.8 million. This, too, was due to 
the first-time inclusion of the integrated activities in 
China for an entire year. This item also increased 
because of the write-downs of intangible assets 
that became necessary after impairment tests in 
the Sales segment.

The cost of financing rose from €14.3 million to 
€17.1 million in 2015. This was attributable to 
the reversal, recognized in income and loss, of 

an accrual associated with an early repayment of 
 variable-interest borrower’s note loans, which had 
been set up in equity in previous years on account 
of an interest-rate swap entered into for hedging 
the interest rate on the loans. 

The higher interest expense affected the financial 
result, which at €-14.1 million was lower than the 
prior-year figure of €-13.5 million. 

Earnings Trends by Segment
ChemPharm Refining. Sales volumes of primary 
products at our Group’s largest segment increased 
from around 449,380 tons in 2014 to around 
466,600 tons in 2015 thanks to the substantial in-
crease in demand in 2015. At the same time, how-
ever, segment sales were lower in financial year 
2015, primarily because of cheaper raw-material 
prices; because of our substantial material require-
ments, the lower commodity prices translated 
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into reduced material costs, thereby reducing our 
sales revenues. Overall sales revenues declined by 
20.1% to € 614.3 million (previous year: €768.7 
million). Thanks to the positive pricing and market 
situation and acceptable base-oil prices, the seg-
ment’s operating income (EBITDA) improved by 
€35.1 million to €53.3 million, compared to €18.2 
million in the previous year.

ChemPharm Sales. Revenues in the interna tional 
segment increased by 30.9% to €320.2 million 
(previous year: €244.7 million), mainly because 
of the expansion of our businesses in China. Sales 
increased from around 261,410 tons in 2014 to 
311,320 tons in 2015. Because of the higher pro-

portion of specialty products with stable margins in 
the product portfolio, operating income (EBITDA) 
increased by 86.7% from €18.8 million in 2014 to 
€35.1 million in 2015. 

Plastics. With €60.1 million in sales revenues 
(2014: €56.5 million), our Plastics segment made 
a bigger contribution to total sales than in the  
pre vious year. This increase was due primarily 
to contributions by the sites in Wuxi, China and 
 Coburg, Germany. During the reporting period, the 
segment’s results showed a slightly positive trend, 
contributing €-0.9 million to operating earnings 
(EBITDA) after posting EBITDA of €-1.5 million the 
previous year. 

T.19 KEY FIGURES BY SEGMENT

IN € MILLION 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Sales revenues      

 Refining 614.3 768.7 941.0 952.2 943.2

 Sales 320.2 244.7 231.7 254.1 249.6

 Plastics 60.1 56.5 62.7 55.6 52.6

 Carry-over -11.6 -11.3 -21.0 -33.0 -35.9

Operating result (EBITDA)      

 Refining 53.3 18.2 20.6 33.1 71.3

 Sales 35.1 18.8 16.5 19.3 19.0

 Plastics -0.8 -1.5 0.7 -0.8 2.3

 Reconciliation -1.5 -3.9 -5.1 -3.2 -3.5

G. 09  REVENUE BY REGION IN THE 
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IN % (PREVIOUS YEAR’S FIGURES)

1 (2)

10 (16)

89 (82)

Germany

Rest of Europe

Rest of world

G. 10  REVENUE BY REGION IN THE 
PLASTICS SEGMENT IN 2015

IN % (PREVIOUS YEAR’S FIGURES)

51 (51)

23 (26)

26 (23)

Germany

Rest of Europe

Rest of world



62 H&R AG ANNUAL REPORT 2015

Net Assets and Financial Position

Financial Management Principles and 
Objectives
Our finances are managed centrally by the hold-
ing company H&R AG. The overriding objectives 
of this function are as follows:

–  to supply the company with sufficient liquidity 
and manage it efficiently

–  to finance working capital and capital expend-
iture 

– to hedge against financial risks
– to ensure compliance with financing terms
– to optimize our capital structure

To ensure we are in a position to service our debt 
and to make efficient use of our liquidity, we 
transfer surplus cash within Germany to a cash 
pool which supplies the subsidiaries with the nec-
essary liquidity.

In November 2011, borrower’s note loans were 
taken out to refinance already existing invest-
ments. The borrower’s note loans currently total 
€36 million, of which €18 million mature in No-
vember 2016 and €18 million in November 2018. 

In addition, an existing syndicated loan was re-
financed. Therefore, a new, widely syndicated 
loan with a maximum volume of €240 million has 
been available since August 2015. The syndi cated 
loan’s main purpose is to finance net working 
capital, the amount of which affects the maximum 

utilization under the loan agreement (borrowing- 
base mechanism). The mechanism ensures that 
financing needs are covered even when net work-
ing capital increases. 

In Mai 2009 (€20.0 million), January 2011 (€50.0 
million) and September 2015 (€28.8 million), we 
took out additional redeemable loans from KfW 
(Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau), each for ten-
year terms. These loans are part of a funding 
scheme which offers financing under favorable 
conditions for environmentally friendly invest-
ments.

In addition to other conditions, the utilization of 
these loans is subject to two covenants: the ratio 
of net debt to operating income (EBITDA) and the 
equity ratio. 

In order to increase planning certainty regard-
ing our interest expense, we hedged a variable 
interest-risk position from borrower’s note loans 
maturing in November 2016 and November 2018 
totaling €80 million with a fixed-interest position 
under an interest-rate swap. We repaid these bor-
rower’s note loans in November 2015. Given the 
current market situation, we have not liquidated 
the interest-rate swap. 

We made very little use of derivatives to hedge 
against the risks inherent in raw materials prices, 
exchange rates and other risks during the report-
ing period because, in our view, the cost of these 
instruments exceeded the potential benefit.

T. 20 MAIN FINANCING INSTRUMENTS IN THE H&R GROUP

 Sum in € million Year issued Maturity

Syndicated loan up to 240.0 2015 24/08/2018

Borrower's note loans 18.0 2011 30/11/2016

Borrower's note loans 18.0 2011 30/11/2018

Redeemable loan 20.0 2009 30/6/2019

Redeemable loan 50.0 2011 30/12/2020

Redeemable loan 28.8 2015 30/12/2023

IN € MILLION 2016 2015 2014

Trends in the consolidated net financial debt ~ 95.5 86.7 107.3

i
For further

information see 
the glossary on 

page 164 f.
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Analysis of the Cash Flow Statement 
Because of the considerably better consolidated 
result of €27.4 million, we generated net cash 
flow from operating activities of €56.4 million dur-
ing the reporting period (previous year: net use 
of €-0.4 million). Changes in net working capital 
totaled €-7.3 million (previous year: €2.2 million). 
The cash outflow was caused by the fact that the 
reduction in liabilities to suppliers exceeded the 
reduction in receivables due from customers and 
the reduction in inventories. 

Cash used in investment activities increased to 
€-28.1 million (previous year: €-10.1 million). 
Higher payments related to the replacement of 
capital assets at our refineries and sites totaling 
€-29.2 million (2014: €-19.2 million) and addi-
tional payments for the acquisition of a subsidi-
ary in South Africa were offset by proceeds from 
the disposal of land in Sythengrund. Overall, free 
cash flow (the sum of cash flow from investment 
and operating activities) was positive (2015: 

€28.4 million; previous year: €-10.5 million). 
 Financing activities resulted in a net use of cash 
of €-52.4 million (previous year: €-0.3 million). 
This item was strongly affected by the refinanc-
ing measures implemented in 2015. An amount of 
around €150.3 million was used to repay financial 
debts (2014: €-26.3 million); at the same time, 
€97.8 million of new financial liabilities were 
contracted (2014: €20.8 million). At the end of 
the reporting period, cash and cash equivalents 
amounted to €79.3 million, compared to €101.6 
million one year earlier. In the fourth quarter of 
2015 alone, the company reported operating cash 
flow of €22.7 million. Because of the increase in 
investment activities, free cash flow stood at €8.1 
million in the fourth quarter of 2015. Existing 
payment obligations in the current year consist 
of €0.4 million for finance leases (previous year: 
€0.6 million) and €4.9 million for operating  leases 
(previous year: €4.8 million). The total amount of 
liabilities to banks maturing in 2016 was €82.8 
million as of the reporting date.

T. 21 FINANCIAL POSITION

IN € MILLION 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Cash flow from operating activities 56.4 -0.4 88.9 84.7 -11.8

Cash flow from investment activities -28.1 -10.1 -16.2 -33.7 -42.3

Free cash flow 28.4 -10.5 72.8 50.9 -54.2

Cash flow from financing activities -52.4 -0.3 -49.2 -15.3 91.3

Cash and cash equivalents as of 31/12 79.3 101.6 109.6 89.6 53.1

Capital Expenditure
During the reporting period, our €32.0 million of 
capital expenditure was considerably higher than 
in the prior-year period (2014: €23.7 million). 

T. 22 CAPITAL EXPENDITURE SEGMENT

IN € MILLION 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Refining 24.0 18.1 12.0 30.8 37.9

Sales 6.7 4.7 0.5 1.8 1.3

Plastics 1.1 0.8 0.6 3.3 1.4

Reconciliation (other activities) 0.2 0.1 – 0.8 0.5

Group 32.0 23.7 13.1 36.7 41.1
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We invested a total of €30.7 million in the 
 Chemical-Pharmaceutical Raw Materials Division 
during the 2015 financial year (previous year: 
€22.8 million). After an overall decline in capital 
expenditures at the German sites in recent years, 
a major portion of this total (€24.0 million) has 
once again been invested in the Refining seg-
ment, for use in expanding and replacing capital 
assets at the Hamburg and Salzbergen refineries. 
The division’s remaining €6.7 million of capital 
expenditures were divided among our Sales seg-
ment’s international sites, with a significant share 
going to projects in Thailand and South Africa.

Capital expenditure in the Plastics Division rose 
slightly from €0.8 million in 2014 to €1.1 million 
in the reporting year. We invested somewhat more 
than half of the amount in measures at the Coburg 
site. The rest of the funds were divided among our 
international sites, with a focus on the business 
in China. Because of the investments in our refin-
eries, the bulk of our capital expenditure (77.5% 
of total expenses – previous year 78.7%) again 
took place in Germany.

Balance Sheet Analysis
As of year-end 2015, total assets (total liabilities 
plus shareholders’ equity) stood at €628.8 million 
(31 December 2014: €706.6 million). 

On the assets side, cash and cash equivalents de-
creased by 21.9% to €79.3 million, compared to 
€101.6 million at the end of 2014. Trade receiv-
ables decreased by 6.4% to €98.8 million at the 
end of the reporting period (31 December 2014: 
€105.6 million). The decrease in this balance 
sheet item is attributable to the oil-price trend and 
to the valuation on the reporting date.

Because of the trend in the price of crude oil and 
the valuation of inventories, inventories – one 
of the main components of current assets – de-
creased by a considerable 30.0% to €94.0 million 
(2014: €134.2 million). Overall, current assets de-
clined by 20.3% to €282.0 million as of 31 De-
cember 2015, compared with €353.9 million a 
year earlier. As a proportion of total assets, they 
decreased to 44.8% (31 December 2014: 50.1%).

Non-current assets decreased slightly (by 1.7%) 
to €346.8 million in financial year 2015, compared 
to €352.8 million on 31 December 2014. Property, 
plant and equipment rose only 0.7%, from €255.3 
million to €257.2 million. Over the same period, 
goodwill dropped 10.8% from €39.9 million to 
€35.6 million. Deferred taxes decreased by a con-
siderable 18.1%, from €17.1 million to €14.0 mil-
lion. Overall, non-current assets comprised 55.2% 
of total shareholders’ equity and liabilities. 

G.11 INVESTMENT BY REGION 2015

IN % (PREVIOUS YEAR’S FIGURES)

77 (79) 

2 (2) 
21 (19)

Germany 

Rest of Europe 
Rest of world
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On the shareholders’ equity and liabilities side, 
current liabilities decreased by 13.7%, from 
€198.7 million to €171.4 million. As a proportion 
of total shareholders’ equity and liabilities, they 
decreased to 27.3% (31 December 2014: 28.1%). 
Liabilities to banks, which increased substantially 
from €52.0 million to €82.8 million because of the 
valuation on the reporting date and the repayment 
of the variable tranche of the borrower’s note loan, 
were largely offset by the decrease in trade liabil-
ities to €53.3 million (31 December 2014: €112.4 
million) as a result of cheaper purchase prices for 
ship deliveries of our raw materials. 

Higher income tax liabilities totaled €6.2 million 
(31 December 2014: €2.2 million) and other pro-
visions increased to €11.2 million (31 December 
2014: €9.3 million). While other financial liabil-
ities decreased from €12.8 million to €9.8 million, 
at the same time other liabilities decreased from 
€9.9 million to €8.1 million.

During the same period, non-current liabilities de-
creased by 34.2% to €170.3 million (31 Decem-
ber 2014: €259.0 million), representing a change 
from 36.7% to 27.0% of total shareholders’ equi-
ty and liabilities. Non-current liabilities to banks 
halved from €156.1 million to €78.2 million. The 
repayment of the borrower’s note loan also had 
an impact here. Pension and other provisions also 
decreased. Other liabilities decreased from €4.8 
million to €3.9 million. 

Deferred tax liabilities decreased by 24.8% from 
€11.3 million to €8.5 million. 

As of the end of the reporting period, H&R AG’s 
equity capital amounted to €287.1 million (31 De-
cember 2014: €248.9 million). Thanks to the sub-
stantial increase in retained earnings, which after 
including consolidated net income totaled €105.8 
million (31 December 2014: €73.8 million), share-
holders’ equity was around 15.3% higher than in 
the previous year. Positive currency-translation ef-
fects led to an additional €4.1 million increase in 
shareholders’ equity.

In line with the shareholders’ equity figure, the 
equity ratio also improved. It also increased to 
45.7% because of the decrease in total share-
holders’ equity and liabilities (31 December 2014: 
35.2%). Net gearing (the ratio of net financial debt 
to equity) dropped by more than 15.4 percentage 
points from 45.6% to 30.2%.

Apart from the aforementioned transactions, no 
companies were acquired or sold during the re-
porting period. Our off-balance-sheet assets main-
ly consist of the leased portion of our refinery site 
in Hamburg and our fleet of leased vehicles.

  G. 12 ASSETS 2015 SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 2015

IN € MILLION (PREVIOUS YEAR’S FIGURES) IN € MILLION (PREVIOUS YEAR’S FIGURES)
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Sustainability  

“Oil is far too good to burn!” – Under this motto, 
H&R AG is acting not only out of economic ne-
cessity, although, ultimately, optimizing the use 
of our raw materials is also a top priority for the 
Company from a financial standpoint. 

At the same time, we see ourselves as a company 
with responsibility: for H&R AG, oil and the “old 
economy” go hand in hand with the aspiration to 
apply modern technology and to do the utmost to 
protect the work and living spaces in and around 
our production and business locations. Indeed, 
we do not exist within a vacuum. Wherever we 
operate, we are always aware of our role as part-
ners to our customers as well. We are responsible 
for our employees and their working conditions. 
We are part of the communities in which our sites 
are located and we share the same resources with 
our neighbors. Therefore, we can only succeed 
in strengthening our Group and successfully pre-
pare for the future if we act in concert with all 
 other stakeholders in pursuit of the same eco-
nomic, social and environmental objectives.

In this context, we actively face the manifold chal-
lenges involved in our mission. Thus, our custom-
ers demand not just the same old product quality 
they have enjoyed for years; instead, nowadays 
H&R AG must be in a position to deliver these 
products in an environmentally friendly manner – 
backed, if possible, by the appropriate certifica-
tions. Guidelines intended to guarantee ethical 
conduct are becoming more and more important 
and extend to all partners, in addition to our own 
company. This also encompasses both upstream 
and downstream aspects of our own value chain.

Demographic change requires us to retain our 
skilled employees over the long term. We can only 
succeed in doing so if we offer our em ployees 
good jobs and enhanced job security while posi-
tioning ourselves as a responsible employer. 

The following pages demonstrate what we 
have already managed to achieve in the area of 
“ Responsibility”.

Employees

At year-end 2015, the number of employees at the 
H&R Group had increased by 14 to 1,568 (31 De-
cember 2014: 1,553). The following table shows a 
breakdown by division:

T. 23 EMPLOYEES BY DIVISION

 2015 2014 2013

Employees 1,568 1,553 1,405

  of which 
ChemPharm 975 938 801

  of which  
Plastics 562 590 580

Other 31 25 24

Personnel expense 
in € million 79.9 72.7 71.4

Most of our employees work at the domestic refin-
eries in Hamburg and Salzbergen. As of the end 
of the reporting period, the refineries employed 
630 people (31 December 2014: 616).

Our performance-related pay schemes and flat 
hierarchies also make us an attractive employ-
er for experienced professionals. The increas-
ing complexity of our plants and equipment re-
quires well-trained employees. For example, for 
the super vision of the processes in the refineries’ 
measurement and control rooms, we deploy only 
experienced employees who are ready and willing 
to regularly expand their knowledge base through 
further training and continuing education.

As we can only compete internationally if we have 
superbly trained employees on board, we con-
sider our spending on advanced training and pro-
fessional development to be an investment in the 
future of our company. When choosing training 
courses, we follow an individual approach that 
promotes employees’ strengths and helps them to 
achieve their career goals.

Our employees are characterized by a high degree 
of loyalty to the H&R Group. This is demonstrated, 
in particular, by the high average seniority and 
the low staff turnover ratio at the sites in Germa-
ny. The age structure of our domestic workforce 
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has remained roughly the same in recent years. 
During the period under review, the 41-to-50 age 
group was the largest. The age distribution of our 
employees is thus typical of industrial companies 
in Germany.

Occupational Health and Safety

A key safety issue at all of our sites is the fur-
ther training and education of our employees: we 
hold regular training sessions on topics relating 
to safety and require all our employees to visit our 
Internet-based safety instruction system on a reg-
ular basis. Contractors working in our factories 
are also included in our safety strategy. 

Detailed analyses of potential losses, a special 
report on safety-related ratios, safety inspections 
and the active involvement of the Executive Board 
ensure that our safety performance is constantly 
improving. Our accident statistics are based on 

the international CONCAWE standard (CONser-
vation of Clean Air and Water in Europe) which 
uses the indicators LWIF (lost workday injury fre-
quency) and LWIS (lost workday injury severity). 
The LWIF figure shows the frequency of accidents 
(number of work accidents with at least 1 day lost 
for every 1 million working hours). The LWIS fig-
ure shows the severity of accidents (number of 
days lost per work accident). Here, both compa-
ny employees and contractors are taken into ac-
count. 

The standards we apply are therefore much strict-
er than those called for by the employers’ liability 
insurance associations in Germany, for instance. 
During the past year, our safety efforts once again 
paid off: in 2015, the LWIF figure for our refin-
eries was 0.6 (previous year: 1.2), so we were 
again able to notch an improvement over the 
previous year’s track record at our refineries and 
once again outperformed our competition.

T. 24 OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AT THE H&R REFINERIES

 2015
CONCAWE- 

standard 2014 2013 2012

Number of occupational accidents 
with a least one day lost per million 
working hours – (Lost Workday Injury 
Frequency; LWIF) 0.6 1.2 1.2 0.0 4.4

Number of occupational accidents 
with at least one day lost 1.0 – 2.0 0.0 8.0

Number of days lost due to accidents 12.0 – 56.0 13.0 195.0

Number of working days lost per 
occupational accident (Lost Workday 
Injury Severity; LWIS) 12.0 44.9 28.0 0.0 24.8

Number of fatal occupational acci-
dents per 100 million working hours 0.0 2.5 0.0 0.0 0.0

i
For further
information see 
the glossary on 
page 164 f.
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Process Safety  

As an operator of refineries and production facil-
ities, we are simultaneously entrepreneurs and 
employers, users of natural resources and neigh-
bors. 

As such, we are under the obligation to act safely 
and sustainably. Our refinery processes use a va-
riety of substances that require extremely careful 
handling. Since the start of 2011, we have meas-
ured our performance in this area by means of the 
PSPI (Process Safety Performance Indicator). To 
calculate this figure, we track incidents relating to 
the safety of our processes (PSE – Process Safety 
Events) per 1 million working hours. 

We ensure that our results are meaningful by 
comparing them with the reference figure from 
the industry association CONCAWE. Since we be-
gan recording the PSE, we have always performed 
better than the CONCAWE benchmark standard.

Environmental Report

Environmental protection and the responsible use 
of natural resources are key goals of our company 
policy. On the one hand, we are constantly striving 
to reduce energy consumption and the amount of 
environmental pollutants caused by the produc-
tion process. On the other hand, we also develop 
environmentally friendly products which either 
offer an alternative to products containing envi-
ronmental pollutants or which, by virtue of their 
use, contribute to protecting the environment. 

Environmentally Sound Products. Our label- 
free plasticizers for the tire industry reduce envi-
ronmental impact in two ways. First, they improve 
the environmental compatibility of the tire com-
pounds and tire particles. Furthermore, they low-
er the rolling resistance of the tires and thereby 
make an important contribution to reducing fuel 
consumption.

Our label-free plasticizers are also found in many 
kinds of lagging and insulation materials used to 
reduce heat loss from buildings. One of the uses 
of the white oils produced in our refineries is as 
components of pesticides to improve the yield 

of renewable raw materials. Our paraffins can 
be used to weatherproof domestic timber varie-
ties. Their use renders intensive deforestation of 
slow-growing tropical timber stocks unnecessary. 
The innovative products from our Plastics Divi-
sion are increasingly being substituted for parts 
used in the automotive industry that were pre-
viously made of metal. The resulting weight re-
duction helps to reduce vehicle fuel consumption 
even further.

At the same time, the amount of energy used in 
their production is much lower than for compa-
rable metal components. 

Energy Efficiency and Climate Protection. In 
Germany, high energy costs affect particularly 
energy-intensive production operations.

Although H&R AG claims the exemptions for 
 energy-intensive production sites for the refin-
eries, it pursues a rigorous, systematic policy of 
lowering this cost factor at its sites. 

In order to not only stay competitive but also 
contribute to protecting the environment at the 
same time, reducing CO2 emissions is an impor-
tant  element of our environmental strategy. Given 
the depth of their value chain (degree of verti-
cal integration), H&R’s refineries face particular 
challenges. In contrast to other refinery operators 
whose processes end with the production of fuel 
or base oils, this is the point where our refineries’ 
real role begins. The additional processing stages 
for high-value specialty products require further 
energy inputs, which increases CO2 emissions. 
At the same time, though, the creation of higher- 
grade, long-lasting products helps to conserve 
resources. 

CO2 Emissions. Our CO2 footprint and our direct 
emissions together create indirect effects as well, 
e.g., from purchasing additional energy. We ac-
count for the depth of our value chain by calcu-
lating the sum of all individual plant throughputs 
in the course of production. For financial year 
2015, our emissions per ton of feedstock came 
to 397.5kg. Emissions during the past financial 
year were therefore significantly lower than the 
prior-year figure (384.3 kg) but at the same time 
lower than the 2011 benchmark (398.1 kg).
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Waste. We try to reduce the amount of waste 
caused by our production process as far as pos-
sible. Most unavoidable waste is recycled. Only 
when we have exhausted this option do we dis-
pose of the remaining waste in an environmen-
tally compatible way. Fortunately, the total 
amount of refuse generated by H&R’s refinery 
sites is in any case low. By way of comparison, in 
2015 we managed to reduce the amount of waste 
we produce by approximately 49.0% compared 
to the benchmark year of 2011 (3.09 kg). Instead 
of 2.08 kg per ton of feedstock as in 2014, we only 
generated 1.57 kg per ton last year.

Water Use. Most of the water required for our 
refineries is used for cooling. This water does 
not come into contact with our products and 
can be returned directly to the environment. Our 
closed-circuit systems enable us to use our cool-
ing water several times in some cases, thereby 
reducing our overall water consumption. A very 
small proportion of the water is used directly 
in our refinery processes. We use sophisticated 
procedures to purify this water so that it can be 
returned to the environment as wastewater with-
out any concerns. In total, in 2015 we drained off 
686.3 liters of domestic or process wastewater 
per ton of feedstock, thus performing well below 
(around 36% below) our 2011 benchmark (861.2 
liters). In the prior year, the comparative quantity 
was even lower, at 604.7 liters.

T. 25 EMISSIONS BY H&R REFINERIES 

PER TON OF FEEDSTOCK 2015 2014 2013

CO2 for all energy sources 
(kg/t use) 397.5 384.3 400.9

Waste water (l/t use) 686.3 604.7 679.5

Waste (kg/t use) 1.57 2.08 1.59

Product Responsibility

Group-wide, we strive to have uniform safety 
standards that exceed statutory requirements. 
In doing so, we take the entire value chain into 
consideration: from the delivery of raw materials 
to the use of our components in our customers’ 
products.

We apply the standards laid down in REACH, the 
new EU regulation for chemicals. In 2010, we 
successfully completed the relevant registration 
phase for substances with an annual produc-
tion volume of more than 1,000 tons. During the  
period under review, we incorporated the addi-
tional information required by the regulation into 
our material safety data sheets. In order to keep 
the costs of complying with REACH to a minimum 
and to take advantage of synergies, we play an 
active role in the CONCAWE association. At the 
local level, we also joined REACH’s network of 
experts in Hamburg in 2014.

Now that registration has been completed suc-
cessfully, some of the substances we produce 
require authorization. However, no costs were in-
curred for this in financial year 2015.
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Assessment of the Economic Situation 
by Company Management
Over the reporting period, the economic outlook 
at H&R AG turned out to be considerably more 
positive than the Executive Board had assumed 
at the beginning of 2015. In particular, the earn-
ings projections were revised upwards during the 
year.

Following the trend of previous years, our sales 
revenues also declined in 2015. At the same time, 
sales volumes were higher than in 2014 thanks to 
higher customer demand. The downward trend in 
sales revenues was a direct consequence of and 
is explained in its entirety by cheaper prices for 
raw materials.

At €86.0 million, earnings (EBITDA) were more 
than twice the prior-year level (2014: €31.5 mil-
lion). After including some special effects from 
the disposal of a property formerly used for the 
production of explosives and from insurance ben-
efits received in connection with fire damage to 
the paraffin mold facility in Salzbergen totaling 
€5.5 million, the company posted very satisfac-
tory earnings.

After a first quarter that made the weakest con-
tribution of the entire year to operating income 
(EBITDA), the company picked up substantial 
momentum in the second quarter which grew 
stronger as the year progressed. However, this 
cannot be explained solely by a generally satis-
factory margin situation and the significant re-
covery in prices for our primary and by-products. 
In 2015, the company also benefited from the 
strategic decisions it reached in prior years. For 
example, the company’s more diversified position 
in its international businesses will help to ensure 
that its profitability is sustainable, while continu-
ing with contract orders at the Salzbergen site has 
restabilized our earnings trend. 

Further optimizing our smart raw materials man-
agement system and achieving internal synergies 
within the H&R Group were important strategic 
milestones for ensuring the company’s future via-
bility. We now have the ability to analyze samples 
of raw materials virtually overnight, to determine 
the “intrinsic value” and to adjust our refineries to 
produce those products for which there is market 
demand.

Systematic positioning of the refineries as 
specialty- products refineries and clearly dif-
ferentiating them from lubricant refineries has 
protected our competitive position. Numerous 
Group 1 base-oil production sites – including ma-
jor groups’ refineries – are leaving the market. 
It is not only our aforementioned flexibility that 
enables us to hold our ground. H&R’s refineries 
have an above-average share of high-grade petro-
leum-based specialty products, waxes and white 
oils, while our share of lower-margin lubricants is 
below the market average.

Overall, therefore, we believe the company is 
significantly more stable than it was even a year 
ago. In view of the difficult market and macroe-
conomic conditions, the measures implemented 
were  necessary and appropriate to positively in-
fluence the company’s earnings trend. In spite of 
everything we have achieved, we must rigorously 
adhere to the course upon which we have em-
barked. 

Presentation of the Influence of 
 Financial Policies on the Economic 
Situation
As in prior years, we have been conservative in 
exercising discretion and in making estimates. 
Our net assets and financial position also reflect, 
inter alia, the steps we have taken to manage 
working capital (factoring, inventory manage-
ment, advance payments for orders). For a full 
description of the assumptions and discretionary 
decisions made with respect to the measurement 
of assets and liabilities, please refer to the pres-
entation in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements in this annual report.

For further
information see

page 107 ff.
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T. 26 EARNINGS POSITION OF H&R AG UNDER HGB

IN € THOUSAND 2015 2014 Change

Sales revenues 1,649 1,079 570

Other operating income 3,258 1,743 1,515

Personnel expenses -2,029 -1,658 -371

Amortization of intangible fixed assets and depreciation of property, plant 
and equipment -18 -20 2

Depreciation and amortization of current assets in excess of the company's 
customary depreciation and amortization charges 0 -20,000 20,000

Other operating expenses -7,372 -6,012 -1,360

Income from equity investments 0 123 -123

Income from profittransfer agreements 24,643 708 23,935

Expenses from loss-transfer agreements -4,251 -25,714 21,463

Income from lending financial assets 3 5 -2

Impairment losses on investments -320 0 -320

Other interest and similar income 8,281 10,665 -2,384

Interest and similar expenses -8,838 -9,461 623

Earnings/(loss) before taxes from ordinary operations 15,005 -48,542 63,547

Extraordinary expenses -53 -53 0

Extraordinary result -53 -53 0

Income taxes -1,451 -52 -1,399

Other taxes -12 -1 -11

Net income/(loss) for the year 13,489 -48,648 62,137

Loss carryforward -91,098 -42,450 -48,648

Accumulated deficit -77,609 -91,098 13,489

We have prepared the separate financial state-
ments for H&R AG in accordance with the German 
Commercial Code (HGB). They are published in the 
Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger) and are perma-
nently available for downloading from the H&R AG 
section of the company website,  www.hur.com.  
For financial year 2015, we have combined the 
management reports of the H&R Group and of 
H&R AG.

H&R AG’s revenues are generated solely by ser-
vices rendered to companies in the Group. At €1.6 
million, sales revenues were 45.5% higher than in 
the previous year (2014: €1.1 million). During the 
reporting period, personnel expenses totaled €2.0 
million, higher than in the prior-year period (2014: 
€1.7 million). The fixed-asset depreciation charge 
of €18,000 was almost the same as that of the pre-
vious year (€20,000).

Other operating expenses increased sharply from 
€6.0 million to €7.4 million. 

Income from profit-transfer agreements improved 
significantly to €24.6 million (previous year: €0.7 
million). The increase is related to improved earn-
ings from subsidiaries in the ChemPharm Refining 
and ChemPharm Sales segments.

The generally less tense earnings situation at most 
of the subsidiaries with which individual profit- 
transfer agreements exist was also the main rea-
son for the decrease in expenses from loss-trans-
fer agreements from €25.7 million the previous 
year to €4.2 million in the reporting period.

The subsidiaries of H&R AG obtain funding for 
their financing needs from H&R AG’s resources, 
which in turn are financed on the capital markets 
via credit lines and borrower’s note loans. Other 
interest and similar income declined slightly from 
€10.7 million to €8.3 million. Lower financing 
costs in 2015 resulted in a decrease in interest and 
similar expenses, from €9.5 million to €8.8 mil-
lion. Overall, earnings before taxes from ordinary 
operations increased to €15.0 million (previous 
year: €-48.5 million).

www.hur.com

Net Assets, Financial Position and Results of Operations 
of H&R AG

General Economic Outlook
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The tax liability increased from €52,000 in the pre-
vious year to €1.5 million. Overall, H&R AG gener-
ated net income of €13.5 million (previous year: 
net loss of €-48.6 million). After netting the annual 

result against the loss carryforward, the company 
reported an accumulated deficit of €-77.6 million, 
compared with €-91.1 million in the previous year. 

T. 27 NET ASSETS AND FINANCIAL POSITION OF H&R AG

 
€ THOUSAND 2015 2014 Change

Land, land rights and buildings, including structures on third-party land 8 9 -1

Other equipment, operating and office equipment 85 90 -5

Property, plant and equipment 93 99 -6

Shares in affiliated companies 119,369 119,688 -319

Loans to affiliated companies 72,240 52,311 19,929

Equity investments 1,050 1,050 –

Loans to entities in which the company has a participating interest 38 100 -62

Financial assets 192,790 173,248 19,542

Receivables due from affiliated companies 80,047 104,242 -24,195

Other assets 1,742 3,554 -1,812

Receivables and other assets 81,789 107,796 -26,007

Securities 151 163 -12

Bank balances 12,708 28,206 -15,498

Current assets 94,648 136,165 -41,517

Prepaid expenses 358 430 -72

Assets 287,797 309,843 -22,046

Subscribed capital 91,573 91,573 –

Capital reserve 56,037 56,037 –

Other retained earnings 29,866 29,866 –

Accumulated deficit -77,609 -91,098 13,489

Shareholders' equity 99,866 86,377 13,489

Provisions for pensions and similar commitments 2,206 2,316 -110

Tax provisions 1,777 – 1,777

Other provisions 6,207 8,240 -2,033

Provisions 10,190 10,556 -366

Liabilities to banks 133,597 165,840 -32,243

Trade accounts payable 21 253 -232

Liabilities to affiliated companies 40,528 43,661 -3,133

Other liabilities 3,594 3,156 438

Liabilities 177,740 212,910 -35,170

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities 287,797 309,843 -22,046

H&R AG’s total assets fell by 7.1% to €287.8 mil-
lion as of 31 December 2015 (31 December 2014: 
€309.8 million). Because of higher loans to affil-
iated companies totaling €72.2 million (previous 
year: € 52.3 million), and despite slightly lower 
shares in affiliated companies of €119.4 million, 
financial assets increased from €173.2 million to 
€192.8 million at the end of 2015. Although our 
subsidiaries repaid issued loans, H&R AG simul-
taneously made fresh, more extensive funds avail-
able. 

Due to scheduled loan repayments, receivables 
due from affiliated companies also decreased 
from €104.2 million to €80.0 million. Bank bal-
ances decreased sharply from €28.2 million to 
€12.7 million. Overall, current assets dropped 
30.6% from €136.2 million to €94.6 million. 

On the shareholders’ equity and liabilities side, 
subscribed capital, the capital reserve and other 
retained earnings were more or less equal to the 
prior-year figures. The net income generated dur-



73 GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORTNet Assets, Financial Position and Results of Operations 

ing the reporting period, €13.5 million, was rec-
ognized in the accumulated deficit, which there-
fore improved to €-77.6 million. Shareholders’ 
equity therefore increased from €86.4 million as 
of 31 December 2014 to €99.9 million at the end 
of the reporting period. The equity ratio improved 
to 34.7% (31 December 2014: 27.9%).

Provisions for pension obligations decreased 
slightly. There was a somewhat more significant 
decline in other provisions. This effect was offset 
by higher tax provisions, with the total Provisions 

item remaining close to the prior-year level (31 
December 2015: €10.2 million; 31 December 
2014: €10.6 million). 

By contrast, liabilities dropped by a significant 
amount (16.6%) to €177.7 million (31 December 
2014: €213.0 million), mainly due to lower liabil-
ities to banks totaling €133.6 million (previous 
year: €165.8 million) and lower liabilities to af-
filiated companies (€40.5 million; previous year: 
€43.7 million). 
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Disclosures in Accordance with 
Article 289, Paragraph 4 and 
 Article 315, Paragraph 4 of the 
German Commercial Code (HGB)

Item 1: Composition of Subscribed 
Capital
As of 31 December 2015, H&R AG’s subscribed 
capital (share capital) totaled €91,572,769.63. It 
is divided into 35,820,154 no-par bearer shares. 
This corresponds to a notional value of €2.56 per 
share. There are no different classes of shares; 
they are all ordinary shares. Each of these shares 
entitles the holder to one vote.

Item 2: Restrictions on Voting Rights 
or the Transfer of Shares
The Executive Board of H&R AG is not aware 
of any restrictions affecting voting rights or the 
transfer of shares.

Item 3: Direct or Indirect Interests Ex-
ceeding Ten Percent of Voting Rights
According to the notification from Mr Nils Hansen 
dated 26 September 2014, his share of voting 
rights was 41.89% on 25 September 2014 and 
therefore was below the 50% threshold on that 
date. These shares were held by H&R Beteiligung 
GmbH and are attributable to Mr Nils Hansen 
via H&R Holding GmbH, Hamburg, Germany. 
According to an informal announcement on  
11 December 2014, H&R Beteiligung GmbH’s 
stake rose by another 1.11%.

According to another notification from Mr Nils 
Hansen dated 26 September 2014, his share of 
voting rights, held by H&R Internationale Beteili-
gung GmbH and likewise attributable to Mr Nils 
Hansen, exceeded the 15% threshold on 25 Sep-
tember 2014 and amounted to 16.32% on that 
date.

According to an informal notification, the  
equity interest attributable to Mr Hansen came 
to 60.55% on 31 December 2015. Of the total, 
1.23% is attributable to Mr Hansen as privately 
held voting rights. 

Item 4: Holders of Shares With Spe-
cial Rights Granting Powers of Control
There are no shares with special rights granting 
powers of control.

Item 5: Control Over Voting Rights of 
Shares Held by Employees
The voting rights of employees who hold shares 
in the company’s capital are not controlled. 

Item 6: Statutory Regulations and 
Provisions of the Articles of Associa-
tion on the Appointment and Dismiss-
al of Executive Board Members and 
Amendments to the Articles of Asso-
ciation
The Supervisory Board oversees the Executive 
Board and advises its members on the manage-
ment of the Company. Executive Board members 
are appointed and dismissed in accordance with 
Articles 84 and 85 of the German Stock Corpo-
ration Act (AktG). Amendments to the Articles of 
Association are made on the basis of Articles 133 
and 179 AktG and Article 20, paragraph 2 of the 
Articles of Association. The Supervisory Board is 
nevertheless entitled to adopt amendments to the 
Articles of Association that only affect their word-
ing without the approval of the Annual Sharehold-
ers’ Meeting. Article 13 of the Articles of Associa-
tion defines further circumstances, in addition to 
those defined by statute, in which the Supervisory 
Board’s approval is required. Specifically, these 
are: entering into long-term liabilities, establish-
ing and dissolving branch offices and establish-
ing, liquidating, merging or converting subsidi-
aries. The Supervisory Board has also adopted 
rules of procedure as recommended in Section 
5.1.3 of the German Corporate Governance Code.

Other Statutory Disclosures
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Other Statutory Disclosures 

Item 7: Powers of the Executive 
Board, Particularly Regarding the 
Issuance or Buyback of Shares 
The Executive Board has various options for 
implementing corporate actions. Pursuant to 
Article 4, paragraph 4 of the Articles of Associ-
ation, the Executive Board is authorized – with 
the Supervisory Board’s approval – to increase 
the company’s share capital by 12 May 2019 by 
a maximum of €22,364,796.53 by issuing up to 
8,748,348 ordinary no-par bearer shares. The is-
sue may be effected in one or more tranches in re-
turn for cash and/or contributions-in-kind (2014 
Approved Capital). In principle, the shareholders 
have a subscription right. The new shares may 
also be acquired by one or more banks with the 
obligation to offer them for subscription to share-
holders. 

Subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, 
the Executive Board is entitled to suspend share-
holders’ subscription rights on one or more oc-
casions, 

a)  to the extent necessary to exclude fractional 
share amounts from shareholders’ subscription 
rights;

b)  to the extent necessary to grant holders of op-
tion or conversion rights and obligations under 
warrants or convertible bonds the same rights 
to subscribe new shares that they would have 
as shareholders if they had already exercised 
their option or conversion rights or fulfilled 
their conversion obligations; 

c)  to the extent that the new shares are issued 
for subscription in cash and the proportion of 
share capital attributable to the new shares 
does not exceed the lesser of €7,662,503.90 or 
10% of share capital at the time this authoriza-
tion to exclude subscription rights takes effect 
and is exercised for the first time (“maximum 
amount”) and the issue price of the new shares 
is not significantly lower than the quoted price 
for company shares of the same type already 
listed on the stock exchange at the time the is-
sue price is set definitively;

d)  to the extent that the new shares are issued in 
exchange for contributions-in-kind, especially 
in the form of companies, parts of companies, 
interests in companies or receivables. 

The maximum amount defined in Article 4, para-
graph 4c of the Articles of Association is to be re-
duced by the proportion of share capital attributa-
ble to new or previously acquired treasury shares 
that have been issued or sold since 13 May 2014 
on the basis of a simplified exclusion of subscrip-
tion rights in accordance or by analogy with Arti-
cle 186, paragraph 3, sentence 4 AktG, and by the 
proportion of share capital attributable to shares 
that can be acquired through option or conver-
sion rights and/or obligations that have been is-
sued since 13 May 2014 by analogous application 
of Article 186, paragraph 3, sentence 4 AktG. Any 
reduction is reversed to the extent that authori-
zations to issue convertible bonds and/or bonds 
with warrants in accordance with Article 221, par-
agraph 4, sentence 2 and Article 186, paragraph 
3, sentence 4 AktG or to sell treasury shares in 
accordance with Article 71, paragraph no. 8 and 
Article 186, paragraph 3, sentence 4 AktG or to 
issue new shares in accordance or by analogy 
with Article 186, paragraph 3, sentence 4 AktG 
are granted again by the Annual Share holders’ 
Meeting once the authorizations that resulted in 
the reduction have been exercised.

The Executive Board is authorized, with the ap-
proval of the Supervisory Board, to specify the 
further details about the capital increase, in par-
ticular details regarding the rights accruing to the 
shares and the terms of issue. The Supervisory 
Board is authorized, once the increase in share 
capital has been fully or partially completed, 
to revise Article 4 of the Articles of Association 
based on the utilization of the approved capital 
from time to time and once the authorization pe-
riod has expired. 

The Executive Board is also authorized until 
30 May 2016 – with the Supervisory Board’s ap-
proval – to increase the company’s share capital 
by up to €1,000,000.00 by issuing no-par ordi-
nary bearer shares on one or more occasions for 
subscription in cash for the purpose of issuing 
employee shares to staff of the company and its 
affiliated companies (2011 Approved Capital). 
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Shareholders’ subscription rights are precluded 
in this case.

The Supervisory Board is authorized to revise Ar-
ticle 4, paragraph 5 of the Articles of Association 
once the share capital increase has been fully or 
partially completed or the authorization period 
has expired.

The Executive Board last exercised these powers 
in financial year 2014 in its 17 September 2014 
decision – approved by the Supervisory Board – 
to carry out an increase in contributions-in-kind 
from the approved capital, while barring existing 
shareholders’ subscription rights. In the pro-
cess, the Hansen & Rosenthal Group, Hamburg, 
contributed 51% of its China businesses, which 
were combined into H&R China Holding GmbH, 
Hamburg, to H&R AG as a contribution-in-kind 
in exchange for the issuance of new shares. H&R 
AG undertook to grant 5,847,042 new shares as 
consideration for the equity interest it was to re-
ceive in the Hansen & Rosenthal Group. This capi-
tal increase in the form of a contribution-in-kind 
was recorded in the Commercial Register on 
25 September 2014. The increase in contribu-
tions-in-kind from the approved capital increased 
the company’s share capital by €14,947,725.52 to 
€91,572,769.63, in part by utilizing the approved 
capital by issuing 5,847,042 new no-par bearer 
shares. 

In addition, the resolution passed by the Annual 
Shareholders’ Meeting on 27 May 2010 author-
ized the company to acquire treasury shares in 
the period until 26 May 2015 of up to 10% of ex-
isting share capital at the time the resolution was 
passed.

This authorization expired without being utilized.

Finally, the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting passed 
a resolution on a contingent increase in the com-
pany’s share capital of up to €7,500,000.00 in the 
period until 12 May 2019 through the issuance of 
up to 2,933,745 no-par bearer shares with divi-
dend rights from the beginning of the financial 
year in which they are issued. The contingent 
capital is intended to grant shares to satisfy sub-
scription and/or conversion rights and/or obliga-
tions of holders of warrant-linked and/or convert-
ible bonds that are issued by the company or a 

Group company in accordance with the authori-
zation by the company’s Annual General Meeting 
on 13 May 2014.

The Executive Board is authorized, with the ap-
proval of the Supervisory Board, to determine the 
further details for implementing the contingent 
capital increase (2014 Contingent Capital). The 
Supervisory Board is authorized to amend Article 
4, paragraphs 1 and 6 of the Articles of Incorpora-
tion in accordance with the respective utilization 
of the Contingent Capital.

Item 8: Essential Agreements Subject 
to the Condition of a Change in Con-
trol Owing to a Takeover Bid
The banks involved in the syndicated loans and 
borrower’s note loans have the right to call in the 
loans in the event of a change of control.

Item 9: Compensation Agreements 
to be Concluded with the Members 
of the Executive Board or with Em-
ployees Covering the Eventuality of a 
Takeover Bid
No such arrangements exist at this time.

Subordinate Status Report  
(Related-Party Transactions)

Since late 2010, the percentage of voting rights 
attributable to Mr Nils Hansen has exceeded 
50%. Mr Nils Hansen also had a voting majority 
in prior years. As a result, we produce a subordi-
nate status report each year in accordance with 
Article 312 AktG.

In the report for the 2015 financial year, our Ex-
ecutive Board came to the following conclusion: 
“With regard to the transactions listed in the Re-
port on Relationships with Affiliated Companies 
for the reporting period from 1 January 2015 to 
31 December 2015, based on the circumstances 
that we were aware of at the time such transac-
tions took place, our company received appro-
priate consideration for every transaction. No 
relevant measures were implemented or omitted 
during the reporting period.”
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Events after the Balance Sheet Date

Between 31 December 2015 and the editorial 
deadline for this Report, there were no events 
with a material impact on the net assets, financial 
position or results of operations.

Other Statutory Disclosures | Events after the Balance-Sheet Date
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Forecast Report

Orientation of the Group in  
Financial Year 2016

Statements concerning short-term company 
trends from 1 January to 31 December of finan-
cial year 2016 assume that, based on our current 
knowledge, there will be no fundamental legal 
or organizational changes in the structure of the 
Group.

The main challenge facing our company is how to 
deal with the trade-off between raw-material pric-
es and market conditions. H&R AG is positioned 
so that it can actively take advantage of its flex-
ibility at three different levels of the value chain: 
as a refinery operator and producer, in further 
processing and in distribution. If, in addition to 
our in-house expertise, we also need external ca-
pacity, we can enlist a network of tried and tested 
partnerships. Every one of our Group subsidiaries 
fits into this simple matrix.

At the same time, we need to take goal-oriented, 
individually tailored steps to achieve our 2016 tar-
gets.

In 2016, we will prepare our Chemical-Pharma-
ceutical Refining business – which as one of our 
core competencies was the main driver of total 
revenue growth and earnings during the report-
ing period – to tackle future challenges through 
extensive modernization and expansion efforts. 
Above all, this applies to the efficiency and de-
gree of vertical integration at our refineries. Here, 
we have instituted measures designed to more 
clearly highlight the market-driven influences on 
our business that are only partly within our con-
trol while at the same time increasing the level 
of certainty for medium-term corporate planning. 
This should minimize the adverse effect of these 
volatile factors on our earnings accordingly. For 
the Salzbergen site, this means continuing the 
contract-production model implemented in 2013, 
which adds stability and planning predictability to 
our forecasts for sales revenues and earnings.

In our view, the Hamburg refinery’s performance 
is by far the strongest lever we have for optimiz-
ing our results. The important groundwork has al-
ready been done in previous years, in terms of op-
timizing management of raw materials in order to 
be able to react on short notice and with flexibility 
to trends in the raw-material and sales markets 
and to be able to purchase and use raw ma terials 
on a just-in-time basis. In 2016, we will again re-
double our efforts to find solutions for the ideal 
selection and use of raw materials and to expand 
our expertise in order to improve this cost item.

If the mere selection of certain raw materials is 
capable of increasing the output ratio of primary 
to co-products or by-products, the marketing of 
the remaining by-products is particularly impor-
tant. Financial year 2015 demonstrated that for 
some of these products which in the past had no 
contribution margin, or only a small contribution 
margin, some products were in greater demand 
and eventually their margins also recovered. In 
the past, only limited – and in some cases, only 
seasonal – applications existed for these prod-
ucts. In 2015, we experienced a turnaround which 
we expect to see accelerate again in the coming 
years. For example, our bitumen is no longer just 
the raw material for asphalt; in the future, it will 
also be used as the input for new coker facilities 
at other refineries.

In the Chemical-Pharmaceutical Sales segment, 
our strategy of forming production partnerships 
to supplement our own production sites has 
 proven to be successful. In financial year 2016, 
our international business has a firmly estab-
lished position in global markets and will support 
H&R AG’s overall performance as a stable driver 
of sales revenues and earnings.

For the Plastics segment, the goal is to reduce 
dependence on the automotive industry by ex-
panding activities in the fields of medical, electri-
cal, measurement and control technology and to 
operate the business profitably over the next few 
years with customary market returns.

Moreover, all areas of the organization are being 
asked to examine their own positions and to con-
tribute to a financially quantifiable optimization 
of all processes wherever possible and necessary.

Forecast, Risks and Opportunities Report 
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Forecast, Risks and Opportunities Report

Future Sales Markets
In the Chemical-Pharmaceutical business, Ger-
many and other European countries will continue 
to be the main drivers of our sales revenues. In 
view of the maturity of these markets, our growth 
strategy in this region is based less on increas-
ing volumes than on improving the efficiency of 
production processes and manufacturing higher- 
quality products. At the same time, we intend 
to continue to benefit from our products’ broad 
range of applications in over 100 different indus-
tries.

Outside of Europe, we are quite clearly focusing 
on Asia. Despite macroeconomic data that are 
subdued compared to previous years, China con-
tinues to be more than just an important supply 
hub for our companies’ activities in the region. 
We continue to regard the country as a growth 
market for our specialty products and are focus-
ing primarily on producing and marketing wax 
products and label-free plasticizers for the tire 
industry. In our view, the significance of this mar-
ket will increase with the relocation of many tire 
manufacturers from Europe to China.

Throughout the entire region of East Asia, we 
want to participate in the growth projected for 
these emerging markets, both by accelerating the 
expansion of our existing sales activities and by 
forming new production partnerships.

Future Use of New Technologies and 
Processes
Constantly improving processes to increase 
 efficiency and raise product quality is a core ele-
ment of our corporate strategy. By operating new 
equipment at our facilities, we increase the value 
added by our domestic refineries. This enables 
us to convert products previously not capable 
of being refined into high-grade crude-oil-based 
specialty products and to minimize the amount of 
waste residue left over by the production process. 
At the same time, we are planning to increase our 
hydrogenation capacity at both domestic sites. 

In the Plastics Division, too, we work continuous-
ly to improve our production processes.

Future Products and Services
In the future, we will continue to pursue our suc-
cessful strategy of developing innovative prod-
ucts that are closely aligned with our customers’ 
needs. In the Chemical-Pharmaceutical Division, 
our sales partner, Hansen & Rosenthal KG, serves 
as an interface between our customers and our 
R&D departments. By constantly testing new 
product specifications, we aim to have our input 
materials contribute to further efficiency gains in 
our customers’ production processes and further 
increase the quality of their products. Moreover, 
one of the focal points of our research and de-
velopment activities is to ensure the continued 
diversification of our primary products while 
increasing their percentage share of the overall 
product mix. We are already developing the next 
generation of these products in order to main-
tain our technological lead in this field. Work is 
also under way to develop innovative processes 
for manufacturing white oils and other crude-oil-
based specialty products. New sales and distribu-
tion strategies are intended to boost marketing of 
current by-products.

The Plastics Division enters this financial year 
in a stronger position. For example, GAUDLITZ 
GmbH was able to position itself with OEMs and 
customers in the automotive sector following suc-
cessful development projects for lucrative new 
orders and series production orders. At the same 
time, we aim to expand the customer base in med-
ical technology and industry; we hope to attract 
new customers through a performance-based 
reorganization of organizational and production 
processes from a sales/distribution and operating 
standpoint and to jointly tap into new markets 
with existing customers. In recent years, the com-
pany has managed to achieve double-digit growth 
rates in the profitable in-house development seg-
ment. We also plan to expand work in this area 
during the current financial year.
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Comparison of Actual and Target 
Figures
The following table compares the actual values of 
the main or key control figures used by H&R AG 

for the past financial year (FY) with the original 
forecast and shows the outlook for financial year 
2016:

T. 28 COMPARISON OF ACTUAL VALUES WITH FORECAST

Key Figure Forecast FY 2015 Actual FY 2015 Outlook FY 2016

Group sales €1,000 million to €1,100 million €982.9 million €900 million to €1,200 million

 of which Refining 60% €614.3 million (ca. 62%) 63%

 of which Sales 34% €320.2 million (ca. 32%) 32%

 of which Plastics 6% €60.1 million (ca. 6%) 5

Reconciliation with  
Group sales n. a. €-11.6 million n. a.

Consolidated EBITDA €45.0 million to €65.0 million €86.0 million ~ €85.0 million

 of which Refining 56% €53.1 million (ca. 60%) 62%

 of which Sales 42% €35.1 million (ca. 40%) 34%

 of which Plastics 2% €-0.8 million (ca. 0%) 2%

Reconciliation with  
consolidated EBITDA n. a. €-1.4 million n. a.

For the main indicator, sales revenues or sales 
revenues by segment, the company failed to 
reach the 2015 target because of the decline  
in raw-material costs, which are the primary  
driver of sales revenues. However, the percentage 
breakdown of sales revenues for the individual 
segments was largely in line with the assumptions 
made at the beginning of 2015. We expect sales 
to generally increase in 2016 and we assume that 
the ChemPharm segment, in particular, will ex-
perience a significant increase in sales volumes. 
At the same time, our range of expected sales 
takes into accouunt the potentially lower costs of 
raw materials and their an impact on sales at our  
refinery sites, which are are sensitive to such 
costs.

The target set for operating income (EBITDA) was 
significantly exceeded. We have again raised our 
targets for 2016. Here, the higher earnings fore-
cast primarily reflects potential at the Hamburg 
refinery. However, we also expect our Chinese 
businesses and the Plastics Division to contribute 
more to earnings. 
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Economic Environment in the Next 
Financial Year  

Future Macroeconomic Situation
Lately, the prospects for global economic growth 
have repeatedly been rated as moderate. Never-
theless, according to a forecast by the Kiel Insti-
tute for the World Economy (IfW), global gross 
domestic product will grow by 3.4% in 2016, i.e., 
noticeably more than during the reporting period 
(2015: 3.1%). Experts expect economic output in 
the Eurozone to increase by 1.7% (2015: 1.5%).

With GDP expected to grow 2.2% in 2016, Ger-
many should, in the opinion of the IfW, again be 
able to overtake the other countries in the Euro-
zone.

Experts from the OECD are again forecasting 
higher economic growth rates in the ASEAN-5 
countries – which are of great importance to H&R 
AG – in 2016, following a slowdown in eco nomic 
growth to 4.6% during the past year. For this eco-
nomic zone, comprising Indonesia, Malaysia, the 
Philippines, Thailand and Vietnam, average GDP 
is expected to grow by 5.2% in 2016. For Thai-
land, an important site for H&R AG, experts fore-
cast a lower, but still very positive, growth rate of 
3.1%. 

Our budget for financial year 2016 is based on a 
USD-EUR exchange rate which we have set at 
1.10, in line with the current rate in effect at the 
beginning of 2016. For crude-oil prices, we also 
rely largely on the estimates published by the 
economics departments of major banks. For the 
budget year 2016, we assumed a price per barrel 
of North Sea Brent that, as of the planning date, is 
once again increasing slightly compared to the 
end of 2015.

Future State of the Sector
The German Chemical Industry Association (Ver-
band der Chemischen Industrie/(VCI)) is cau-
tiously optimistic about the future and expects 
total production to exceed that of 2015 by 1.5%. 
Companies in the industry also expect sales rev-
enues to improve accordingly and are expecting 
an increase of around 1.5%. The Association has 
a slightly more optimistic view of price trends for 
chemical products. The Association believes that, 
having decreased sharply in 2015, prices have 
stopped falling for the time being; however, it cur-
rently foresees no signs of any increase. 

Clearly, there is still a shortage of Group 1 pro-
duction capacity for specialty products in the 
chemical- pharmaceutical industry. For 2014 and 
2015 alone, the trade magazine “Lubes’n Greas-
es” list of Group 1 refinery capacity in Western 
Europe indicates a decrease of more than 10% 
to the current level of 102,000 barrels/day.  
Similar shortages of capacity have also been re-
corded in previous years. Customers of refineries 
that closed in 2015 – mainly in the Netherlands 
and France – turned to the remaining providers at 
other sites to cover their demand, particularly at 
year-end. We expect this trend to continue.

  G. 13 GLOBAL ECONOMIC GROWTH FORECAST
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Over the next few years, we expect the high-
ly fragmented plastics industry to consolidate 
through mergers and takeovers. Especially in the 
battle over the automotive industry – a major cus-
tomer – only those companies capable of manu-
facturing high-quality products dependably and 
efficiently will prevail. The medical devices indus-
try is another sector that is gaining in importance 
as a customer thanks to technological progress 
and demographic developments.

Expected Results of Operations by 
Segment

Projected Revenue Trends
Our revenue is significantly affected by the cost 
of raw materials for our Chemical-Pharmaceuti-
cal Division, which we pass on to our customers 
through our product prices. The price of our most 
important raw material, long residue, is closely 
correlated with the price of crude oil. If our plan-
ning assumptions for crude-oil prices and the 
 USD-EUR exchange rate prove correct, we anti-
cipate that prices for raw materials and products 
will remain constant overall.

Our 2016 forecast of sales revenues depends 
on the estimates of the economics departments 
of the big banks, which reveal a slight increase 
in the price of crude oil as a factor influencing 
turn over, compared to 2015; along with expect-
ed higher volumes in the refining segment as a 
further factor likely to stimulate our sales. We be-
lieve there is also further potential in the Sales 
segment. Overall, we expect 2016 consolidated 
sales revenues to be significantly higher than 
the prior-year level. The ChemPharm Refining 
segment will contribute approximately 63% of 
revenues. In pure mathematical terms, the Sales 
business will contribute around 32%, i.e., less 
than in the previous year. The Plastics Division 
will contribute around 5%.

Expected Earnings Trends
In terms of demand and volumes of primary prod-
ucts sold Group-wide, results for the past finan-
cial year were uneven, but successful overall. 
Accordingly, operating income was strong, total-
ing €86.0 million by year-end, i.e., significantly 
above the prior-year figure and the projections 
published at the beginning of the year.

First and foremost, therefore, the foundation for 
comparably positive earnings in 2016 has already 
been laid; at the same time, we have once again 
raised the bar in terms of what we expect from 
ourselves.

In order to continue 2015’s earnings trend in 
2016, we believe the most important thing we can 
do is to continue with substantial improvements 
to the Hamburg refinery site. All the raw materials 
to be processed are delivered there and consider-
able quantities are processed.

Our added value and our margins are already 
significantly affected by the quality of the raw  
materials we use as inputs at our plants. Their 
composition has a direct impact on the output 
and, therefore, on the ratio of lucrative primary 
products to lower-margin by-products. We delib-
erately control the procurement of raw materials 
with this in mind: more effective raw materials 
that yield a higher percentage of primary prod-
ucts need to be identified and used in a more tar-
geted manner. At the same time, we are redou-
bling our efforts to sell and distribute by-products 
and intend to increase sales of these products. All 
in all, we expect to significantly improve the over-
all margin for the Hamburg refinery.

To accomplish this, we are focusing on continu-
ing to optimize our refinery and production pro-
cesses, which will result in cost savings. 

In the Sales segment, by focusing heavily on the 
high-margin international business, we expect 
stable, positive EBITDA contributions at the same 
level as last year. As in 2015, we expect the trend 
in sales revenues and earnings from our inter-
national subsidiaries – especially in Asia – to be 
mixed, but to meet our expectations overall.
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In conclusion, we expect 2016  consolidated 
operating income (EBITDA) to mirror the 
 prior- year level. The earnings contribution from 
our ChemPharm Refining segment will make up 
 approximately 62% of this amount. The inter-
national business will account for approximate-
ly 34%. The Plastics Division should contribute 
around 2% to the Group’s operating income 
(EBITDA). 

Expected Trends in the Main Income 
Statement Items
No structural changes to the income statement 
are expected for 2016.

Expected Financial Position  
by Segment

Planned Financing Activities
We are not currently planning to raise any ad-
ditional equity capital. However, the Annual 
Shareholders’ Meeting of H&R AG has empow-
ered the company to increase the share capital 
in exchange for cash or contributions-in-kind, so 
that corporate actions would also be a possibility 
when reviewing strategic options or other plans 
that exceed the scope of normal investments.

H&R AG has entered into various loan agree-
ments and borrower’s note loans with banks. In 
2015, we reduced our financing via borrower’s 
note loans from €116.0 million to €36.0 million 
and refinanced with cash and through a widely 
syndicated loan in the amount of €240 million 
initially maturing in August 2018. This offers us 
additional flexibility in terms of utilization. The 
maximum drawdown under this loan changes 
in line with working-capital requirements (bor-
rowing-base mechanism). In this way, we have 
ensured that our short-term financing needs for 
2016 and the coming years are covered. Environ-
mental loans from KfW form another important 
pillar of our financing; at year-end, a total amount 
of €69.1 million was outstanding. Because of the 
positive environmental aspects of projects at our 
refineries, these will continue to be available as 
an important option for our long-term financing.

Various financial covenants have been agreed 
for the borrower’s note loans and the syndicated 
loan. 

For more information on our main financing in-
struments, please refer to the section “Financial 
Management Principles and Objectives” in the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
The activities described there will make a major 
contribution to reducing our financing require-
ments.

Expected Liquidity Trend
In light of the financing adjustment implemented 
in 2015, we do not see a need for further struc-
tural changes in the current financial year. Thanks 
to the available credit lines under our syndi cated 
loan, we have sustainable access to sufficient 
liquidity until 2018, even in the event of higher 
crude-oil prices and the associated increase in 
working-capital requirements. Stable liquidity is 
also supported by our expectation of strong re-
sults from operations compared with 2015. 

Planned Investments
After several years of moderate capital expendi-
tures, we are planning to significantly increase 
our investments in maintenance, modernization 
and added value at our facilities during the cur-
rent financial year. Around 81% of total capital 
expenditures will be in the ChemPharm Refining 
segment.

Around 14.5% of the expenditures will be in the 
Sales segment and approximately 4.5% will go 
towards investments in the Plastics segment and 
on other items. Together with other measures 
intended to increase the efficiency and cost- 
effectiveness of our production processes, our 
capital expenditures will exceed our ordinary de-
preciation and amortization charges.

For further
information see
page 62
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Overall Statement by the Execu-
tive Board on the Future Business 
Trend in 2016 

Following financial years 2012 to 2014, which 
brought the company less financial success but 
were so important to laying the groundwork for 
sustainable, positive business development, H&R 
AG created a stable basis for its future in 2015. 

Pressing ahead with international expansion will 
be an important factor in its success. H&R AG has 
a global presence and its position is particularly 
strong in areas where economic experts expect 
to see good growth opportunities in the future. 
We will increase stability by focusing on operat-
ing highly specialized refineries whose yields of 
high-value, and, above all in-demand products 
make them superior to conventional lubricant 
refineries. The results of 2015 demonstrate that 
even in a shrinking market, our products will al-

low us to become a more significant player. We 
will retain this position by investing more in main-
tenance and capacity expansion at our sites in 
2016 and the coming years than in previous years 
in order to ensure that they are future-proof. 

Our overall expectations for 2016 are, if our 
planned outcomes prove to be true, that our sales 
revenues will considerably improve. The planned 
increase will come mainly from the Chemi-
cal-Pharmaceutical Raw Materials Division. In 
the refinery business, we expect a similarly good 
price and margin trend with continuing low pro-
curement prices for raw materials, as in 2015; as 
a result, we also expect positive momentum for 
the earnings trend to increase accordingly. In 
absolute terms, the Sales segment’s internation-
al business will contribute higher revenues. If 
margins remain at the same level as in previous 
years, we also expect higher earnings contribu-
tions from this segment, too.
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Risk Policy

H&R AG’s business policy is aimed at increas-
ing the value of the company over the long term. 
In order to achieve this, we must seize market  
opportunities while carefully weighing the associ-
ated risks.

The goal of our risk policy is to optimize the re-
lationship between risks and opportunities while 
avoiding risks that could jeopardize the compa-
ny’s continued existence as a going concern. Sys-
tematic risk management is the direct responsi-
bility of the Executive Board. Risks are generally 
identified and communicated by the managing 
 directors of the respective local operating units. 
As far as possible, risks are eliminated or other-
wise addressed at a local level.

As a manufacturer of crude-oil-based specialty 
products, we have a particular responsibility to 
operate our refineries in a way that protects both 
people and the environment. All our production 
sites therefore have officers who actively work to 
ensure the safety of our employees and our facili-
ties while protecting the environment.

Risk Management System

The risks to which H&R AG and its subsidiaries 
are exposed are identified, assessed, commu-
nicated and limited, as appropriate, across the 
entire Group in a uniform manner. We use vari-
ous methods to identify risks, such as monitoring 
 industry-specific and macroeconomic risk indica-
tors and analyzing purchasing and sales markets.

The identification of risks is considered to be the 
responsibility of all employees. It is encouraged 
by a flat organizational chart and a culture that en-
courages open discussion of potential risks, with 
local managing directors leading by example.

H&R AG uses the COSO (Committee of Sponsor-
ing Organizations of the Treadway Commission) 
model to assess risks; this method is one of the 
standards for internal controls recognized by 
the American Securities and Exchange Commis-
sion (SEC). The risk manager (generally the rel-
evant operations manager) conducts on-site risk 

 assessments on a quarterly basis by means of a 
questionnaire, an inventory list, a data collection 
form and a current calculation document. Risks 
are classified according to certain criteria. They 
are then measured using an approach in which 
the nominal extent of a potential risk is multi-
plied by the probability of its occurrence. All risks 
measured for an individual company are entered 
in the “risk inventory” and reported quarterly to 
the Risk Control department of the parent com-
pany, H&R AG. The Risk Control department helps 
the risk managers to establish early warning indi-
cators that make it possible to react quickly if a 
risk becomes more acute. The early warning in-
dicators are checked regularly to ensure that they 
are appropriate and up to date. Where possible 
and economically feasible, measures to reduce or 
avoid risks are also defined.

Every quarter, the Risk Control department sends 
the Executive Board the consolidated risk in-
ventory, including a detailed breakdown of the 
 Value-at-Risk (VaR), which serves as the basis for 
controlling overall risk. If new risks arise at short 
notice or a loss event occurs, the Executive Board 
is notified directly, independently of normal com-
munication channels.

In addition, a monthly performance report is pre-
pared for all the main individual companies and 
the Group. This report compares revenue and 
earnings figures with the relevant target figures. 
The Risk Control department analyzes any vari-
ances between target and actual figures. These 
analyses enable the Executive Board to identify 
undesirable trends at an early stage so that the 
necessary countermeasures can be implemented 
immediately.

The regular divisional meetings attended by local 
managing directors and the Executive Board are 
another tool used for early risk-detection. The in-
terface thus created between the operating and 
administrative levels ensures that operational 
risks are captured by and reflected in the account-
ing process (e.g., in the form of provisions) and 
communicated internally.

Risk Report
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At Supervisory Board meetings, changes in the 
risk inventory and the risk strategy are dealt with 
on a regular basis as part of the risk- management-
reporting process. If the risk situation changes 
significantly, the Supervisory Board is also in-
formed promptly between meetings by the Exec-
utive Board.

The functionality and effectiveness of the risk 
early- warning system are reviewed not only by 
the Executive Board, but also on a regular basis 
as part of the audit of the financial statements. 
The results of these audits are taken into consid-
eration in the ongoing refinement of our risk man-
agement system.

Description of the Main Features 
of the Internal Control and Risk 
Management System with Regard 
to the Group Accounting Process 
(Article 289, Paragraph 5 and Ar-
ticle 315, Paragraph 2, no. 5 of the 
German Commercial Code/HGB)

H&R AG’s accounting guidelines specify uni-
form accounting and valuation principles for the 
companies included in the consolidated finan-
cial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). New ac-
counting regulations are reviewed immediately 
to determine whether they affect companies in 
the H&R Group and if necessary are incorporated 
into our accounting guidelines. The local manag-
ing directors are responsible for the application of 
existing regulations at the level of the individual 
companies. Consolidated financial statements are 
prepared and drawn up by Group Accounting at 
H&R AG. The employees of this department also 
serve as contact persons to answer questions on 
accounting matters from the subsidiaries.

To minimize the risk of incorrect accounting even 
in complex circumstances, H&R AG employees 
involved in the accounting process undergo con-
tinuous and extensive training. The relevant de-
partments have the appropriate manpower, both 

in terms of numbers and competence. Advice on 
specific accounting matters is also obtained from 
external experts as necessary. The internal-con-
trol system at the H&R Group consists of princi-
ples, processes and measures which ensure that 
the accounting is effective, economical and cor-
rect and complies with the relevant legal require-
ments.

The H&R Group’s internal-control system consists 
of a management system and a monitoring sys-
tem.

Important aspects of the measures that have been 
integrated into our processes include both manu-
al controls, such as the dual-review principle, and 
automated IT controls.

The Audit Committee of H&R AG’s Supervisory 
Board is integrated into the H&R Group’s inter-
nal monitoring system through its audit activities, 
which are independent of operating processes. In 
accordance with Article 107, paragraph 3 of the 
German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), this body 
primarily focuses on monitoring the accounting 
process, the audit of the financial statements and 
the effectiveness of the internal control and risk 
management systems.

Extensive access regulations for the relevant IT 
systems and a strict dual-review policy in the 
 Accounting Departments – both at the individual 
companies and at the Group level – ensure that 
the accounting processes are thorough, precise 
and secure.

The subsidiaries are obliged to report their figures 
to Group Finance every month in a standardized 
format in accordance with IFRS accounting rules. 
This enables variances between target and actu-
al figures to be identified at an early stage and 
gives us the opportunity to determine the reasons 
behind the variances and to take any necessary 
countermeasures.
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The Risk Management System as 
it Relates to Derivative Financial 
Instruments

H&R AG has very strict rules governing the use 
of derivative financial instruments. We only use 
standard market instruments from selected banks 
with good ratings. As a rule, the transactions are 
carried out by the Group Treasury department af-
ter approval by the Executive Board and are then 
monitored on an ongoing basis. They are used to 
hedge underlying transactions that either exist 
already or are highly likely to take place in the 
future (anticipatory hedging). Derivative financial 

instruments are not used for speculative purpos-
es. The contracts currently in place serve mainly 
to hedge interest-rate and currency risks.
 

Individual Risks

Throughout the Group, we have standardized the 
classification of all our relevant risks. A risk is 
classified as low, medium or high based on the 
parameters “Probability of Occurrence” and “Po-
tential Financial Impact”. The resulting risk clas-
sification matrix is shown in the following table:

T. 29 POTENTIAL FINANCIAL IMPACT*

Likelihood of occurrence**

Unlikely Possible Likely

Existential thread

Significant

Moderate

* Moderate:  Some negative effects on business activity, financial position, results of operations and cash flows if EBITDA falls 
below €30.0 million in 2016;

  Significant:  Substantial negative effects on business activity, financial position, results of operations and cash flows if EBITDA 
falls below €30.0 million over the next two years;

Existential Threat: Considerable negative effects on, e.g., business activity, financial position, results of operations and cash 
flows owing to which the continued existence of the enterprise would be jeopardized, e.g., with an EBITDA permanently below 
€30.0 million.

** 133%: Unlikely; 34–66%: Possible; 67–99%: Likely

 Low risk  Medium risk  High risk  

Depending on the degree of a potential financial 
effect and the estimated likelihood of occurrence, 
risks are generally classified as being “high”, 
“medium” or “low”.

Risk Report
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T. 30  CORPORATE RISKS

 
Likelihood  
of Occurrence

Possible  
Financial Impact

Risk Situation  
Compared to  
Previous Year

Macroeconomic and Industry Risks    

Fluctuations in demand and margins Possible Significant Unchanged

Raw material supply risks Unlikely Significant Unchanged

Risks from the development of substitute products and general 
competition Likely Moderate Unchanged

Changes in the tax and legal environment Possible Moderate Unchanged

Operating and corporate strategy risks    

Production risks Unlikely Significant Unchanged

Investment risks Unlikely Significant  

Risks associated with contractual relationship with  
Hansen & Rosenthal Group Unlikely Significant Unchanged

Product-liability risks Unlikely Moderate Unchanged

Information-technology risks Unlikely Significant Unchanged

Personnel risks Unlikely Moderate Unchanged

Financial risks     

Liquidity risks Unlikely Significant Unchanged

Risks from the breach of covenants Possible Significant Unchanged

Risks from future refinancing requirements Unlikely Significant Lower

Exchange-rate risks Possible Moderate Unchanged

Interest-rate risks Possible Moderate Lower

Risks from defaulting customers and banks Unlikely Moderate Unchanged

Other risks    

Risks relating to the remediation costs for land in Haltern am See Possible Moderate Lower

Unless stipulated otherwise below, the descrip-
tion of risks applies equally to the H&R Group 
and to H&R AG. This reflects the fact that, while 
certain risks may originate with the subsidiaries 
and not with H&R AG, H&R AG will have direct 
exposure as the parent company. Above all, this 
applies to risks involving operating processes and 
the immediate business activities of the subsid-
iaries.

By contrast, in its capacity as the parent com-
pany, H&R AG holds equity investments in Group 
companies as its own original risk. The carrying 
amounts of these investments are subject to the 
risk of an impairment loss in the event of negative 
changes in the economic situation of these Group 
companies. This may have a negative impact on 
H&R AG’s net income. 

Macroeconomic and Industry Risks
Demand and Margin Fluctuations (Risk Class: 
High) External influences can cause demand for 
our chemical-pharmaceutical specialty products 
and high-precision plastic parts to decline. These 
external factors may include periods of economic 
weakness, temporary price dumping by existing 
competitors or the emergence of new suppliers in 
relevant markets.

We continue to generate the majority of our sales 
revenues in Europe. Economic developments in 
this region therefore have an important influence 
on our sales and earnings trend.

In the Plastics Division, there is a risk of excessive 
dependence on direct suppliers to the automotive 
industry and/or individual customers, for exam-
ple because automobile manufacturers’ declining 
sales also affect H&R AG’s business indirectly. Ac-
cordingly, we make every effort to diversify into 
new customer areas. Expanding our activities 
beyond Europe also furthers our global presence 
and makes us less dependent on developments in 
the domestic economy.
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Closely correlated with the risk of weak demand is 
the risk of low product margins. As the fixed costs 
of the complex plants in the chemical industry are 
relatively high, lower margins are often tolerated 
at times of weaker demand in order to maintain 
capacity-utilization rates. We counter this risk 
with the targeted expansion of the percentage of 
our business that generates crude-oil-based spe-
cialty products that are less price sensitive.

As a rule, fluctuating raw-material prices and low 
prices for base oils also result in product-margin 
volatility. Base oil is a by-product of our joint pro-
duction process and is used to make motor oils, 
among other things. If commodity prices are high 
and base-oil prices are simultaneously low, this 
will affect margins accordingly. Even with moder-
ate raw-material prices, the effects can have a sig-
nificant impact. The conversion of the Salzbergen 
Refinery to contract production in 2013 has sig-
nificantly reduced the risk of these effects overall.

At the same time, for financial year 2015 as a 
whole, H&R AG benefited from a favorable trend: 
the difference between the purchase price of raw 
materials and the selling price of base oil. The 
company was also able to take advantage of the 
opportunities the positive trend in primary and 
by-product prices offered in the form of better 
margins.

Moreover, because of the fact that the produc-
tion process in the ChemPharm Refining segment 
takes several weeks, the sharp decline in crude-oil 
prices seen in 2014 may lead to a relative increase 
in material costs (i.e., an increase in the percent-
age of the product price accounted for by material 
costs), to lower margins and, in some cases, even 
to significant losses (so-called “windfall losses”) 
at H&R AG. The reason for this is that, on the date 
of their acquisition, the market prices for petro-
leum-based inputs are considerably higher than 
the market prices on the date when the primary 
products manufactured from such inputs are sold. 
This leads to a substantial increase in the relative 
material-use ratio for H&R AG, because produc-
tion planning is based on a stable crude-oil price 
for the duration of the production run and it is not 
economical to hedge fluctuations in commodity 
prices over that period. 

Although the “windfall losses” were offset by 
posi tive effects in 2015, the company rates this 
risk as “High” based on the possibility it will oc-
cur and the significant impact it can have.

The high degree of competition in the plastics 
industry means that for many product groups, 
there is a risk of having to accept lower margins 
in order to safeguard or expand market share. We 
are therefore continuing to expand production 
in product segments with a more attractive mar-
ket environment, such as medical technology. In 
some cases, the risk of increases in raw-material 
prices can partly be passed on to our customers 
through escalation clauses. Because of the lower 
business volume, the financial impact of a risk oc-
curring is also lower.

Risks Related to Raw Materials Procurement 
(Risk Class: Medium) At our specialty refiner-
ies in Hamburg and Salzbergen, the main raw 
material is a residue left over when fuels are 
produced from crude oil. To minimize the risk 
of supply shortages, we purchase this so-called 
long residue from different sources. To this end, 
we sign annual volume agreements with several 
well-known oil companies in different parts of the 
world. We purchase another portion on the spot 
market in order to diversify our sources even fur-
ther.

In the international Chemical-Pharmaceutical Di-
vision and the Plastics Division, our strategy for 
avoiding raw-material supply shortages is based 
on always having several suppliers for important 
raw materials.

Risks from the Development of Substitute 
Products and General Competition (Risk Class: 
Medium) One risk applicable to both divisions is 
the development of substitutes or alternative pro-
duction methods for our products. Furthermore, 
for the Chemical-Pharmaceutical segments, there 
is a risk that customers may develop manufac-
turing processes which rely to a lesser extent or 
not at all on crude-oil-based specialty products 
as feedstock. We address these risks through in-
tensive research and development activities in all 
the Group’s operating divisions. This approach 
makes us the leading innovator in some product 
groups. The high degree of diversification in our 
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product portfolio also reduces the effects individ-
ual substitutes would have on Group earnings. 
Moreover, there are a number of limitations in 
terms of quality, performance, compatibility with 
established manufacturing processes, availabili-
ty, environmental impact and price for potential 
chemical and renewable raw-material substitutes.

In addition to substitution risk, there is also the 
possibility, over the lifecycle of a given product, 
that competitors will develop and bring to market 
products of their own which are identical to our 
specialty products. This would expose us to great-
er competitive pressure.

Due to the many unknowns, the risk arising from 
market or competitive trends cannot be quanti-
fied.

Changes in the Tax and Legal Environment 
(Risk Class: Medium) As a refinery operator, we 
are subject to strict regulations governing emis-
sions of CO2, particulates and noise, as well as 
water pollution. A potential tightening of these 
regulations entails the risk of financial costs re-
sulting from the need to make new investments 
to modernize our plants. We limit these risks by 
anticipating the introduction of stricter rules, by 
going beyond the requirements of many current 
environmental protection standards and by trying 
to use these aspects for marketing purposes as 
well. This means that most investments in envi-
ronmental protection simultaneously increase our 
profitability. For example, modern tank insulation 
at our refineries not only reduces our CO2 emis-
sions, but also cuts our energy costs significantly.

Despite extensive investments to improve energy 
efficiency, however, operating our refineries con-
tinues to be energy intensive. The trend towards 
lower energy tax subsidies for the manufacturing 
industry in Germany therefore creates a further 
risk of competitive disadvantages.

Operating and Corporate Strategy 
Risks 
Technical Production Risks (Risk Class: Medi-
um) The subsidiaries of H&R AG produce crude-
oil-based specialty products and high-precision 
plastic parts. Operating the plants that produce 
such products entails both operating risks and ac-
cident risks. Technical disruptions, flooding, fires 
or explosions can cause harm to people or the 
environment and result in production downtime.

We counter these risks with a comprehensive 
safety strategy: extensive control and safety 
measures, coordinated by our IT-based measur-
ing stations, enable us to identify many produc-
tion risks at an early stage and to adopt suitable 
countermeasures. We also invest regularly in 
environmental protection and safety measures at 
our refineries. The certification of our production 
sites in accordance with strict ISO standards con-
tributes significantly to ensuring that production 
processes are safe. If an accident occurs despite 
these precautions, the financial losses are large-
ly covered by insurance, provided that the risk is 
insurable and such coverage makes sense from a 
financial and economic standpoint.

Risks Associated with the Sales/Distribu-
tion Relationship with the Hansen & Rosen-
thal Group (Risk Class: High) Sales of the 
ChemPharm Refining segment’s products are 
handled almost exclusively by companies be-
longing to the Hansen & Rosenthal Group, which 
acts as sales/distribution partner under long-term 
contracts, reflecting many years of business ties; 
the Group is also the most significant customer 
of H&R AG.

If this contractual relationship comes to an end 
and the Hansen & Rosenthal Group is no longer 
available as sales/distribution partner, this would 
have a considerable negative impact on H&R AG’s 
net assets, results of operations and financial po-
sition. Among other things, the company would 
have to develop its own sales and distribution 
capacity for the ChemPharm Refining segment at 
short notice. Even if it succeeded in doing so, it 
would still face the risk of either not being able 
to establish direct customer relationships at all or 
not being able to do so over the long term. 
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In such a case, contract production for the Hansen 
& Rosenthal Group at the Salzbergen site could be 
terminated as well. H&R AG would then have to 
come up with new funds to finance the refinery 
business at both locations.

H&R AG estimates the impact of such a risk, if 
it should occur, as “High”; however, it rates 
the probability that such a risk will materialize 
as “Unlikely”: H&R AG is part of the Hansen & 
Rosenthal Group, the main shareholder and Man-
aging Director of which is also H&R AG’s majority 
shareholder.

The interdependencies are not one-sided only; to 
the contrary, H&R AG is the current sales/distri-
bution partner’s biggest supplier. Consequently, 
a long-term continuation of the sales/distribution 
relationship is in the interest of both parties.

Investment Risks (Risk Class: Medium) In the 
years ahead, we intend to keep investing in meas-
ures to maintain the value of our existing produc-
tion sites. In principle, investment projects may 
entail cost overruns and delays in construction. 
To mitigate these risks, we deploy project teams 
with in-depth knowledge of our plants who will 
therefore professionally coordinate and strictly 
monitor such value-maintenance measures. In 
addition, these measures always take place at 
plants whose technology has already been tried 
and tested in practice and for which the financial 
costs can be estimated with above-average cer-
tainty.

Product-Liability Risks (Risk Class: Low) Our 
crude-oil-based specialty products and plastic 
parts are incorporated directly into our custom-
ers’ products. Incorrect specifications for our 
products may result in damages to our customers 
and give rise to warranty claims. For this reason, 
all the products in both our Chemical-Pharmaceu-
tical Division and our Plastics Division are subject 
to intensive quality controls. If we are faced with 
liability claims despite this, we are largely cov-
ered by insurance.

IT Risks (Risk Class: Medium) The increasingly 
networked nature of our complex information- 
technology systems carries risks. Vital data can 
be falsified or deleted by unauthorized access 

from outside, operating errors or faulty program-
ming.

To address this risk, we have an external service 
provider make regular back-ups of our current 
data. To protect ourselves against malicious hack-
ers, we have complex firewalls in place and  virus 
scanners that update themselves continually. An 
extensive access-authorization system is also used 
to protect sensitive data. We have taken precau-
tions against a complete breakdown of our data 
center by establishing a fallback data center that 
can take over most important IT functions at short 
notice. We also counter information- technology 
risks by means of ongoing investments in hard-
ware and software and by continuously improving 
our system expertise. Our IT department is suit-
ably equipped for a company the size of the H&R 
Group and will continue to make every effort to 
optimize all our resources.

Human-Resources Risks (Risk Class: Low) 
Qualified and committed employees play an im-
portant role in our success. In the chemical in-
dustry, there is a great deal of competition for 
highly qualified staff to operate plants and refine 
production processes. We limit the associated 
risk of employee turnover through a number of 
personnel-policy measures: a pleasant working 
atmosphere, targeted development opportunities 
for junior staff and practical training and contin-
uing education for professionals all help to create 
an attractive working environment.

Our Research & Development department has 
a wide range of cooperation arrangements with 
various universities which help establish contact 
with high-potential candidates at an early stage. 
A flat organizational chart, good development op-
portunities and a performance-related remunera-
tion system also make us an attractive employer 
for experienced professionals.

We also boost our employees’ motivation with 
attractive performance-related pay schemes, a 
company platform for making suggestions for im-
provement and activities throughout the Group to 
encourage healthy living.

Individual Risks

Risk Report
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Financial Risks
Our subsidiaries receive the funds they use to ex-
ecute business and production processes through 
H&R AG, which in turn ensures that such funds 
will be available. As a result, risks involving these 
financing instruments generally originate with 
H&R AG itself.

Liquidity Risks (Risk Class: Medium)  Prices 
for the raw materials used in our Chemical- 
Pharmaceutical segments are closely correlated 
with the price of crude oil. Accordingly, the prices 
for our raw materials are subject to fluctuations. 
The prices for our finished products are similarly 
volatile.

In order to cover the net working capital (the sum 
of inventories and trade accounts receivable less 
trade accounts payable) required for our produc-
tion activities, a large part of the line of credit un-
der the syndicated loan we renegotiated in  August 
2015 has been earmarked as a risk cushion; at the 
end of 2015, €37.9 million had been utilized for 
cash loans, letters of credit and guarantees. The 
maximum possible utilization of €240 million is 
dependent on the level of net working capital 
(borrowing-base mechanism). Our Group Treas-
ury department monitors our liquidity status on a 
daily basis to avoid any cash-flow difficulties. The 
banks in the lending consortium attach financial 
covenants to the credit lines relating to our equity 
and the ratio of our net debt to operating earnings 
(EBITDA). If any of these covenants are breached, 
the banks are entitled to call in the loan.

Financial Covenant Breach Risk (Risk Class: 
High) Compliance with the financial covenants 
will also be a crucial part of the financing agree-
ments in 2016. If these covenants were to be 
breached, this could jeopardize the continued ex-
istence of the financing arrangements and there-
fore the Group’s financial and economic situation. 
Because of the possibility of occurrence and the 
potentially significant financial consequences, 
this is – from an objective standpoint – fundamen-
tally a “High-Risk” issue. Overall, though, we rate 
the risk situation as noncritical, not least because 
of our continued compliance with the covenants 
during the past two financial years.

Risks of Future Need to Refinance (Risk 
Class: Medium) H&R AG has entered into vari-
ous loan agreements and borrower’s note loans 
with banks. In 2015, major portions of H&R AG’s  
financing were renegotiated and restructured; as 
a result, the short-term refinancing risk, in par-
ticular relating to the borrower’s note loans and 
principal repayments of KfW loans due in Novem-
ber 2016, is limited.

However, there is no guarantee per se that it will 
be possible to refinance in the future under the 
same or more favorable terms and conditions.

In general, banks have shown a great deal of 
interest in a further loan commitment to H&R 
AG. Because the lending banks’ risk would be 
manage able even if the company’s financial and 
economic situation should deteriorate (raw mate-
rial and product inventories that can be sold at 
short notice), we assume that we will succeed in 
concluding any follow-up financing agreements 
required in the future. However, if ultimately we 
were unable to refinance, the company would 
have to use a higher percentage of its cash and 
cash equivalents to repay these amounts. This 
could have a significant impact on business 
 activities, as well as on the company’s net assets, 
financial position and results of operations.

Risks from Defaulting Customers and Banks 
(Risk Class: Low) Our indirect risks from de-
lays in payment and/or defaults on the part of 
our subsidiaries’ customers are limited by the 
broadly diversified customer base and the low 
level of dependence on individual debtors. Strict 
receivables management by our sales/distribu-
tion partner, Hansen & Rosenthal, reduces these 
risks even further. Trade-credit insurance has also 
been taken out for a number of major customers.

The default risk for banks with which we have ar-
ranged credit lines, entered into hedging trans-
actions or invested funds has increased since the 
onset of the financial crisis. We counter this risk 
by only entering into financial transactions with 
top-rated banks and by spreading larger transac-
tions among several banks.
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Exchange-Rate Risks (Risk Class: Medium) As 
an international Group, we are exposed to vari-
ous exchange-rate risks which for cost-benefit 
reasons we generally do not hedge. The depreci-
ation of a foreign subsidiary’s local currency can 
diminish the cash flow generated there in terms 
of the Group currency, the euro. Furthermore, 
revenue from the sale of products from within the 
Eurozone to a country outside the Eurozone will 
fall if the foreign currency in question depreciates 
against the euro.

Some of the most important foreign currencies 
for us are the U.S. dollar, the Australian dollar, 
the pound sterling, the Thai baht, the Malaysian 
ringgit and the South African rand. For a sensi-
tivity analysis of exchange-rate fluctuations be-
tween the U.S. dollar and the euro, our Group 
currency, please refer to the notes to the consoli-
dated financial statements. Nonetheless, despite 
the strong growth in our international business, 
around 80% of our sales are still invoiced in  
euros. Overall, we weigh the costs for hedging all 
foreign currency risks against the financial effects 
of a potential loss event. So long as the probabil-
ity of occurrence is below 50%, we will dispense 
with the corresponding hedge transactions.

The USD-EUR exchange rate also affects our 
raw-material costs, as we purchase our main raw 
materials – the crude-oil derivatives long residue 
and vacuum-gas oil – in U.S. dollars. An appreci-
ation of the U.S. dollar against the euro therefore 
increases our raw-material expenses; however, 
we are generally able to pass most of this increase 
on to our customers.

Interest-Rate Risks (Risk Class: Medium) 
Changes in market interest rates lead to a change 
in the fair value of fixed-interest financial instru-
ments and to fluctuations in interest payments 
for variable-interest financial instruments. To in-
crease planning certainty for the net interest re-
sult, we take out fixed-interest loans and fix some 
variable-interest financial liabilities. 

In order to secure long-term conditions for our 
Group financing, we first increased our fixed- 
interest KfW funding with a new loan in 2015. 
Second, we concluded into a new syndicated 
loan facility for €240 million maturing in August 

2018, including renewal options. We used funds 
from the syndicated loan facility and cash funds 
totaling €80 million to cover early repayment of 
the borrower’s note loans, which were primarily  
variable-interest loans. Currently, fixed-inter-
est borrower’s note loans totaling €36 million 
and maturing in November 2016 and November 
2018 are still outstanding. An interest-rate swap 
was used to convert to fixed interest the varia-
ble interest on the €80 million loan maturing in  
November 2016 and the €40 million loan matur-
ing in November 2018. 

For the time being, we have not reversed the inter-
est-rate swap following repayment of the borrow-
er’s note loans. The reasons behind this include 
the currently low interest rates in the Eurozone 
and existing variable euro interest-rate risks asso-
ciated with the €30 million short-term drawdown 
under the syndicated loan facility. Because the 
nominal amount of the interest-rate swap, under 
which we pay fixed interest rates and receive vari-
able interest rates, exceeds the variable interest 
position under the syndicated loan facility, there 
is currently a net interest-rate risk from decreas-
ing interest rates in the Eurozone.

There is additional exposure to falling interest 
rates in the form of the locally generated surplus 
cash of foreign equity investments in the respec-
tive currencies. The risk of increased interest ex-
pense from rising interest rates currently exists 
for our Chinese equity investments due to short-
term fixed-interest loans denominated in CNY 
and USD that will have to be refinanced when 
they mature in 2016.

There are also company retirement liabilities in 
the form of pension commitments. The actual 
amount of these commitments is based, on the 
one hand, on an actuarial forecast and, on the 
other hand, is heavily dependent on conditions 
in the capital markets, in particular the interest 
rate. Lower interest rates cause pension liabilities 
to increase and result in a corresponding charge 
against H&R AG’s equity.

For further
information see
page 107 ff.
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Other Risks
Risks Relating to the Remediation Costs for the 
Land in Haltern am See (Risk Class: Medium) 
The site of our factory in Haltern am See was used 
by the German Empire and Third  Reich, respec-
tively, during the two World Wars for the produc-
tion of armaments, contaminating the ground in 
a number of areas with compounds typical of ex-
plosives. The compounds have also been detected 
in the groundwater of the surrounding area. For 
this reason, the Recklinghausen district council 
issued an order in early 2010 prohibiting the ex-
traction of ground water from domestic wells in 
the district of Haltern-Lembrake. Even though we 
did not cause the contamination, there is a risk 
of financial costs from further investigations or 
remediation measures. However, the provision of 
€1.1 million for this contingency means that the 
balance sheet adequately reflects these risks from 
today’s perspective.

General Statement on the Risk 
Situation

Assessment of the Risk Situation by 
Company Management
Our risk-management system and the established 
planning and control systems are used to assess 
our overall risk situation. When all material indi-
vidual risks are reviewed in aggregate, potential 
opportunities are not taken into account as off-
sets. We therefore believe that, based on current-
ly available information, there are no risks that 
could jeopardize the continued existence of the 
H&R Group as a going concern.

Company Rating
The creditworthiness of H&R AG has not been 
evaluated by an independent rating agency. Our 
banking partners review the credit standing of 
H&R AG on an ongoing basis.

Report on Opportunities

Opportunities Management
At the H&R Group, the systematic management 
of opportunities is closely linked to the manage-
ment of risks. We define opportunities as devel-
opments which could have a positive effect on 
our results of operations, financial position and 
net assets. Operating opportunities are identified 
and exploited in the various segments, because it 
is within the segments themselves that the great-
est product and market knowledge is to be found. 
Managing strategic opportunities – such as acqui-
sitions, joint ventures or major investments – is 
the responsibility of the Group’s Executive Board. 
We use a variety of methods to make the best use 
of both operating and strategic opportunities. For 
example, we perform analyses of the market and 
our competitors that are as precise as possible. 
We develop scenarios for successful market entry, 
question the focus of our product portfolio, evalu-
ate the cost drivers as well as the relevant success 
factors and from this information identify specific 
market opportunities that are then coordinated by 
the Executive Board in close collaboration with 
the local operations managers. At the same time, 
we try to identify future market trends in a target-
ed manner by holding discussions with custom-
ers. In the Chemical-Pharmaceutical segments, 
there is an active exchange of ideas on these is-
sues between the production sites, our Research 
& Development department and our sales and dis-
tribution partner Hansen & Rosenthal, which uses 
its close customer contacts to identify current and 
future customer needs and to provide ideas for 
new products.

Finally, using a system similar to our risk classes, 
we rate our opportunities by degree of potential 
financial impact and probability of occurrence. 

Opportunities Arising from Macroeco nomic 
Trends (Opportunity Class: Medium) The 
Chemical-Pharmaceutical segments could benefit 
from the gradual withdrawal of the big oil compa-
nies from the crude-oil-based specialty-products 
business. In Western Europe alone, Group 1 re-
fineries’ generating capacity has decreased over 
the past 18 to 24 months due to the shutdown and 
restructuring of major refinery sites. By contrast, 
H&R’s refineries can continue to provide these 
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products and the fact that a higher share of their 
capacity is devoted to specialty products than to 
lubricants may mean that they would have an other 
advantage over the remaining Group 1 refineries. 
If the demand for crude-oil-based specialty prod-
ucts increases at the same time, our revenues and 
earnings could exceed current expectations.

Over the last few years, we have laid the founda-
tion for profitable business in a number of emerg-
ing markets in East Asia. For 2016, economic 
researchers currently expect a level of momen-
tum in the ASEAN-5 region that could result in 
5.2% growth over the coming year (2015: 4.6%; 
Source: Kiel Institute for the World Economy/
IfW). If these economies develop in line with the 
forecasts, this could have a positive impact on 
our company, our results of operations and our 
cash flows and could lead to better overall perfor-
mance than expected.

In recent years, we have concentrated on devel-
oping environmentally friendly products that sat-
isfy the highest quality standards. Stricter envi-
ronmental regulations or mandatory disclosures 
about product characteristics in our customer 
industries could also create additional incentives 
to use our crude-oil-based specialty products and 
plastic parts.

For the Plastics Division, demographic develop-
ments will create attractive growth opportunities, 
especially in the field of medical technology. Fur-
ther opportunities will be generated by the trend 
in the automotive industry towards replacing 
heavy metal parts with lighter plastic components 
to reduce vehicle weight.

Strategic Opportunities for the Company (Op-
portunity Class: High) In the Chemical-Pharma-
ceutical segments, we see considerable opportu-
nities in extending the value chain even further 
and increasing production efficiency with innova-
tive manufacturing processes. In addition, our Re-
search & Development department is working on 
innovative products that, once they are ready for 
market, could create significant added value for 
our customers. If we make faster progress in our 
research and development, this could be accom-
panied by the market launch of newer, improved 
products. This could have a positive effect on our 

revenues and our earnings and enable H&R AG to 
exceed current expectations.

Internationally, we actively monitor market trends 
and align regional opportunities with our interna-
tional expansion strategy. To do this, we can rely 
on our existing network of subsidiaries as impor-
tant strategic bridgeheads that will enable us to 
quickly penetrate emerging markets in a carefully 
targeted manner. An example here is the trend 
in China. Important players in the tire industry 
have relocated their manufacturing operations 
to Asia, where they demand the same quality 
they previously required at their European sites. 
 China, which is such an important sales market 
for the automotive industry, will follow this trend 
and will also ensure a high level of demand for 
high-quality tires that pose no risk to health. H&R 
AG possesses the know-how to manufacture such 
tire components and, thanks to the takeover of the 
Hansen & Rosenthal Group’s Chinese businesses, 
it now also has the necessary local production ca-
pacity.

In the Chemical-Pharmaceutical Division, we 
are already taking advantage of joint-production 
agreements with local partners who enable us to 
develop new markets in a stable and successful 
manner. Our primary goal in expanding collabo-
ration beyond the production area is to exploit 
synergies with our sales/distribution partners. In-
creasing the market penetration of our products 
could also have a positive effect on our business 
and lead to an improved earnings situation.

Basically, we should note that, thanks to our high 
degree of diversification both at the product and 
customer levels, overall demand for our products 
is stable. Opportunities also arise from the fact 
that many of our specialty products are being used 
simultaneously in several of our numerous cus-
tomer industries. For example, our high- quality 
paraffins are used in the candle, building-material 
and food industries – sectors with very different 
economic cycles.

Economic Performance Opportunities (Oppor-
tunity Class: Medium) The refinery-operation 
business is very energy intensive. By investing 
in CO2 reduction and lower energy consumption, 
H&R AG has already met important climate goals 
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in the past, with the concomitant reductions in 
energy costs. At the same time, we availed our-
selves of the legal opportunities for an exemption 
from the surcharge imposed by the Renewable 
Energy Act (Erneuerbare-Energien-Gesetz/EEG).

We can also benefit – in the form of higher mar-
gins – when the supply of our products becomes 
scarce, such as during shutdowns, closings or ca-
pacity reductions at our competitors’ refin eries. 
For the Western European Group 1 refineries 
alone, industry experts expect production capac-
ity to drop by around one-fifth from this year’s 
level over the next two years. Accordingly, not 
only will the number of suppliers for many of our 
products decline; because our refineries focus on 
high-value specialty products while lubricants 
 account for a smaller percentage, these refineries 
should have a competitive edge over competitors 
that are more heavily weighted towards lubri-
cants.

More intensive, targeted marketing of our 
by-products will also create opportunities. For 
example, we are currently producing bitumen, 
which is primarily used in road building, as a 
by-product at our propane-deasphalting plant. 
However, by building new process-engineering 
plants, so-called cokers, bitumen can also be used 
as a feedstock for producing diesel and low-sulfur 
heating oil. As of 2015, two such cokers have al-
ready been built in Europe; others are expected to 
follow in the USA and in Saudi Arabia. The more 
bitumen is used as a feedstock, the higher the de-
mand may be for available high-quality bitumen 
for infrastructure projects.

In the Plastics Division, new large-scale orders 
from the automotive supply or medical technol-
ogy sectors could lift revenue and earnings above 
our expectations.

Overall Statement on Opportu-
nities

Assessment of Opportunities by 
 Company Management
Although the absolute number of reported risks is 
higher than the number of specific opportunities 
identified, H&R AG assesses the distribution of 
risks and opportunities as balanced overall. 

During the past year, in which the distribution 
ratio was similar, H&R AG was even able to sig-
nificantly benefit from the existing opportuni-
ties. Among other things, this was attributable 
to the fact that total sales revenues and earnings 
are supported by a variety of different chemical- 
pharmaceutical specialty products sold to differ-
ent industries. We view this, along with our glob-
al presence and our good market position, as the 
major drivers of opportunities in 2016. H&R AG 
will actively search for and develop additional op-
portunities.

Overall Statement on the Expected 
Development of the Group
The decline in sales revenues in 2015 once again 
showed that this parameter is not very meaning-
ful: influenced only by lower raw-material costs, 
the lower sales figure was contradicted by strong 
demand – even in the traditionally weaker winter 
months – and higher sales volumes. H&R AG re-
ported a similarly big increase in earnings. 

The trend in demand and sales volumes con tinued 
at the beginning of 2016, laying the foundation 
for the company to successfully position itself in 
the market in 2016 as well.
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According to experts in the regions and countries 
in which we operate, the economic data continue 
to be positive. At the same time, we are convinced 
that the markets will improve further, to our ben-
efit. As the operator of specialty refineries, H&R 
AG has succeeded in significantly increasing the 
percentage of high-value products it produces 
compared to conventional lubricant refineries. 
And it is precisely these products that will be in 
noticeably short supply as a consequence of the 
elimination of major refinery capacity in Europe. 
As a result, by the end of 2015, we had already 
begun to notice a strong interest on the part of 
our customers in increasing delivery volumes.

In time-honored fashion, we are responding by 
taking steps to add further value while increasing 
efficiency. At the same time, we will invest more 
than we used to in our sites’ capacity in order to 
satisfy the demands of the market. 

H&R is stronger than ever. It is therefore with 
self-confidence, but also a dose of realism, that 
we are drawing up our forecasts for 2016 and set-
ting as our target an operating income (EBITDA) 
figure at the same level as last year. 
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Consolidated Balance Sheet of H&R AG
as of 31 December 2015 

ASSETS

€ THOUSAND Notes  31/12/2015  31/12/2014

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents (6) 79,274 101,558

Trade accounts receivable (7) 98,838 105,598

Income tax claims (33) 198 1,701

Inventories (8) 93,996 134,202

Other financial assets (9) 1,783 2,176

Other assets (10) 7,876 8,630

Current assets  281,965 353,865

Non-current assets    

Property, plant and equipment (11) 257,167 255,280

Goodwill (12) 35,635 39,908

Other intangible assets (12) 32,071 32,885

Shares in at–equity valued holdings (13) 975 763

Other financial assets (9) 5,471 5,382

Other assets (10) 1,519 1,465

Deferred tax assets (33) 13,956 17,069

Non-current assets  346,794 352,752

Total assets 628,759 706,617
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EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

€ THOUSAND Notes 31/12/2015  31/12/2014

Current liabilities    

Liabilities to banks (14) 82,752 52,018

Trade accounts payable (15) 53,343 112,415

Income tax liabilities (33) 6,207 2,230

Other provisions (16) 11,174 9,298

Other financial liabilities (17) 9,820 12,813

Other liabilities (18) 8,084 9,948

Current liabilities  171,380 198,722

Non-current liabilities    

Liabilities to banks (14) 78,248 156,051

Pension provisions (19) 75,487 82,566

Other provisions (16) 4,159 4,270

Other financial liabilities (17) 2,387 4,712

Other liabilities (18) 1,506 79

Deferred tax liabilities (33) 8,464 11,314

Non-current liabilities  170,251 258,992

Equity    

Subscribed capital (20) 91,573 91,573

Capital reserves (21) 42,753 43,329

Retained earnings (22) 105,820 73,773

Other reserves (23) 4,714 426

Equity of shareholders of H&R AG  244,860 209,101

Non-controlling interests (24) 42,268 39,802

Total equity  287,128 248,903

Total equity and liabilities  628,759 706,617
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€ THOUSAND Notes 2015 2014

Sales (26) 982,907 1,058,622

Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress (8) -27,885 387

Other operating income (27) 32,391 18,742

Cost of material (28) -709,390 -881,350

Personnel expenses (29) -79,861 -72,707

Depreciation, impairments and amortisation  -36,769 -25,639

Other operating expenses (30) -112,506 -92,350

Income from operations  48,887 5,705

Result of at-equity reported shareholdings (13) 336 124

Financial income (31) 2,680 664

Financial expenses (32) -17,137 -14,324

Earnings before taxes (EBT)  34,766 -7,831

Income taxes (33) -7,407 -7,777

Income after taxes  27,359 -15,608

 of which attributable to non-controlling interests  -96 -206

 of which attributable to H&R AG shareholders   27,455 -15,402

Earnings per share (undiluted), € (34) 0.77 -0.49

Earnings per share (diluted), € (34) 0.77 -0.49

Consolidated Income Statement of H&R AG
1 January 2015 to 31 December 2015
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Consolidated Statement 
of Comprehensive Income of H&R AG
1 January 2015 to 31 December 2015

 

€ THOUSAND Notes 2015 2014

Income after taxes  27,359 -15,608

 of which attributable to non-controlling interests  -96 -206

 of which attributable to shareholders of H&R AG  27,455 -15,402

Positions that will not be reclassified into profit or loss    

Remeasurement of defined benefit pension plans  5,952 -18,732

Deferred income taxes  -1,360 5,074

Change in the amount included in equity (remeasurement of defined benefit 
pension plans)  4,592 -13,658

Positions that will subsequently possibly be reclassified into profit or loss    

Amount reclassified into profit and loss  2,797 950

Changes recognized outside profit and loss (cash flow hedges) (37) 2,797 950

Changes in the fair value of financial assets available for sale  -1 82

Deferred income taxes  -69 52

Changes recognized outside profit and loss (financial assets available for sale) (37) -70 134

Changes of the balancing item due to currency translation  4,139 9,010

Total other comprehensive income  11,458 -3,564

 of which attributable to non-controlling interests  2,578 852

 of which attributable to shareholders of H&R AG  8,880 -4,416

Total comprehensive income  38,817 -19,172

 of which attributable to non-controlling interests  2,482 646

 of which attributable to shareholders of H&R AG  36,335 -19,818
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Other reserves

€ THOUSAND

Subscribed capital 
(20)

Capital reserves 
(21)

Retained earnings 
(22)  

Market valuation of 
financial assets 

(23)
Cash flow hedges 

(23)

Foreign currency 
translation differ-

ences 
(23)

Equity share attrib-
utable to H&R AG 

shareholders 
Non-controlling 

shares 
(24)

Total 

31/12/2013 76,625 18,599 102,833  131 -3,747 -5,200 189,241 -79 189,162

Capital increase in H&R AG 14,948 24,730 –  – – – 39,678 – 39,678

Capital increase in affiliates – – –  – – – – 4,974 4,974

Changes in scope of consolidation – – –  – – – – 34,261 34,261

Dividend payments – – –  – – – – – –

Income after taxes – – -15,402  – – – -15,402 -206 -15,608 

Other comprehensive income – – -13,658  134 950 8,158 -4,416 852 -3,564 

Total comprehensive income – – -29,060  134 950 8,158 -19,818 646 -19,172 

31/12/2014 91,573 43,329 73,773  265 -2,797 2,958 209,101 39,802 248,903 

Capital increase – -576 –  – – – -576 – -576

Dividend payments – – –  – – – – – –

Disposal of non-controlling interests – – –  – – – – -16 -16

Income after taxes – – 27,455  – – – 27,455 -96 27,359

Other comprehensive income – – 4,592  -70 2,797 1,561 8,880 2,578 11,458

Total comprehensive income – – 32,047  -70 2,797 1,561 36,335 2,482 38,817

31/12/2015 91,573 42,573 105,820  195 – 4,519 244,860 42,268 287,128

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’  
Equity of H&R AG 
as of 31 December 2015
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Other reserves

€ THOUSAND

Subscribed capital 
(20)

Capital reserves 
(21)

Retained earnings 
(22)  

Market valuation of 
financial assets 

(23)
Cash flow hedges 

(23)

Foreign currency 
translation differ-

ences 
(23)

Equity share attrib-
utable to H&R AG 

shareholders 
Non-controlling 

shares 
(24)

Total 

31/12/2013 76,625 18,599 102,833  131 -3,747 -5,200 189,241 -79 189,162

Capital increase in H&R AG 14,948 24,730 –  – – – 39,678 – 39,678

Capital increase in affiliates – – –  – – – – 4,974 4,974

Changes in scope of consolidation – – –  – – – – 34,261 34,261

Dividend payments – – –  – – – – – –

Income after taxes – – -15,402  – – – -15,402 -206 -15,608 

Other comprehensive income – – -13,658  134 950 8,158 -4,416 852 -3,564 

Total comprehensive income – – -29,060  134 950 8,158 -19,818 646 -19,172 

31/12/2014 91,573 43,329 73,773  265 -2,797 2,958 209,101 39,802 248,903 

Capital increase – -576 –  – – – -576 – -576

Dividend payments – – –  – – – – – –

Disposal of non-controlling interests – – –  – – – – -16 -16

Income after taxes – – 27,455  – – – 27,455 -96 27,359

Other comprehensive income – – 4,592  -70 2,797 1,561 8,880 2,578 11,458

Total comprehensive income – – 32,047  -70 2,797 1,561 36,335 2,482 38,817

31/12/2015 91,573 42,573 105,820  195 – 4,519 244,860 42,268 287,128
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€ THOUSAND 2015 2014

1.  Income after taxes 27,359 -15,608

2.  Income taxes 7,407 7,777 

3.  Net interest result 16,386 13,811 

4. +/- Depreciation, impairment and amortization 36,769 25,639

5. +/- Changes in non-current provisions -4,401 -2,489 

6. + Interest received 751 512 

7. - Interest paid -11,548 -10,529 

8. +/- Income taxes paid/received -2,918 -7,090 

9. +/- Other non-cash expenses and income -5,488 -1,846 

10. +/- Increase/decrease in current provisions 1,876 -1,825 

11. -/+ Result from the disposal of fixed assets -3,280 -4 

12. -/+ Changes in net working capital -7,275 2,196 

13. +/- Changes in remaining net assets/other non-cash items 787 -10,908 

14. = Cash flow from operating activities (sum of 1. to 13.) 56,425 -364 

15. + Proceeds from disposal of tangible fixed assets 4,653 201 

16. - Payments for investments in tangible fixed assets -31,800 -19,189 

17. - Payments for investments in intangible assets -928 -313 

18. + Receipts from acquisitions – 9,233 

19. - Payments for investments in financial assets – -19

20. = Cash flow from investing activities (sum of 15. to 19.) -28,075 -10,087 

21.  Free cash flow (sum of lines 14. and 20.) 28,350 -10,451 

22. + Receipts from capital increase of Non-controlling shareholders – 4,974 

23. + Dividends received from joint ventures 123 284 

24. - Payments resulting from the settlement of financial debt -150,345 -26,307 

25. + Receipts from the taking up of financial debt 97,804 20,794 

26. = Cash flow from financing activities (Sum of 22. to 25.) -52,418 -255 

27. +/- Cash and cash equivalent changes in the financial resources fund (sum of 
lines 14., 20., 26.)

 
-24,068

 
-10,706 

28. + Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the period 101,558 109,624 

29. +/- Change in cash and cash equivalents due to changes of exchange rates 1,784 2,640 

30. = Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 79,724 101,558 

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement of H&R AG
1 January 2015 to 31 December 2015
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(1) General Information

(1) General Information
H&R AG, a listed company headquartered at 
48499 Salzbergen (Germany), Neuenkirchen-
er Strasse 8, does business in various specialty 
chemical and plastics markets via its subsidiaries. 
The Group’s businesses include the production of 
chemical-pharmaceutical raw materials as well 
as the manufacture of injection-molded precision 
plastic parts.

As a stock exchange listed Group parent company, 
H&R AG, pursuant to Article 315a of the German 
Commercial Code (HGB), is under the obligation 
to prepare consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with international accounting stand-
ards and rules. The consolidated financial state-
ments of H&R AG were prepared based on the 
accounting rules of the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB), whose application was 
mandatory under EU Regulation No. 1606/2002 
as of the balance sheet date, and according to the 
additionally applicable rules of Article 315a (1) 
of the HGB. The requirements of the Standards 
(IFRS/IAS) and interpretations (IFRIC/SIC) whose 
application was mandatory as of the balance 
sheet date were met without exception.

H&R Holding GmbH, Hamburg, prepares the 
consolidated financial statements for the largest 
scope of the companies in which H&R AG is di-
rectly included via H&R Beteiligung GmbH, Ham-
burg.

The changes in H&R AG’s shareholders’ equi-
ty are shown, along with the income statement, 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, the balance sheet and the cash flow 
statement. Individual, summarized positions are 
discussed in greater detail in the notes. The in-
come statement is prepared in accordance with 
the total-cost method. The balance sheet is bro-
ken down into current and non-current assets 
and liabilities. Under this approach, assets are 
shown under current assets when they are held 
for trading purposes, are intended for sale with-
in the normal course of the business cycle or are  
expected to be sold within twelve months of the 
balance sheet date. Debts are classified as current 
liabilities in a similar way. Pension provisions as 
well as deferred tax claims and/or liabilities are in 
principle treated as being non-current.

The 2015 consolidated financial statements were 
prepared using the euro (€) as the functional 
currency. Unless stated otherwise, all amounts 
are shown in thousands of euros (€ thousand). 
Rounding can lead to the amounts mentioned 
in this report not adding up exactly to the sums 
 stated, and to percentages not exactly matching 
the amounts reported.

The financial year of H&R AG and the subsidiaries 
included in the consolidated financial statements 
coincides with the calendar year.

The consolidated financial statements are pub-
lished in the Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger).

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements of H&R AG 
as of 31 December 2015



108 H&R AG ANNUAL REPORT 2015

(2)  Effects of New Accounting  
Standards

Standards and Interpretations to be Applied 
for the First Time in the Current Financial Year.  
The International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB) published changes to the following Stand-
ards whose application is mandatory for the first 
time in the current financial year:

The interpretation IFRIC 21, “Levies”, published 
in May 2013 deals with the accounting treatment 
for government-imposed levies that are not in-
come taxes within the meaning of IAS 12. It pro-
vides guidelines for determining when an obliga-
tion must be recognized as a liability.

In December 2013, as part of the Annual Im-
provements Cycle 2011–2013, the IFRS published 

amendments affecting the standards IFRS 1, IFRS 
3, IFRS 13 and IAS 40. These amendments are 
mainly clarifications and more detailed specifica-
tions that should be regarded as editorial correc-
tions to existing standards.

The first-time application of these new account-
ing rules had no material impact on the consoli-
dated financial statements.

Published Standards and Interpretations that 
are not yet Being Applied. As of the balance 
sheet date, the following accounting standards 
had already been published by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the In-
ternational Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee (IFRIC) but application of the stand-
ards was not yet mandatory.

PUBLISHED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS THAT ARE NOT YET BEING APPLIED

Standard/  
Interpre-
tation Title

IASB  
Effective 
date Date of endorsement EU effective date

Essential 
effects on 
H&R

 Amendments to IFRS 11 – Accounting for Acquisi-
tions of Interests in Joint Operations

1/1/2016 24/11/2015 1/1/2016 None 

 Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 – Bearer Plants 1/1/2016 23/11/2015 1/1/2016 None

 
 

Amendments to IAS 19 – Defined Benefit Plans: 
Employee Contributions

1/7/2014 17/12/2014 1/2/2015 None 

 Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010–2012 Cycle 1/7/2014 17/12/2014 1/2/2015 None

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1/1/2018 Expected in H2 2016 
 

To be deter-
mined

See expla-
nation

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts 1/1/2016 No approval No application None

IFRS 15 Revenues from Contracts with Lustomers 1/1/2018 Expected in Q2 2016 To be  
determined

See expla-
nation

IFRS 16 Leases 1/1/2019 To be determined To be  
determined

To be 
checked

  Amendments to IAS 12 – Recognition of Deferred 
Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses

1/1/2017 Expected in Q4 2016 To be  
determined

None 

  Amendments to IAS 7 – Disclosure Initiative 1/1/2017 Expected in Q4 2016 To be  
determined

None 

  Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 –
Investment Entities

1/1/2016 Expected in Q2 2016 To be  
determined

None 

 Amendments to IAS 1 – Disclosure Initiative 1/1/2016 18/12/2015 1/1/2016 None

 Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012–2014 Cycle 1/1/2016 15/12/2015 1/1/2016 None

  
 

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 – Sale or 
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture

Postponed 
 

Postponed 
 

Postponed None 
 

  Amendments to IAS 27 – Equity Method in 
 Separate Financial Statements

1/1/2016 18/12/2015 1/1/2016 None 

  
 

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 – Clarificati-
on of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and 
Amortization

1/1/2016 
 

2/12/2015 
 

1/1/2016 
 

None 
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(2) Effects of New Accounting Standards | (3) General Accounting and Measurement Methods

In July 2014, the IASB published the final version 
of IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments”. In the future, 
it will replace IAS 39, “Financial Instruments”. In 
particular, IFRS 9 contains new rules on classify-
ing and measuring financial assets, on accounting 
for impairment losses to financial assets and on 
hedge accounting. In the future, the classification 
and measurement of financial assets will depend 
on the company’s business model and the charac-
teristics of the financial asset’s contractual cash 
flows. The new loss-impairment model means 
that instead of losses that have actually occurred, 
entities are now required to recognize expected 
losses. The purpose of the new hedge accounting 
rules is to enhance disclosures about a company’s 
risk-management activities. H&R AG does not ex-
pect these to have a material impact on the con-
solidated financial statements.

In May 2014, the IASB published IFRS 15, “Rev-
enue from Contracts with Customers”, which in 
the future will govern revenue recognition as a 
central standard. The new model provides a five-
step framework for revenue recognition. First, 
the contract with a customer and the separate 
performance obligations in the contract must be 
identified. Then, the transaction price must be 
determined and allocated to the individual perfor-
mance obligations in the contract. Finally, the rev-
enue must be recognized for each performance 
obligation in an amount equal to the allocated 
transaction price as soon as the performance ob-
ligation has been satisfied and/or control over the 
goods or services has been transferred to the cus-
tomer. For H&R AG, the first-time application of 
this standard will not have a material impact on 
the consolidated financial statements. 

(3)  General Accounting and Measure-
ment Methods

Principles of Consolidation. The accounts in-
cluded in the consolidated financial statements are 
prepared in accordance with uniform accounting 
and valuation methods. The closing date is the 
closing date of the parent company.

Subsidiaries are companies or entities which, ac-
cording to the criteria listed in IFRS 10, are con-
trolled by H&R AG. According to IFRS 10, H&R AG 

controls existing rights at these companies that 
give it the ability to direct the relevant activities 
of these companies in order to exercise a material 
influence over the companies’ profitability. Control 
further requires H&R AG to be exposed to varia-
ble returns from the subsidiaries and to have the 
ability to affect those variable returns through its 
decision-making power. If it loses control over a 
subsidiary, the subsidiary is no longer included in 
the consolidated group.

All Group internal business transactions and inter-
im results as well as claims and liabilities existing 
between consolidated companies are eliminated in 
the course of consolidation. Deferred income tax 
effects arising from the consolidation process are 
appropriately taken into account.

In accordance with IFRS 3 (Business Combina-
tions), company mergers are recorded in the finan-
cial statements using the acquisition method. In 
this connection, the acquirer is deemed to be the 
party that has obtained control over the acquired 
company and is therefore in a position to derive 
benefits from the acquired business. In the case 
of a company purchase, the pro-rata equity of the 
acquired subsidiary is determined at the time of 
acquisition, taking into account the fair values of 
the identifiable assets, debts and contingent liabil-
ities, deferred taxes and the value of any goodwill 
at that time. If foreign companies are acquired, the 
acquisition costs are converted into euros at the 
respective exchange rate on the purchase date.

The acquisition costs correspond to the fair value 
of the transferred assets, the equity instruments is-
sued and the debts arising and/or being assumed 
at the time of the transaction. In addition, they 
contain the fair values of any reported assets or 
debts resulting from a conditional consideration 
arrangement. Purchase-related ancillary costs are 
immediately recorded as a charge against income.

Acquisition costs are offset against the pro-rata fair 
value of the net equity. Net equity is determined 
by assessing the identified assets, debts and con-
tingent liabilities of the acquired company at the 
time of acquisition at their fair value. Any amount 
remaining on the asset side after set-off is treat-
ed as goodwill. Pursuant to IFRS 3, any negative 
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amount resulting from revaluation of the net assets 
acquired is immediately charged against income.

Non-controlling interests in fully consolidated 
companies are valued at the pro-rata fair value of 
the net assets. Transactions with non-controlling 
interests are treated like transactions with Group 
equity owners. The difference between the ac-
quired pro-rata equity of other shareholders and 
the purchase price is therefore directly netted 
against equity.

Shares in Holdings Valued at Equity. Interest 
in associates and in joint ventures are reported in 
accordance with the equity method. Joint ventures 
are companies that H&R AG manages jointly with 
a third party. With associates, H&R AG’s interest is 
between 20% and 50%. Under the equity meth-
od, the carrying value of holdings valued at equity 
is increased or reduced by the change in equity  
corresponding to H&R AG’s interest in the equity of 
these companies. The Group’s interest in associat-
ed companies and in joint ventures is the goodwill 
value generated by the acquisition. The changes in 
the pro-rata equity affecting the income statement 
are recognized in the profit or loss resulting from 
holdings valued at equity. For companies whose 
financial statements are prepared in accordance 
with the equity method, an impairment loss must 
be recognized if the recoverable amount is below 
the carrying amount. As of 31 December 2015, 
three joint ventures were being accounted for  
using this method.

Currency Translation. The annual financial state-
ments of the foreign subsidiaries are converted into 
euros in accordance with the functional- currency 
principle. As the companies essentially manage 
their business independently from a financial, 
economic and organizational point of view, the re-
spective functional currency as a rule is that of the 
country in which the company is headquartered.

In the separate financial statements of the Group 
companies, foreign currency transactions are 
translated into the functional currency at the ex-
change rates in effect at the time of the transaction. 
On the balance sheet, receivables and payables 
in foreign currencies are valued at the exchange 
rate on the balance sheet date; the resulting ex-
change-rate gains and losses are recognized on 
the income statement.

In the consolidated financial statements, the assets 
and liabilities are converted into euros at the ex-
change rate on the respective balance sheet date. 
Any changes taking place during the year, as well 
as profit and loss items, are converted into euros at 
the average annual exchange rate. With the excep-
tion of revenues and expenses directly recognized 
in equity, the shareholders’ equity is carried at his-
torical exchange rates. The resulting variances are 
recognized in equity but are not reported on the 
income statement until the subsidiary is sold.
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The exchange rates used for the foreign currency 
translation have changed as follows:

EXCHANGE RATES FOR THE MAIN CURRENCIES

  

 
Exchange rate on the 

balance sheet date 
31/12/2015

Exchange rate on the 
balance sheet date 

31/12/2014

Average rate 
 

2015

Average rate 
 

2014

US dollar 1.0887 1.2141 1.1096 1.3288

British pound 0.73395 0.77890 0.72599 0.80643

Australian dollar 1.4897 1.4829 1.4765 1.4724

South African rand 16.953 14.0353 14.1528 14.4065

Thai baht 39.248 39.910 38.001 43.163

Chinese yuan 7.0608 7.5358 6.973 8.1883

Czech crown 27.023 27.735 27.285 27.536

Malaysian ringgit 4.6959 4.2473 4.3315 4.3472

Cash and Cash Equivalents. Cash and cash 
equivalents comprise cash in hand, checks re-
ceived and credit balances at banks and have a 
maximum term of three months at the time of 
acquisition or investment. Cash and cash equiv-
alents are valued at acquisition cost.

Financial Instruments. Financial instruments 
are contractually agreed claims or obligations that 
lead to an incoming or outgoing flow of financial 
assets or to the issuance of equity capital rights. 
They also comprise derivative claims or obliga-
tions from underlying financial instruments. Ac-
cording to IAS 39, financial instruments are rec-
ognized on the income statement at the point in 
time of inclusion in the following valuation cate-
gories: financial assets or liabilities at fair value 
through profit and loss, loans and receivables, 
available-for-sale financial assets and held-to-ma-
turity investments, as well as other liabilities.

Financial assets. Financial assets comprise cash 
and cash equivalents, loans issued and receiva-
bles, equity and debentures acquired and deriva-
tives with positive fair values.

The recognition and valuation of financial assets 
follow the criteria stipulated in IAS 39. According 
to these criteria, financial assets are recognized 
on the balance sheet when H&R AG has a contrac-
tual right to receive cash or other financial assets. 
Financial assets are booked at the value on the 
trading day on which the Group has committed 
to the purchase of the asset. Financial assets are 
categorized according to their initial recognition. 

Loans and receivables as well as financial assets 
available for sale are first booked at their fair 
 value plus transaction costs.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial 
assets with contractually fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted on an active market. 
They are shown on the balance sheet under trade 
receivables and other financial assets. Loans and 
receivables are subsequently measured at am-
ortized cost using the effective-interest method. 
If there are objective and substantial signs of an 
impairment in value, an impairment test is car-
ried out. Signs of an impairment in value include, 
among others, the high probability of insolvency 
proceedings, significant financial difficulties of a 
debtor or the disappearance of an active market 
for financial assets.

Financial assets available for sale are non-deriv-
ative financial assets that were either specifically 
and explicitly assigned to this category or that 
could not be assigned to any other category of 
financial assets. After their initial recognition, 
available-for-sale financial assets are measured at 
fair value. Changes in fair value are recognized in 
equity, without any effect on profit or loss, until 
the assets are disposed of. Permanent impairment 
losses are reported on the income statement. Re-
versals of the impairment losses are offset against 
equity without any effect on profit or loss, unless 
they concern a debt instrument and the reversal 
of the impairment loss relates to an impairment 
loss previously recognized through profit or loss. 

(3) General Accounting and Measurement Methods
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If no fair value can be determined, the interests 
are valued at amortized cost.

The financial assets valued at fair value and rec-
ognized through profit or loss concern securities 
classified as current assets as well as derivative 
financial instruments with a positive fair value not 
included in a hedge (hedge accounting).

Assets are derecognized at the time of the extinc-
tion and/or the transfer of the rights to payments 
arising out of the asset and thus at the point in 
time at which essentially all risks and opportuni-
ties related to ownership were transferred. Before 
derecognizing receivables that are legally trans-
ferred within the scope of receivables sales, H&R 
AG tests the criteria for derecognition in accord-
ance with the applicable rules with IAS 39. If the 
criteria are not met, the receivables remain on the 
balance sheet. There is no full disposal if essen-
tially all the risks and opportunities were neither 
retained nor transferred and the power of control 
over the receivables remains with the transferor. 
In this case, only a partial disposal of the receiv-
ables should be booked, taking into account the 
remaining continuing involvement. Continuing 
involvement is the extent to which the transferor 
is still exposed to fluctuations in the value of the 
receivables.

The credit and default risk from financial assets 
lies in the danger that a contracting party will fail 
to pay; it therefore does not exceed the amount of 
the claims against the respective counterparty for 
the recognized carrying amounts. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are not 
offset, apart from the reimbursement right against 
BP (see explanation (9) and (19)), since no such 
offset agreements exist.

Derivative financial instruments. Derivative fi-
nancial instruments are used in order to reduce 
currency and interest-rate risks, e.g. in the form 
of forward currency contracts and interest-rate 
swaps.

Derivative financial instruments are carried on 
the balance sheet at fair value and, depending on 
the market value, are shown as financial assets 
or liabilities. The fair value of the derivatives is 
calculated using standard market valuation meth-
ods, taking into account the market data available 
on the valuation date. With forward currency con-
tracts, the valuation is carried out on a case-by-
case basis at the pertinent forward exchange rate 
and/or price on the balance sheet date. The fair 
value of derivative financial instruments for inter-
est-rate hedging is determined by discounting fu-
ture incoming and outgoing cash flows. Standard 
market interest rates which have been adjusted to 
reflect their own credit risk and which correspond 
to the respective time to maturity of the financial 
instruments are used for discounting. To the ex-
tent expedient, derivative financial instruments 
that satisfy hedge accounting criteria pursuant 
to IAS 39 are designated either to hedge the fair 
value of an asset or a debt (fair-value hedge) or to 
hedge the risk of fluctuating cash flows from future 
transactions that are very likely to occur (cash-
flow hedge). If derivative financial instruments do 
not satisfy the criteria for hedge accounting, they 
are, in accordance with IAS 39, classified as held 
for trading and recognized in profit or loss on the 
income statement. The changes in the fair value 
of derivatives intended as fair-value hedges are 
recognized on the income statement along with 
the changes in the fair value of the hedged assets 
or liabilities allocable to the hedged risk. In these 
annual financial statements, there were no fair 
value hedges of assets or liabilities.
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The effective portion of changes in the fair value 
of derivatives designated as cashflow hedges to 
hedge payment streams is recognized under oth-
er profit/(loss) without any effect on the income 
statement. By contrast, the ineffective portion of 
such changes in value is recognized directly in 
profit or loss on the income statement. Amounts 
deferred or accrued in other profit/(loss) are re-
posted to the income statement and are recog-
nized as income or expense during the period in 
which the underlying transaction being hedged 
affects profit or loss. When a hedge expires, is 
disposed of or no longer satisfies the criteria for 
being carried on the balance sheet as a hedge, 
the cumulative profit or loss up to that date recog-
nized in other profit or loss remains part of equity 
and is only reclassified to the income statement 
with an effect on profit or loss if the originally 
hedged future transaction takes place. If the fu-
ture transaction is no longer expected to take 
place, the cumulative gains and/or losses that are 
recorded under equity with no effect on income 
or loss must immediately be recognized in profit 
or loss.

Inventories. According to IAS 2, inventories in-
clude those assets held for sale in the ordinary 
course of business (finished products and mer-
chandise), assets in the production process with a 
view to being sold (work in process) or materials 
and supplies that are consumed in the scope of 
the manufacture of products or the provision of 
services (raw, auxiliary and production materials).

Inventories are stated at the lower of acquisi-
tion or manufacturing cost and the net realizable 
value, as determined on the basis of the weight-
ed-average-cost method, i.e. at the sales price 
that can be obtained in the normal course of busi-
ness less the estimated manufacturing and mar-
keting costs. Manufacturing costs comprise the 
material and production costs directly allocable 
to the manufacturing process, directly allocable 
portions of the material and manufacturing over-
head costs and production-oriented general and 
administrative overhead costs. Raw, auxiliary and 
production materials are not depreciated if the 
end products can be sold at a profit. 

By-products are stated at fair value. Borrowing 
costs are not taken into account.

Property, plant and equipment. Tangible fixed 
assets are valued at acquisition or manufacturing 
costs less cumulative depreciation and impair-
ment losses. The option to revalue tangible fixed 
assets pursuant to IAS 16.31 was not used.

Acquisition costs consist of the price of the ac-
quisition, the ancillary acquisition costs and sub-
sequent acquisition costs less acquisition price 
reductions obtained. Expenses for the ongoing 
repair and maintenance of tangible fixed assets 
are included in profit or loss. Expenses for renew-
al and maintenance are capitalized as subsequent 
manufacturing costs only if they result in a sub-
stantial extension of the useful life, a significant 
improvement or a meaningful change in the use 
of the fixed asset.

Expenses related to scheduled shutdowns of 
large facilities are stated separately at the amount 
of the costs of the measure as part of the facility 
in question and are depreciated on a straight-line 
basis over the period until the next scheduled 
shutdown. To the extent that depreciable property 
consists of essential identifiable components with 
individually different useful lives, such compo-
nents are carried separately and depreciated over 
their respective useful lives. Investment subsidies 
are deferred and recognized as income over the 
average useful lives of the subsidized assets.

Depreciable fixed assets are subject to scheduled 
straight-line depreciation over their respective 
useful lives; residual amounts are taken into ac-
count. These useful economic lifespans are re-
viewed on each balance sheet date and adjusted, 
if necessary. Upon sale or retirement, the acqui-
sition or manufacturing costs and the relevant 
accumulated depreciation of the facilities are 
derecognized; the resulting gains or losses are 
recognized in profit or loss. The useful lifespans 
used can be summarized as follows:

(3) General Accounting and Measurement Methods
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ASSETS

 Useful economic life

Buildings 10 to 36 years

Land using rights 45 to 50 years

Tank farms 25 years

Technical equipment and 
machinery

10 to 20 years 

Other facilities 3 to 6 years

Operating and office  
equipment

3 to 13 years 

Borrowing Costs. Essentially, the cost of bor-
rowed capital is recognized in profit or loss in the 
period in which the external capital expense is 
incurred. According to IAS 23, borrowing costs 
that are directly attributable to the construction, 
acquisition or production of a qualifying asset 
form part of the cost of that asset and, therefore, 
should be capitalized. In financial year 2015, as 
in the previous year, no interest was paid on bor-
rowed capital.

Leasing. A lease is an agreement whereby the 
lessor, in return for a payment or series of pay-
ments, conveys to the lessee the right to use an 
asset for a specific period of time. Leasing trans-
actions are classified either as finance leases or as 
operating leases. If the H&R Group, as the lessee 
in leasing transactions, bears all essential risks 
and opportunities related to ownership, then such 
transactions are treated as finance leases. In that 
case, the Group capitalizes the leased property at 
the lower of the fair value and the present value 
of the minimum lease installments and thereafter 
depreciates the leased property over the shorter 
of the estimated useful life or the lease term. At 
the same time, a matching financial liability is 
recognized at the lower of the fair value of the 
leased property and the present value of the min-
imum lease installments; interest and principal 
payments will subsequently be made, and the 
liability adjusted accordingly, using the effec-
tive-interest method. All remaining lease agree-
ments in which the Group is the lessee or lessor 
are treated as operating leases. In this case, lease 

payments made are recorded under expenses and 
lease payments received are recorded as income. 
The asset leased out by H&R AG continues to be 
shown under property, plant and equipment on 
the balance sheet.

Goodwill. The first time it is reported, the good-
will resulting from a merger is stated at the ac-
quisition cost, which is measured as the surplus 
of the value of the consideration transferred over 
the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities as-
sumed. After the first-time recognition, goodwill 
is measured at acquisition cost less accumulated 
impairment losses.

Goodwill is not subject to scheduled amortiza-
tion, but, rather, is subjected to an impairment 
test every year. If any events or changed circum-
stances that indicate a potential impairment loss 
should be identified, the impairment test is also 
carried out more frequently. In the event of the 
need to recognize a goodwill impairment loss, 
it is immediately recognized under depreciation 
and amortization on the income statement. Re-
versal of an impairment loss for goodwill in later 
periods is not allowed.

The annual goodwill impairment tests take place 
at the level of the cash-generating units (CGUs) 
that are relevant for the test. The cash-generating 
unit represents the lowest level at which goodwill 
is monitored for internal management purpos-
es. H&R AG essentially considers both strategic 
business units under standard management with 
comparable product portfolios and, sporadically, 
also individual, legally autonomous companies to 
be cash-generating units. Goodwill impairment is 
determined by comparing the carrying amount of 
the cash-generating unit, including the goodwill 
to be allocated to it, with the recoverable amount 
for the cash-generating unit. The recoverable 
amount is the higher of fair value less costs of 
disposal and the value in use. The recoverable 
amount here is the value in use determined us-
ing the discounted cash flow method. If the car-
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rying amount exceeds the Division’s recoverable 
amount, an impairment loss equal to the differ-
ence must be recognized on the income state-
ment. If the calculated impairment loss is equal to 
or higher than the carrying amount of the good-
will, the goodwill must be written off entirely. The 
remaining impairment loss is, as a rule, allocated 
proportionally to the remaining non-current as-
sets of the cash-generating unit.

The expected cash flows of the cash-generating 
units are derived from H&R Group’s five-year 
plan. For subsequent periods, the cash flow was 
extrapolated using the prior-year approach, with 
an expected growth rate of 1% p.a. The plan is 
based, in particular, on assumptions concerning 
the trend in sales revenues, the material-usage 
ratio and investments already initiated, as well 
as on empirical values and market expectations. 
Pursuant to IAS 36, investments to expand ca-
pacity for which to date no cash outflows have 
occurred are not included. In addition, a stable 
pricing differential was assumed for a number of 
finished-product prices for all five plan years.

Average costs of capital were used for the dis-
counted cash flow; these capital costs are calcu-
lated based on market values. The after-tax dis-
count rates used were 5.6% in the ChemPharm 
Refining segment (previous year: 6.1%) and 
between 6.3% and 11.7% in the ChemPharm 
Sales segment (previous year: between 6.3% and 
10.8%). That is equal to pre-tax interest rates 
of 7.8% in the ChemPharm Refining segment 
(previous year: 8.5%) and 8.2% to 16.3% in the 
ChemPharm Sales segment (previous year: 8.2%  
to 16.3%). Differences in the individual cash- 
generating units’ cost of capital result in particu-
lar from various assumptions and estimates con-
cerning country risk, credit risk and price infla-
tion in the country in which the cash-generating 
unit is headquartered.

Other Intangible Assets. Other intangible assets 
are capitalized at their acquisition or manufactur-
ing costs. Insofar as they have determinable use-
ful lives, they are subject to scheduled deprecia-
tion on a straight-line basis over their respective 

useful lives. The following useful life spans were 
assumed in determining scheduled depreciation:

ASSETS

 Useful life

Software 3 to 5 years

Licences 3 to 5 years

Concessions and patents 3 to 10 years

The H&R Group has received CO₂ emission rights 
free of charge in connection with the introduction 
of emissions trading in the European Union; they 
are valued at a zero acquisition cost. 

Any expenses that arise in connection with the reg-
istration of products pursuant to the EU Chemicals 
Regulation (REACH) are capitalized under other 
intangible assets and amortized over an expected 
useful life of ten years.

Permanent impairment losses to other intangible 
assets are accounted for under unscheduled de-
preciation and amortization. In the event the rea-
sons for unscheduled depreciation/amortization 
no longer apply, the appropriate write-ups are ef-
fected to the extent that the amortized cost is not 
exceeded. The reasons for unscheduled depreci-
ation/amortization are reviewed on each balance 
sheet date.

Intangible assets with an unlimited useful life are 
not subject to scheduled amortization; instead, an 
annual impairment test is carried out on such as-
sets.

Research and Development costs. Research ex-
penses are recognized as expenses in the period 
in which they are incurred. Development expenses 
are capitalized only if the requirements of IAS 38 
have been satisfied. According to this Standard, 
capitalization is always required when there is 
reasonable certainty that the development activity 
will lead to future cash flows that will also cover 
the relevant development costs. As internal devel-
opments are subject to various uncertainties, the 
conditions for capitalizing costs incurred in bring-
ing a product to market generally are not met.

(3) General Accounting and Measurement Methods
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Financial Liabilities. Financial liabilities include 
liabilities to banks, trade payables and derivatives 
with negative fair values, as well as other financial 
liabilities.

When first reported, financial liabilities are always 
stated at their fair value and after deduction of 
transaction costs. In subsequent periods, they are 
measured at amortized cost using the effective- 
interest method.

Financial liabilities are derecognized when the 
contractual obligations are settled, reversed or 
have expired.

Other Receivables and Liabilities. Accruals and 
deferrals and other non-financial assets and liabil-
ities are initially recognized at amortized cost. Re-
versal takes place on a straight-line basis or using 
the percentage-of-completion method.

Government grants for assets are shown on the 
balance sheet as deferrals in the other liabilities 
section and are reversed and recognized in  profit 
or loss over the average useful life of the sub sidized 
assets. Private subsidies are recognized as other 
liabilities under both current and non- current lia-
bilities and are reversed over their expected useful 
lives.

Pensions and Similar Obligations. Company 
pensions of the H&R Group are designed based 
on the legal, tax and economic circumstances 
in the respective countries and include both de-
fined-contribution and defined-benefit plans. Un-
der defined-contribution plans, the Group makes 
contributions to public or private pension-insur-
ance plans based on a statutory or contractual 
obligation or even voluntarily. The Group has no 
further payment liabilities beyond payment of the 
contributions. Contributions are recognized under 
personnel expenses when due.

The present value of the pension commitments un-
der defined-benefit pension plans (defined-benefit 
obligations, DBOs) and of the associated past ser-
vice expense is calculated using the projected unit 
credit method. Under this method, the valuation is 
based on actuarial calculations for which specific 
assumptions must be made concerning salary and 
pension payment trends, turnover rates and death 
rates, as well as interest rates. Due to changing 
conditions, the actual future expenses and liabil-
ities can differ significantly from the estimates in 
the actuarial report.

Under defined-benefit pension plan accounting 
rules, interest expense is recognized under net in-
terest result on the income statement. Past service 
expenses are recorded as personnel expenses. 
 Effects from the remeasurement of defined- benefit 
pension plans are recognized directly in equity 
and on the statement of comprehensive income, 
where deferred taxes are taken into account. The 
fair value of the plan’s assets is deducted from the 
present value of the pension obligations recorded 
on the balance sheet. The plan’s assets consist of 
a reinsurance policy for the pension commitment 
to a former director that is measured at fair  value. 
If the plan’s assets exceed the corresponding pen-
sion liability, the excess amount is shown as “ Other 
receivable” subject to the upper limit set in IAS 19.
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Other Provisions. Other provisions are estab-
lished in accordance with IAS 37 if, on the basis of 
a past event, a current, legal or factual obligation 
exists, settlement is likely to result in an outflow 
of resources with economic benefits and a reliable 
estimate of the amount of the liability is possible. 
The amount set up as a provision represents the 
best estimate of the amount required to settle the 
present obligation as of the balance sheet date. In 
the event of a significant interest-rate effect, the 
present value of the expected expenses is used.

The anniversary provisions are valued according 
to the projected unit credit method pursuant to 
IAS 19. Contractual obligations under lease agree-
ments (e.g. demolition, renovation or eviction) are 
recognized on the balance sheet as provisions, 
insofar as the expected utilization of resources 
with an economic benefit is likely. Provisions for 
impending losses resulting from unfavorable con-
tracts are set up when the expected economic ben-
efit resulting from the contract is lower than the 
costs that are unavoidable in order to satisfy the 
contractual obligations.

Restructuring provisions are created in accord-
ance with IAS 37.70 et seq. as soon as a detailed, 
formal restructuring plan is available and a justi-
fied expectation has been created in the affected 
parties that the restructuring measures will take 
place in regard to the affected parties by starting 
to implement the plan or by announcing its essen-
tial components.

The annual obligations to return emission rights 
based on the actual CO2 emissions of the re-
fineries are at first covered by the emission cer-
tificates received free of charge and are valued 
at their  acquisition cost, which is equal to zero. 
In the event that the emissions rights assigned 
free of charge should not suffice, provisions for 
the additional emissions rights that will have to 
be acquired will be set up at the expected acqui-
sition cost. 

Recognition of Revenue. The proceeds from 
products sold and services rendered as part of the 
company’s usual business activities are recognized 
as sales revenues. Other operating earnings are 
shown as other operating income.

Sales revenues and other operating income are 
recognized when the service is provided or when 
the risk is transferred to the customer or when the 
claim originates. Moreover, sales revenues are 
also realized from sales in which legal ownership 
has been transferred to the customer but delivery 
has been postponed at the customer’s request. 
Ultimately, it must be possible to determine the 
amount of sales revenues in a reliable manner and 
it must be possible to assume that the receivable 
is recoverable. Sales revenues are reported after 
deducting value-added tax, after applying reduc-
tions in selling price such as returns, discounts or 
price reductions and after eliminating intercompa-
ny sales. Intercompany transactions are conducted 
as arm’s-length transactions.

Income Tax. Income taxes comprise both the 
taxes levied in the individual countries on taxable 
profits and changes in deferred taxes that have an 
effect on profit or loss. The current tax expense 
is based on the taxable income determined in ac-
cordance with the tax regulations of the respec-
tive country for the year, taking into account the 
applicable tax rate in that jurisdiction. Pursuant to 
IAS 12, deferred taxes reflect differences between 
the time when asset and liability amounts are re-
ported in the consolidated financial statements 
under accounting rules and the time when the cor-
responding amounts are reported under tax rules 
governing the determination of taxable income. 
Current and deferred taxes are essentially recog-
nized in profit or loss, unless they are related to 
circumstances recognized in other income/loss. In 
that case, the current and deferred taxes are also 
recognized in other income/loss.

(3) General Accounting and Measurement Methods
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Deferred tax assets pertaining to deductible tem-
porary differences and loss carryforwards are 
recognized to the extent it is probable that suffi-
cient taxable profit will be available against which 
the temporary differences and still unused loss  
carryforwards can be utilized. This is based on in-
dividual company forecasts of the income situation 
of the Group company concerned. The amount of 
deferred tax assets recognized for temporary dif-
ferences and tax-loss carryforwards is determined 
on the basis of future taxable income within a fore-
cast period of five years. In Germany, the unlimited  
carryforward option for domestic losses is limited 
by the minimum taxation level. For foreign loss 
carryforwards, there are often country-specific 
time limitations on the carryforward option and 
restrictions on the use of profits from operating 
activities.

Deferred tax liabilities arising from temporary dif-
ferences in holdings in subsidiaries and associated 
companies are recognized unless the date of the 
reversal of the temporary differences can be de-
termined by the Group and it is probable that the 
temporary differences will not be reversed within 
a foreseeable period of time due to this influence.

When determining the deferred taxes, the expect-
ed tax rates in specific countries at the time of the 
expected realization are assumed.

Deferred tax receivables and liabilities are netted if 
the deferred tax receivables and liabilities refer to 
income taxes levied by the same tax authority for 
either the same taxpayer or for different taxpayers 
intending to effect settlement on a net basis.

Contingent liabilities. Contingent liabilities are 
potential obligations toward third parties or cur-
rent commitments in which a cash outflow is un-
likely and/or its amount cannot be determined in a 
reliable manner. In principle, contingent liabilities 
are not reported on the balance sheet. The liability 
amounts stated in the notes under contingent lia-
bilities match the scope of liability in effect on the 
balance sheet date.

(4)  Discretionary Decisions and 
 Estimates

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, 
to a certain extent assumptions and estimates 
must be made that at will affect the asset and lia-
bility, income and expense and contingent liabili-
ty amounts reported for the period under review. 
Estimates are based on empirical values and other 
assumptions that are deemed to be appropriate 
given the circumstances.

Assumptions and estimates are used in particu-
lar in testing intangible assets for impairment, in 
determining overhead surcharges when valuing 
inventories, in determining the useful economic 
lives of assets throughout the group in a uniform 
manner, in estimating the recoverability of receiv-
ables and in reporting and valuing provisions. 
Moreover, discretionary decisions and estimates 
are necessary in testing intangible assets for im-
pairment and in measuring the amount of deferred 
tax assets relating to loss carryforwards to recog-
nize. Further details on the individual items can be 
found in each section.

Signs pointing to an impairment loss, as well as 
recoverable amounts and fair values identified, are 
also combined with estimates. These include, in 
particular, estimated future cash flows, the appli-
cable discount rates, the expected useful lives and 
residual values.
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For sensitivity analyses, generally a possible fluc-
tuation range of 10% is assumed, as a change of 
up to this amount seems possible, especially over 
the long term. Sensitivity analyses were carried 
out in particular for the goodwill impairment tests 
at the level of the cash-generating units and in 
connection with financial instruments. For pen-
sion provisions, the sensitivity analysis assumes a 
50-basis-point change in the interest rate and in 
the pension trend.

Other essential assumption factors are the dis-
count rate and the underlying mortality tables in 
connection with the pension provisions and similar 
commitments, as well as the estimates of neces-
sary expenditures for the circumstances taken into 
account for other provisions. This also concerns 
the possibility of a cash outflow due to dismantling 
obligations, which is described in greater detail in 
note (39). Details on sensitivity analyses in the area 
of pension provisions can be found in note (19).

The assumptions and estimates are based on cur-
rently available information. In addition, the trends 
in the economic environment in the industries and 
regions in which the Group does business, which 
are currently assumed to be realistic, were also 
taken into account in regard to expected future 
business developments. Developments in these 
macroeconomic conditions that deviate from the 
assumptions and are outside of Management’s 
control may cause the actual amounts to deviate 
from the original estimates. In such cases, the as-
sumptions and, if required, the carrying amounts 
of the assets and liabilities affected will be adjust-
ed accordingly.

(5)  Scope of Consolidation and 
 Holdings

The consolidated financial statements of H&R AG 
include all material domestic and foreign compa-
nies that H&R AG controls according to the criteria 
stipulated in IFRS 10 and for which H&R AG con-
trols existing rights that give it the ability to direct 
the relevant activities of these companies.

The table below shows the changes to H&R AG’s 
consolidated group during the financial year:

CHANGE IN THE NUMBER OF CONSOLIDATED  
COMPANIES

H&R AG and consolidated 
companies Domestic

Other  
countries Total

1/1/2015 17 17 34

Additions – 1 1 

Disposals – -1  -1

31/12/2015 17 17 34 

The disposal refers to H&R Czechia s.r.o, Prague, 
which was liquidated in August 2015. A new ad-
dition to the consolidated group is Dunrose In-
vestment 148 (Proprietary) Limited, South Africa, 
in which H&R AG acquired 100% of the shares 
effective 1 July 2015 at a purchase price of €2.5 
million. In the absence of any business opera-
tions, the acquisition does not constitute a busi-
ness combination under IFRS 3.

H&R AG helds shares of some companies by 
trustees. These indirect holdings are fully conso-
lidated in case H&R AG has control about these 
shares. The holdings can be found in the list of 
shares. Three companies have not been consoli-
dated since they are not material for the financial 
situation of H&R AG. 

(3) General Accounting and Measurement Methods | (4) Discretionary Decisions and  Estimates |  
(5) Scope of consolidation and holdings



120 H&R AG ANNUAL REPORT 2015

The following disclosures concerning the hold-
ings satisfy the requirements of Article 313 of the 
German Commercial Code (HGB):

FULLY CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

Company name Company headquarters Segment
Holding % 

H&R AG 

H&R Chemisch-Pharmazeutische Spezialitäten GmbH   100

H&R Lube Blending GmbH Salzbergen, Germany a 100

H&R ChemPharm GmbH Salzbergen, Germany a 100

H&R LubeTrading GmbH Salzbergen, Germany a 100

H&R International GmbH Hamburg, Germany b 100

H&R Ölwerke Schindler GmbH Hamburg, Germany a 100

H&R InfoTech GmbH Hamburg, Germany d 100

H&R Benelux b.v. Nuth, The Netherlands b 100

H&R ChemPharm (UK) Ltd. Tipton, Great Britain b 100

H&R Czechia s.r.o. Prague, Czech Republic b 90

H&R ANZ Pty Ltd. Victoria, Australia b 100

H&R Singapore Pte. Ltd. Singapore, Singapore b 100

H&R Global Special Products Co. Ltd. Bangkok, Thailand b 1001)

H&R Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. Port Klang, Malaysia b 1001)

H&R ChemPharm (Thailand) Ltd. Bangkok, Thailand b 100

H&R WAX Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. Batu Caves, Malaysia b 100

H&R South Africa (Pty) Limited Durban, South Africa b 100

H&R South Africa GmbH Hamburg, Germany b 100

H&R South Africa Sales (Pty) Limited Durban, South Africa b 100

H&R China Holding GmbH Hamburg, Germany b 51

H&R China (Hongkong) Co., Ltd. Hong Kong b 51

H&R China (Ningbo) Co., Ltd. Ningbo, China b 51

H&R China (Fushun) Co., Ltd. Fushun, China b 51

H&R China (Daxie) Co., Ltd. Daxie, China b 51

H&R Grundstücksverwaltungs GmbH Salzbergen, Germany a 98.68

H&R Grundstücksverwaltungs-Beteiligungs gesellschaft mbH Salzbergen, Germany a 74.04

GAUDLITZ GmbH Coburg, Germany c 100

GAUDLITZ Precision Technology (Wuxi) Co. Ltd. Wuxi, China c 100

GAUDLITZ Precision s.r.o. Dačice, Czech Republic c 93.51

GAUDLITZ Grundstücksverwaltungs- Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH Coburg, Germany c 100

H&R Group Services GmbH Hamburg, Germany d 100

SYTHENGRUND WASAGCHEMIE Grundstücks verwertungsges. 
Haltern mbH Haltern, Germany d 100

B.-H. Beteiligungs- und Handelsges. mbH Salzbergen, Germany d 100
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OTHER INVESTMENTS

Company name Company headquarters Segment
Holding %  

H&R AG

Joint Ventures    

Westfalen Chemie GmbH & Co. KG Salzbergen, Germany a 50

Westfalen Chemie Verwaltungs gesellschaft mbH Salzbergen, Germany a 50

HRI IT–Service GmbH Berlin, Germany d 50

Not Consolidated Subsidiaries    

H&R India Sales Private Limited Mumbai, India b 99

WAFA Kunststofftechnik GmbH & Co. KG, i. K. Augsburg, Germany  100

WAFA Kunststofftechnik Verwaltungs GmbH, i. K. Augsburg, Germany  100

Other Interests    

SRS EcoTherm GmbH Salzbergen, Germany  10

Surgic Tools GmbH Coburg, Germany  10

Betreibergesellschaft Silbersee II Haltern am See mit beschränkter 
Haftung Essen, Germany  8

Segments: a) ChemPharm Refining c) Precision Plastics
   b) ChemPharm Sales  d) Other activities

1)  Including holdings held in trust: The holdings in the following companies are only indirectly held in trust:  
In H&R Global Special Products Co. Ltd., Bangkok, Thailand, H&R AG holds 49% of the shares via subsidiaries, 51% are 
managed for the Group by trust companies. H&R Global Special Products Co. Ltd. in turn holds 60.98% in H&R ChemPharm 
(Thailand) Ltd., Bangkok, Thailand. A further 38.98% are held by a subsidiary whose shares are wholly-owned by H&R AG. 
The remaining 0.04% are managed on behalf of the Group by trustees. The Group directly holds 30% of the shares in H&R 
Malaysia Sdn. Bhd., Port Klang, Malaysia. The remaining 70% are managed on behalf of the Group by trustees.

(5) Scope of Consolidation and Holdings
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Notes to the Consolidated  
Balance Sheet

(6)  Cash and Cash Equivalents
 

€ THOUSAND 31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Cash on hand 18 30

Cash in banks 79,256 101,528

Total 79,274 101,558

(7) Trade Accounts receivable
 

€ THOUSAND 31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Trade accounts  
receivable (gross) 99,599 106,287

Impairment losses -761 -689 

Total 98,838 105,598

No trade accounts receivable (prior year: €0 thou-
sand) were pledged as credit guarantees. Receiv-
ables from related persons or companies are list-
ed under note (42).

Within the scope of what is referred to as “true 
factoring agreements”, the H&R Group sells 
short-term Trade accounts receivable to credit 
institutes without recourse. H&R AG can freely 
decide whether and in what volume receivables 
will be sold. To the extent that any risks and op-
portunities related to these receivables remain 
at H&R AG, they continue to be recognised in 
the balance sheet. Late payment risk is the only 
risk remaining at H&R AG and is, moreover, of 
minor importance. As of 31 December 2015, no 
receivables were transferred that could lead to a 
derecognition from the balance sheet (previous 
year: €7.5 million).

TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

 Including: not impaired at the year-end date and overdue in the following aging periods

€ THOUSAND

Carrying 
amount

Including: 
neither 

impaired nor 
overdue at 

the year-end 
date 

Less than 
30 days 

Between 31 
and 60 days

Between 61 
and 90 days

Between 91  
and 180 days

Between 181  
and 360 days

More than 
360 days

31/12/2015 98,838 91,655 5,813 666 296 162 16 373

31/12/2014 105,598 100,371 3,044 1,061 281 115 279 419

With regard to the trade accounts receivable that 
are neither impaired nor overdue, there were no 
indications that the debtors would not honour 
their payment obligations.

In the Group, risk provisions in regard to trade  
accounts receivable based on individual write-
downs can be summarised as follows:

IMPAIRMENTS OF TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

€ THOUSAND 2015 2014

Status as of 1/1 689 755 

Additions 173 211 

Utilization -79 -329 

Redemptions -41 – 

Currency translation 
differences 19 52 

Status as of 31/12 761 689 
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Impaired trade account receivables are overdue 
with the following maturity:

TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

€ THOUSAND

Less than 
30 days 

Between 31 
and 60 days

Between 61 
and 90 days

Between 91  
and 180 days

Between 181  
and 360 days

More than 
360 days

31/12/2015 49 52 40 3 1 473

31/12/2014 26 144 6 2 17 522

(8) Inventories
 

€ THOUSAND 31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Raw, auxiliary, and 
production materials 40,454 54,270

Unfinished products 14,084 26,353

Finished products and 
products for sale 38,206 51,742 

Advance payments on 
account on inventories 1,252 1,837

Total 93,996 134,202

Individual write-downs were performed with all 
inventories insofar as the proceeds that could  
foreseeably be realised from their sale were lower 
than their book value (Lower of Cost or Market 
principle). The net proceeds from disposal were 

recognised as the foreseeable sales proceeds less 
any costs still arising up to the time of sale.

The fair value less sales expenses at which in-
ventories are carried amounts €5,954 thousand  
(prior year: €12,575 thousand).

Pursuant to IAS 2.34, writedowns of the net dis-
posal values were recognised as expenses in the 
reporting period in the amount of €769 thousand 
(prior year: €2,044 thousand). They concern the 
Chemical-Pharmaceutical Raw Materials Dome-
stic and Plastics Divisions. For more information 
on expenditures relating to inventories, please 
consult note (28).

No inventories (prior year: €0.00 thousand) were 
pledged as surety for liabilities.

(9) Other Financial Assets
 

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

 € THOUSAND Total
Of which 

long-term Total
Of which 

long-term

Loans and receivables 2,439 1,870 2,387 1,456 

Receivable due from BP 1,383 1,383 1,730  1,730 

Other securities 1,226 1,074 1,238 1,075

Other investments 1,055 1,055 1,055 1,055 

Other financial assets 1,151 89 1,148 66 

Total 7,254 5,471 7,558 5,382 

The loans and receivables essentially comprise 
receivables from SRS Ecotherm as well as a loan 
to a joint venture enterprise.

Further to the takeover of the BP special business 
in 2004, mutual release agreements were made 
in regard to those retirees who were allocated ei-
ther economically or contractually to one of the 
contractual partners, but who, for purposes of 

employment law, remained with the other part-
ner. According to the overall contractual arrange-
ments with BP, which included all release claims 
and liabilities, and taking into account the con-
tractual parties’ goal of achieving a total set-off of 
all payables and receivables, the claims and com-
mitments were recognised based on the same le-
gal background owing to the economic and legal 
substance of the business event and shown as a 

Notes to the Consolidated Balance Sheet
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balance (€1,383 thousand; previous year €1,730 
thousand) pursuant to IAS 1.32.

The claims to compensation were as shown in the 
following table:
 

€ THOUSAND 2015 2014

Status as of 1/1 11,894 9,868 

Interest income 253 353 

Revaluation of the com-
pensation claims -553 2,361 

Claims paid -609 -688 

Status as of 31/12 10,985 11,894 

The holdings essentially comprise the shares in 
SRS EcoTherm GmbH, Salzbergen, with a value 
of €1,050 thousand. The holdings are carried at 
acquisition cost, as these financial investments 
are not listed on any active market and there-

fore have no market price, and other valuation 
methods would not have led to more reliable fair  
values. H&R AG is not intending to dispose of 
these holdings.

The remaining securities include in particular 
fund units of the Correnta Funds I and II. These 
securities are carried at their market value on the 
balance sheet date. Variances are shown in the 
other comprehensive income. This position also 
comprises the securities forming part of the cur-
rent assets, which amounted to €151 thousand 
(prior year: €163 thousand) as of the balance 
sheet date.

Of the remaining financial assets, as of 31 Decem-
ber 2015 €6 thousand (prior year: €6 thousand) 
had specific valuation allowances.

(10) Other Assets
 

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

 

€ THOUSAND Total
Of which 

long-term Total
Of which 

long-term

Reinsurance contracts 1,345 1,345 1,370 1,370 

Other tax receivables 5,340 – 6,908 – 

Prepaid expenses 1,430 45 815 15 

Other assets 1,280 129 1,002 80 

Total 9,395 1,519 10,095 1,465 

The short-term accrual comprises prepaid 
amounts for which the pertinent expense is to be 
allocated to the following year. In the financial 
year under review, the position as shown essen-
tially represents insurance contributions, prepaid 
rents and accrued EDP maintenance remunera-
tions. Other tax receivables mainly comprise 
VAT-liabilities. 
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(11) Property, Plants & Equipment

2015 DEVELOPMENTS

€ THOUSAND

Land and  
Buildings

Technical equip-
ment/machinery

Other facilities/ 
office equipment

Advance 
payments and 

construction in 
progress Total

Acquisition and production costs      

Status as of 1/1/2015 87,390 385,558 21,497 13,685 508,130 

Changes in scope of consolidation 2,620 – -36 – 2,584

Additions 1,378 15,081 1,649 10,366 28,474

Disposals -3,099 -7,306 -359 -883 -11,647

Currency conversion 2,034 1,245 94 116 3,489

Transfers 1,917 7,974 344 -10,256 -21

Status as of 31/12/2015 92,240 402,552 23,189 13,028 531,009

Cumulative depreciation      

Status as of 1/1/2015 27,518 208,067 17,262 3 252,850 

Scheduled depreciation 3,481 22,960 1,542 – 27,983

Impairment losses 332 – – – 332

Disposals -119 -6,837 -332 – -7,288

Changes in scope of consolidation -6 – -36 – -42

Currency conversion -53 39 21 – 7

Status as of 31/12/2015 31,153 224,229 18,457 3 273,842

Book value      

Status as of 31/12/2015 61,087 178,323 4,732 13,025 257,167

Status as of 31/12/2014 59,872 177,491 4,235 13,682 255,280

2014 DEVELOPMENTS

€ THOUSAND

Land and  
Buildings

Technical equip-
ment/machinery

Other facilities/ 
office equipment

Advance 
payments and 

construction in 
progress Total

Acquisition and production costs      

Status as of 1/1/2014 48,510 352,771 19,054 7,718 428,053 

Changes in scope of consolidation 37,825 17,011 760 1,286 56,882

Additions 73 11,219 887 11,192 23,371 

Disposals -557 -672 -262 -1,057 -2,548 

Currency conversion 1,216 1,835 159 46 3,256 

Transfers 323 3,394 899 -5,500 -884 

Status as of 31/12/2014 87,390 385,558 21,497 13,685 508,130 

Cumulative depreciation      

Status as of 1/1/2014 25,249 188,103 15,851 944 230,147 

Scheduled depreciation 2,112 19,498 1,462 – 23,072 

Impairment losses – – – 69 69 

Disposals – -655 -179 -1,010 -1,844 

Currency conversion 157 1,121 128 – 1,406 

Status as of 31/12/2014 27,518 208,067 17,262 3 252,850 

Book value      

Status as of 31/12/2014 59,872 177,491 4,235 13,682 255,280

Status as of 31/12/2013 23,261 164,668 3,203 6,774 197,906

Notes to the Consolidated Balance Sheet
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Land and buildings are essentially production 
sites of the Group companies and the technical 
plant and machinery are production facilities.

The additions to assets represented by facilities  
in 2015 refer primarily to the refinery sites in  
Salzbergen and Hamburg. In Salzbergen, invest-
ments were made in the capacity expansion of the 
hydration refining processes. At the Hamburg site, 
the additions concern essentially investments aim-
ing at an increase in energy efficiency. Moreover,  
expenditures made at both sites in connection 
with planned shutdowns were capitalised.

The H&R Group has entered into a number of fi-
nancing and operating lease agreements for tech-
nical equipment, operating and office equipment: 
as well as intangible assets. 

Finance Lease. The financial leases comprise 
essentially an agreement that meets the require-
ments of IFRIC 4 and relates to the supply of ener-
gy as well as of cooling and boiler feed water. The 
Agreement has a term of approximately 20 years 
and will end on 30 June 2023.

Tangible fixed assets used under finance leases 
are reported under property, plant and equipment 
with a carrying amount of €19,521 thousand (pre-
vious year: €16,659 thousand). This amount is fur-
ther broken down into technical equipment and 
machinery, with a carrying amount of €11,100 
thousand (previous year: €8,604 thousand) and 
land-use rights, with a carrying amount of €8,421 
thousand (previous year: €8,055 thousand). 
These amounts were paid in full in advance. As 
of the balance sheet date, the acquisition costs of 
these fixed assets totaled €32,308 thousand (pre-
vious year: €28,365 thousand).

The finance leasing agreements involve the lease 
payments listed below that will become due in 
the following periods. The variable leasing in-
stalments were carried forward based on the last  
effective interest rate:

 

Up to 1 year 1 to 5 years Longer than 5 years

€ THOUSAND 31/12/2015 31/12/2014 31/12/2015 31/12/2014 31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Minimum leasing instalments 365 634 17 373 – –

Future financing costs  
from financial leases 8 39 – 8 – –

Cash value of the financial lease liabilities 357 595 17 365 – –

Most of these payments relate to an agreement 
that meets the requirements for financial leases 
and concerns the supply of energy as well as of 
cooling and boiler feed water.

None of the assets underlying the financial leases 
may be disposed of during the term of their re-
spective leases.

Operating Lease. In addition to the finance  
leases, other leasing and/or rental agreements 
were also entered into which must be classified 
as operating leases based on their contents, as 

the property constituting the subject matter of the 
lease or rental agreement is to be allocated to the 
lessor or landlord. This involves in particular land 
and buildings, hardware, vehicles, forklift trucks, 
office machines and tank railcars. As a rule, the 
terms of these leases range between two and five 
years. The agreements generally terminate auto-
matically at the expiry of their term, although in 
some cases there are extension options.

Future minimum leasing payments based on 
non-cancellable operating leases will become due 
in future periods as follows:
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Up to 1 year 1 to 5 years Longer than 5 years Total

€ THOUSAND 31/12/2015 31/12/2014 31/12/2015 31/12/2014 31/12/2015 31/12/2014 31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Land/buildings 1,383 1,284 5,095 4,428 20,511 21,600 26,989 27,312 

Technical plant and  
equipment 1,518 1,792 1,561 1,471 – – 3,079 3,263 

Office and operating 
equipment 1,952 1,696 1,472 1,904 – – 3,424 3,600 

Total 4,853 4,772 8,128 7,803 20,511 21,600 33,492 34,175 

(12)  Goodwill and Other Intangible 
Assets

The intangible assets developed as follows during 
financial year 2015:

2015 DEVELOPMENT

Other intangible assets

€ THOUSAND Goodwill

Distri-
bution 
rights 

and simi-
lar laws Software Licences

Patents/ 
copy-
rights

Other 
rights Total Total

Acquisition/manufacturing costs          

Status as of 1/1/2015 55,267 18,623 10,021 4,593 13,865 235 47,337 102,604

Additions – 42 407 120 – 339 908 908

Disposals – -2 – – – -111 -113 -113

Currency conversion 477 1,161 13 -43 892 – 2,023 2.500

Transfers – – 11 64 – -54 21 21

Status as of 31/12/2015 55,744 19,824 10,452 4,734 14,757 409 50,176 105,920

Cumulative depreciation         

Status as of 1/1/2015 15,359 1,653 9,236 2,887 593 83 14,452 29,811

Scheduled depreciations – 1,254 386 549 1,471 – 3,660 3,660

Impairment losses 4,794 – – – – – – 4,794

Disposals – -2 – – – – -2 -2

Currency conversion -44 4 5 5 -19 – -5 -49

Status as of 31/12/2015 20,109 2,909 9,627 3,441 2,045 83 18,105 38,214

Book value         

Status as of 31/12/2015 35,635 16,915 825 1,293 12,712 326 32,071 67,706

Status as of 31/12/2014 39,908 16,970 785 1,706 13,272 152 32,885 72,793

Notes to the Consolidated Balance Sheet
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2014 DEVELOPMENTS

Other intangible assets

€ THOUSAND Goodwill

Distri-
bution 
rights 

and simi-
lar laws Software Licences

Patents/ 
copy-
rights

Other 
rights Total Total

Acquisition/manufacturing costs         

Status as of 1/1/2014 47,491 1,348 9,876 3,602 238 223 15,287 62,778

Changes in scope of consolidation – 16,832 – – 13,277 – 30,109 30,109

Additions 7,530 17 111 69 – 138 335 7,865 

Disposals – – – -1 – -107 -108  -108

Currency conversion 246 426 15 39 350 – 830 1,076

Transfers – – 19 884 – -19 884 884

Status as of 31/12/2014 55,267 18,623 10,021  4,593 13,865 235 47,337 102,604 

Cumulative depreciation         

Status as of 1/1/2014 15,359 1,192 8,243 2,155 238 38 11,866 27,225

Scheduled depreciations – 363 597 725 313 8 2,006 2,006 

Impairment losses – 75 380 – – 37 492 492 

Disposals – – – – – – – – 

Currency conversion – 23 16 7 42 – 88 88 

Status as of 31/12/2014 15,359  1,653 9,236 2,887 593 83 14,452 29,811 

Book value         

Status as of 31/12/2014 39,908 16,970 785 1,706 13,272 152 32,885 72,793 

Status as of 31/12/2013 32,132 156 1,633 1,447 – 185 3,421 35,553 

The addition to goodwill in the previous year 
was due to the takeover of 51% of the Hansen & 
Rosenthal Group’s Chinese businesses as part of 
a contribution-in-kind.

The carrying value of goodwill is composed as 
follows:

 

€ THOUSAND

Reporting Segment Cash Generating Unit (CGU) 31/12/2015 31/12/2014

ChemPharm Refining CGU Salzbergen 16,738 16,738 

ChemPharm Sales CGU H&R China 5,277 7,720

ChemPharm Sales CGU H&R ChemPharm (UK) 282 282 

ChemPharm Sales CGU Asia 374 414 

ChemPharm Sales CGU Australia – 790 

ChemPharm Sales CGU South Africa 12,964 13,964 

Total  35,635 39,908 

In performing the impairment test on the CGU, 
Management has to make certain future-oriented 
valuation assumptions. Basically, these valuation 
assumptions, which are made in the face of un-
certainty, may differ from values measured later, 
which can cause the recoverable amount to drop 
below the respective carrying amount of the CGU, 
thereby triggering recognition of an impairment 
loss. 

The impairment tests carried out during the re-
porting period resulted in unscheduled write-
downs of goodwill totaling €4.8 million which are 
included on the income statement under the item 
“Depreciation, impairments and amortization”. 

In the Australia CGU, the change in the business 
model from a production site to a pure sales/ 
distribution site led to lower future cash flows be-
cause of the associated costs. The CGU’s recover-
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able amount totaled €8.4 million, which resulted 
in an impairment loss of €0.8 million.

The China CGU is burdened by a difficult local 
market environment; as a result, future cash flows 
are expected to be lower. The impairment test 
yielded a recoverable amount of €137.2 million, 
which required recognizing an impairment loss 
to goodwill of €3.0 million. This impairment loss 
was offset by currency-translation effects totaling 
€0.6 million, so the carrying amount of the China 
CGU’s goodwill decreased by only €2.4 million.

For the South Africa CGU as well, changes in local 
conditions led to the assessment that future cash 
flows for the South Africa CGU are expected to be 
lower. The CGU’s recoverable amount as deter-
mined during the course of the impairment test 
was €28.5 million, which resulted in recognition 
of an impairment loss to goodwill of €1.0 million.

The CGUs’ recovery amounts are equal to their 
values in use. The China CGU and the South  
Africa CGU consist of the legal entities in each 
region’s Chemical-pharmaceutical Division.

In the sensitivity analyses performed on the 
cash-generating units to which goodwill has 
been allocated, the effects of reducing future 
cash flows by 10%, increasing the weighted cost 
of capital by 10% and lowering the growth rate 
by one percentage point were analyzed. For the 
cash-generating units that had already suffered 
an impairment during the financial year, each 
negative change in a parameter would result in 
further impairment losses. For the remaining 
cash-generating units, the sensitivity analyses in-
dicated that none of these CGUs would require 
recognition of an impairment loss.   

The other intangible assets are essentially produc-
tion and application software as well as produc-
tion, control and process flow licenses. More over, 
expenses arising in connection with the regist-
ration of products pursuant to the EU Chemicals 
Regulation (REACH) were also capitalized under 
other intangible assets. The additions in finan-
cial year 2015 primarily refer to the acquisition of 
new software licenses. The unscheduled depreci-
ation charge of €492 thousand in previous year  
relates to CGU Gaudlitz GmbH, which is part of the  

Plastics Division. This impairment loss is attribu-
table to weaker expectations for expected future 
cash flow contributions by the CGU.
(13)  Shares in At-Equity Valued 

 Holdings
The reported shares in at-equity valued holdings 
concern, partly, the 50% share in the joint ven-
ture Westfalen Chemie GmbH & Co. KG as well 
as the related general partner Westfalen Chemie 
Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH. Westfalen oper-
ates a hydrogen production and bottling facility 
at the Salzbergen site, from which the Salzbergen 
refinery obtains hydrogen for its own production. 
Furthermore, financial year 2012 saw the creation 
of the joint venture HRI IT Service GmbH, Berlin, 
in which H&R AG holds 50% of the shares via its 
subsidiary H&R InfoTech GmbH.

Data and informations of at-equity valued shares 
in companies included in the H&R Group Finan-
cial Statements are in accordance with the Group 
accounting policy. The financial year of the at- 
equity companies corresponds to the calendar 
year which is applicable for the H&R Group. The 
following statement comprises the aggregated 
financial information of the at-equity companies 
which are not material pursuant to IFRS 12:

€ THOUSAND 31/12/2015 31/12/2014*

Assets   

Long-term assets 2,840 2,276

Current assets 1,358 2,267

Debts   

Non-current liabilities 1,003 1,995

Current liabilities 2,971 2,321

Cumulated equity 224 227 

Revenues 11,848 11,551 

Costs -11,176 -11,303 

Earnings after income taxes 672 248 

Other comprehensive income – –

Total comprehensive income 672 248

* Previous year adjusted

Notes to the Consolidated Balance Sheet
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H&R AG holds 50% of these amounts leading to a 
change in the current value of shares in at-equity 
valued holdings as follows:
 

€ THOUSAND 2015 2014

Book values 1/1 763 923 

Partial result 336 124 

Distribution -124 -284 

Book values 31/12 975 763 

(14) Liabilities to Banks
Liabilities to banks include the following items:
 

€ THOUSAND

Book value 
31/12/2015

Residual 
term up to 

one year

Residual 
term 2017 

to 2019

From 
2020 

onwards

Loans under 
KfW programs 68,907 9,004 47,623 12,280

Syndicated loan 30,000 30,000 – –

Borrower’s  
note loan 35,774 17,883 17,891 –

Other loans 26,319 25,865 454 –

Total 161,000 82,752 65,968 12,280

  of which   
secured 10,670    

€ THOUSAND

Book value 
31/12/2014

Residual 
term up to 

one year

Residual 
term 2016 

to 2018

From 
2019 

on-
wards

Borrower’s  
note loan 116,000 – 116,000 –

Other loans 92,069 52,018 33,801 6,250

Total 208,069 52,018 149,801 6,250

  of which 
secured 13,002    

Loans Under KfW Programs. The KfW funds ar-
ranged by various banks were, or will be, used 
for capital expenditures that qualify for subsidies 
under the KfW Environmental Program. The KfW 
funds were provided in the form of fixed-interest 
loans with interest rates of between 3.5% and 
4.15%. The lenders may terminate the loans de-
pending on covenants (net gearing and the equity 
ratio) or in the event of a change in control. 

Borrower’s Note Loans. The borrower’s note 
loans consist of two fixed-interest tranches  
issued in 2011 with original maturities of five and  
seven years. The conditions and termination rights 
are dependent on compliance with certain stipula-
tions and financial ratios such as net debt to EBITDA   

ratio and the equity ratio (covenants). In the event 
of a change of control, the party extending the 
borrower’s note loans is entitled to terminate the 
agreements. 

Syndicated Loan. On 7 February 2015, as part 
of the Waiver and Amendment Procedure begun 
in December of 2014, H&R AG’s syndicated loan 
was amended and restructured. In the process, 
the syndicated revolving loan for €90 million 
was transformed into a bilateral revolving loan 
and letter of credit facility in the amount of €72.5 
million with the option of being increased to €90 
million. On 24 August 2015, this credit line was 
transferred to a broadly syndicated loan with a 
maximum amount of €240 million. The maxi-
mum possible drawdown under this loan chang-
es in line with working capital (borrowing-base 
mechanism), thereby ensuring that financing will 
be available at attractive conditions even when 
working-capital requirements increase. The syn-
dicated loan is utilized by H&R AG and by Group 
companies via branch lines.

The availability and conditions are linked to cer-
tain ratios (financial covenants). In the event of 
a breach of a covenant, the syndicate banks are 
entitled to terminate the syndicated loan. The 
syndicated loan is subject to a variable interest 
rate (EURIBOR + margin). The margin percent-
age is dependent on certain financial covenants 
(Net Debt/EBITDA). The adjustment always takes 
place after the filing of the quarterly and/or annu-
al reports. The syndicated loan was only utilized 
to a minor extent in financial year 2015.

Other Loans. The other loans were obtained sub-
ject to fixed or variable interest rates based on 
EURIBOR. 

Financial Covenants. Financial covenants such 
as the debt/equity ratio and the equity ratio are in-
cluded in the agreements for the borrower’s note 
loans and the syndicated loans as well as for bilat-
eral loans. The financial covenants were fully met 
both at the balance sheet date and also during the 
course of the year. 

Collateral. Assets with a value of €15 million 
were pledged as collateral for loans from the KfW 
(Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau, Reconstruction 
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Credit Corporation) environmental program origi-
nally amounting to €20 million. Additional collat-
eral has been provided for a loan in South Africa 
originally totaling the equivalent of €2 million.

No collateral was pledged for either the syndic-
ated loan or for the borrower’s note loan.

(15) Trade Payables
Trade payables have a term of up to one year and 
are usually collateralised by means of retention 
of title.

(16) Other Provisions
 

€ THOUSAND

HR provisions 
(16.1)

Environmental 
protection 

(16.2)

Trade-related 
commitments 

(16.3)

Miscellaneous 
provisions 

(16.4)
Total 

Status as of 1/1/2015 9,238 725 2,161 1,444 13,568

 of which long-term 3,545 725 – – 4,270

Interest compounding 37 – – – 37

Currency translation differences 45 – 106 40 191

Utilization -5,337 – -2,010 -1,584 -8,931

Reversal -401 – -107 -104 -612

Additions 6,888 875 1,004 2,313 11,080

Status as of 31/12/2015 10,470 1,600 1,154 2,109 15,333

 of which long-term 3,159 1,000 – – 4,159

The following cash outflows are expected in con-
nection with the provisions shown on the balance 
sheet for 2015:

EXPECTED CASH OUTFLOWS FOR OTHER PROVISIONS

€ THOUSAND

Provisions for 
Personnel  
Expenses

Environmental 
Protection

Trade-Related 
Commitments

Miscellaneous 
Provisions Total

2016 7,311 600 1,154 2,109 11,174

2017 167 1,000 – – 1,167

2018–2020 403 – – – 403

2021–2025 893 – – – 893

2026 ff. 1,696 – – – 1,696

Total 10,470 1,600 1,154 2,109 15,333

(16.1)  Provisions for Personnel 
 Expenses

The short-term HR provisions primarily concern 
directors’ fees, profit sharing, performance bo-
nuses, deferred leave, flexi-time credits as well as 
professional association contributions.

The long-term HR provisions consist of early re-
tirement pensions and service anniversaries.

Notes to the Consolidated Balance Sheet
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(16.2) Environmental Protection
Subsoil contamination with hazardous materi-
als resulting from the production of ammunition 
(grenades) under the supervision of the armed 
forces during the two World Wars and from the 
decommissioning of military explosives were al-
ready discovered some time ago on a piece of 
land belonging to a Group company that is used 
by third parties to produce such explosive ma-
terials. The affected soil was disposed of some 
years ago. The trend in the hazardous materials 
concentration in the ground and surface water is 
regularly measured and monitored in conjunc-
tion with the relevant authorities. The explosives 
business was sold in 2007; however, the land was 
not also transferred to the buyer, but, rather, was 
leased to the explosives company, which contin-
ues its activities on the site.

SYTHENGRUND GmbH had various assessments 
carried out about the hazardous materials situ-
ation. These assessments revealed that the pol-
lutants plume extending beyond the site borders 
could not be removed using current technology. 
The company is therefore focusing its ongoing 
measures on monitoring and securing the pol-
lutants and supporting research projects into 
developing more advanced chemical/physical 
treatment methods. The planned sand removal 
project has no influence on the grandfathered 

environmental liabilities situation, as it would not 
change the spreading direction of the pollutants 
in the groundwater.

Total provisions of €1.6 million have been 
set aside, based on estimates by independent  
experts. We believe that the expenditures already 
made and the provisions set aside are adequate 
to cover our portion of the remediation costs. It 
is currently unclear whether new methods will be 
developed in the future that would allow a clean-
up to take place, thereby requiring additional 
expenses. This matter is the subject of ongoing 
monitoring by the Executive Board. Negotiations 
are also being conducted with the Recklinghaus-
en district – the regulatory authority – to defini-
tively limit our liability for the risks described.

(16.3) Trade-Related Commitments
Provisions for trade-related commitments com-
prise provisions for complaints, rebates, dis-
counts and price-reductions.

(16.4) Miscellaneous Provisions
The remaining provisions primarily comprise 
provisions for waste disposal and other commit-
ments.

(17) Other Financial Liabilities
 

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

€ THOUSAND Total
Of which 

long-term Total
Of which 

long-term

Lease liabilities 374 17 960 365 

Loan liabilities 2,947 – 2,960 –

Liabilities arising from derivatives 4,743 2,368 6,653 4,345 

Liabilities from acquisitions 3,559 – 3,080 –

Other financial liabilities 584 2 3,872 2 

Total 12,207 2,387 17,525 4,712 

The leasing liabilities result from financial  
leases. Further information concerning finance 
leases can be found in note (11).

The liabilities originating from derivatives result 
from transactions intended to hedge interest rate 

risks. Further details about derivatives can be 
found in note (37.2).
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The liabilities from acquisitions result from the 
purchase of the Chinese activities and are tax lia-
bilities arising from that transaction. 

(18) Other Liabilities
 

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

€ THOUSAND Total
Of which 

long-term Total
Of which 

long-term

Tax liabilities 3,206 – 3,131 –

Prepaid expenses 4,355 1,506 2,775 79

Payments received 1,150 – 3,288 –

Other liabilities 879 – 833 –

Total 9,590 1,506 10,027 79

The tax liabilities primarily concern the current 
VAT and payroll tax liabilities as well as import 
VAT still due.

The accruals and deferrals include an investment 
subsidy received by H&R Lube Blending GmbH 
from the German Federal Land of Lower Saxony. 
The subsidy, which had been applied for in 1996, 
was approved in 1998 and constitutes 15% of 
the investment sum. Recognition takes place on 
a pro rata temporis basis in accordance with the 
respective useful life of the subsidised assets.

(19) Pension Provisions
Operating retirement provisions in the Group 
are not only contribution-based but also perfor-
mance-based.

In the case of the pensions systems (defined con-
tribution plans) the Group pays contributions to 
state or private pension schemes on the basis of 
legal or contractual provisions, or on a voluntary 
basis. Following payment of the contributions, 
the Group’s obligations in this area are fulfilled. 
Defined contribution pension plans exist par-
ticularly in the international companies of the  
Chemical-Pharmaceutical Raw Materials Division.

All other retirement provisions are perfor-
mance-based and result from various take-overs 
of business areas and activities. These benefits 
apply exclusively to Germany based companies. 
All pension plans of the H&R Group are closed or 

frozen, so that H&R AG is only exposed to risks 
arising out of pension and salary trends as well 
as from demographic changes based on existing 
commitments. With the exception of reinsurance 
for the pension of a former Director, there are no 
plan assets, so that there is currently no strategy 
for the equalisation of risks arising out of either 
assets or liabilities.

The present H&R AG was formed from the  merger 
of Schmierstoffraffinerie Salzbergen GmbH (SRS 
GmbH) and H&R AG in 2001. Because of the 
works agreement on 7 October 1986, all employ-
ees taken on by SRS GmbH from Wintershall 
have a right to company pension benefits in ac-
cordance with the Wintershall pension agreement 
dated 1 January 1987. The works agreement of  
9 March 1994 terminated the works agreement 
of 7 October 1986 effective 30 June 1994, and 
thereby enacted the pension agreement for the 
new arrivals. The level of benefits agreed depends 
essentially on the length of service and the last 
salary drawn. After the termination of the works 
agreement of 7 October 1986, the entitlements 
earned were frozen. The pension entitlements of 
some pensioners are based on the older Winter-
shall pension charter.

All employees at H&R AG have a right to a com-
pany pension in accordance with the pension 
agreement in the version dated 1 January 1986, 
last amended by the works agreement of 4 June 
1998. For those persons drawing pensions, their 
rights in some cases are based on earlier ver-

Notes to the Consolidated Balance Sheet
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sions of the pension agreement. The level of the 
pension depends on the number of pensionable 
years of service and the pensionable salary in the 
last year before leaving the company. Individual 
employees receive so-called contractual pensions 
due to individual contractual commitments. The 
requirements and calculation of benefits differ in 
individual agreements.

In accordance with the pension agreement at 
GAUDLITZ GmbH in the version of 18 December 
1978, all employees who joined the company by 
10 June 1978 and whose contracts of employment 
had not been terminated had the right to a compa-
ny pension. The level of the pension depends on 
the number of pensionable years of service and 
the pensionable salary in 1978. For those drawing 
pensions, in some cases their rights are based on 
earlier versions of the pension agreement.

At SYTHENGRUND WASAGCHEMIE Grund-
stücks  verwertungsgesellschaft Haltern mbH, 
there is a pension provision dating from 1 January 
1986 in the version of the works agreement of 4 
June 1998 of Chemie Sythen GmbH. The level of 
the pensions depends on the number of pension 
qualifying years of service and on the pension 
qualifying earnings. The pension scheme was 
closed in 1992 for people joining the company 
after 31 July 1991.

Pension obligations for a total of 183 employees 
were transferred to H&R Ölwerke Schindler ef-
fective 2 January 2004 with the takeover of BP’s 
special product activities. Due to various mergers 
and takeovers, there are a total of 13 different sets 
of rules and addenda that may apply to these 183 
employees. The basic principles are set forth in 
the following pension-related directives, statutes, 
regulations, schemes etc.:

–  Pension regulations for employees of Aral AG on 
non-union rates dated 24 June 1991

–  Pension scheme for employees of Aral AG on 
union rates dated 15 October 1985

–  Aral AG pension regulations 1999
–  Pension rules dated 1 January 1980 pursuant to 

the Central Works Agreement dated 30 Novem-
ber 1979

–  Additional pension for shift work in accordance 
with Letter f of the Pension Regulations of 1 Jan-

uary 1980 pursuant to the Central Works Agree-
ment dated 30 November 1979

–  1988 Pension Regulations based on the Central 
Works Agreement dated 2 December 1987

–  Pension Regulations dated 1 January 1988, Sec-
tion 13 (Articles 40-46) on the basis of the Cen-
tral Works Agreement dated 2 December 1987

–  Pension plan of Burmah Oil (Germany) GmbH 
dated 1 January 1992

–  Salary conversion in accordance with the ARAL 
pension regulation model 1999

–  Transitional payment regulations Raab Karcher 
dated 1 March 1989

–  Central Works Agreement dated 1 February 
1993 (1975 Pension Plan)

–  Central Works Agreement dated 1 January 1993 
(1986 Pension Plan)

–  Central Works Agreement dated 1 February 
1993 (1990 Pension Plan)

The pension amount in the above-mentioned 
plans is determined based on the pension qual-
ifying years of service and on the pensionable 
monthly remuneration taking into account the 
minimum qualifying number of years of service.

H&R Ölwerke Schindler has not only assumed 
pension obligations for employees of the compa-
ny with entitlements (so-called Group 1) but has 
also agreed an exemption obligation for some 
former employees of BP Lubes Services GmbH 
(pensioners and employees who left the compa-
ny, so-called Group 3). The company is entitled to 
reimbursement from BP of the sum posted for the 
commitments towards the aforementioned cat-
egories of qualified individuals [see also note (9)].

The scope of obligations of H&R Ölwerke 
 Schindler GmbH was taken into consideration as 
of 31 December 2015 for the individual groups 
as follows:
 

€ THOUSAND 31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Group 1 41,147 44,956 

Group 3 10,985 11,894 

A further category (so-called Group 2) com-
prises employees of BP who were not taken on 
by H&R Ölwerke Schindler. For this group of 
people, H&R Ölwerke Schindler has agreed to re-
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imburse BP for the relevant pension obligations 
which remain with BP, for an amount of €9,602 
thousand  (previous year: €10,164 thousand). 
These obligations were netted off in accordance 
with IAS 1.32 against a receivable from BP from 
a reimbursement claim for pension obligations 
assumed amounting to €10,985 thousand (pre-
vious year: €11,894 thousand), which also arose 
as part of the takeover of the specialty products 
business [see note (9)]. The balancing receivable 
of €1,383 thousand (previous year: €1,730 thou-
sand) is shown under receivables from BP in oth-
er long-term assets. The obligation may vary due 
to changes of actuarial parameters.

The development of the liability due to defined 
benefit plan can be described as follows: 
 

€ THOUSAND 2015 2014

Status as of 1/1 83,648 64,376 

Current service cost 853 716 

Interest expenses 1,757 2,325 

Revaluations -6,263 19,485 

  Including due to changes in 
financial assumptions -5,699 20,078 

  Including due to experiential 
adjustments -564 -593 

Payments made -3,148 -3,254 

Status as of 31/12 76,847 83,648

The plan assets of H&R AG are related to a re-
insurance policy for a guaranteed pension of a 
member of the Board, which was recognized at 
fair value. Plan assets are not listed on any active 
market. H&R AG does not have any specific risk 
exposure from these plan assets beyond the nor-
mal risk. Future expected annual contributions 
of H&R AG to this reinsurance policy amount to 
€249 thousand and will be due in 2016 for the 
last time.

The fair value of plan assets developed as follows:
 

€ THOUSAND 2015 2014

Status as of 1/1 1,081 810 

Interest expenses 22 28 

Revaluations 10 -6 

Payments made 249 249 

Status as of 31/12 1,362 1,081 

The development in the carrying amount of the 
net debt related to benefit oriented pension plans 
can be described as follows:
 

€ THOUSAND 2015 2014

Status as of 1/1 82,566 63,566 

Current service cost 853 716 

Interest expenses 1,736 2,297 

Payments made -3,148 -3,254 

Employee contributions to the 
plan -249 -249 

Revaluations -6,271 19,490 

  Including return on plan 
assets -10 6 

  Including due to changes in 
financial assumptions -5,697 20,077 

  Including due to experiential 
adjustments -564 -593 

Status as of 31/12 75,487 82,566

The following valuation parameters were used to 
determine the pension obligations:
 

 31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Interest rate 2.4% 2.0 % 

Salary trends 0.0%–4.0% 0.0%–4.0%

Pension trends 0.0%–2.0% 0.0%–2.0%

Retirement age 60/61/63/65 60/61/63/65

The likelihood of leaving is based on the 2005G 
Heubeck guideline tables. An age-dependent 
staff turnover probability has been built into the 
pension provision for employees of H&R Ölwerke 
Schindler for which tables drawn up by internal 
experts have been used. By not taking the likeli-
hood of fluctuations into account, the assumption 
is made by way of simplification that no em ployee 
will leave the company before the non-forfeita-
bility deadlines are met and that thereafter the 
non-forfeitable right to a pension will be exactly 
financed by the existing provision in each case. 
There were no plan changes, curtailments or 
settle ments in financial year 2015.

Payments totalling €3,686 thousand (previous 
year: €3,820 thousand) are anticipated for this 
financial year. The duration of the benefit obliga-
tions is, on average, 15.9 years.

Notes to the Consolidated Balance Sheet
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To the extent that the parameters in the following 
table should change as stated, this would result in 
pension obligation changes as shown below.

CHANGES IN PENSION OBLIGATION

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

 

Change  
in indicators 

Change  
in obligation 

on increasing  
in € thousand

Change  
in obligation 

on decreasing  
in € thousand

Change  
in obligation 

on increasing  
in € thousand

Change  
in obligation 

on decreasing  
in € thousand

Change in discount rate 0.50% -5,601 6,343 -6,352 6,932

Change in future salary increases 0.50% 1,312 -1,203 1,163 -1,066

Change in future pension adjustments 0.50% 3,433 -3,123 3,448 -3,136 

Change in expected likelihood of dying 1 year 339 -429 375 -472 

The above sensitivity analyses are based on the as-
sumption of a change in one parameter while all 
other parameters remain constant. These are in-
dividual scenarios from a broad spectrum of poss-
ibilities, so that the actual trend in the commitment 
will most certainly deviate from these forecasts. 
In addition, it is unlikely that only one parameter 
will change, but, rather, in actual fact an interac-
tion of parameter changes can be expected. The 
sensitivities were calculated with the same method 
as the recognition of the benefit obligations in the 
balance sheet. The methods were not changed as 
compared to the prior year.

All pension plans within the H&R Group are closed, 
so that no new employees can gain access to them. 
Only H&R Ölwerke Schindler GmbH still has active 
employees with a pension claim. 

(20) Subscribed Capital
As of the balance sheet date, subscribed capital 
totaled €91,573 thousand (previous year: €91,573 
thousand), divided into 35,820,154 ordinary 
bearer shares without face value (previous year: 
35,820,154 ordinary bearer shares). This cor-
responds to a notional value of €2.56 per share. 
There are no different classes of shares; all shares 
are ordinary shares. The subscribed capital was 
fully paid in. Each share conveys one voting right.

Approved Capital. By a decision of the Annual 
Shareholders’ Meeting of 31 May 2011, the Exec-
utive Board is entitled, subject to approval by the  
Supervisory Board, to increase issued capital 
through one or more issues of ordinary bearer 
shares without face value in return for cash. Said 
issuance(s) may occur any time before 30 May 
2016, may total up to €1 million in volume (2011 
Approved Capital), and must be issued for the  
purpose of distributing employee shares to the 
personnel of the Group and its affiliated compa-
nies. The shareholders’ subscription rights are ex-
cluded.

The Executive Board is authorized – with the Su-
pervisory Board’s approval – to increase the com-
pany’s share capital by 12 May 2019 by a maxi-
mum of €22.4 million by issuing up to 8,748,348 
ordinary bearer shares without face value. The 
issue may be effected in one or more tranches in 
return for cash and/or contributions-in-kind (2014 
Approved Capital). In principle, shareholders must 
be granted a subscription right; however, the Ex-
ecutive Board may, with the Supervisory Board’s 
approval, exclude the subscription right on one or 
more occasions under certain conditions. The most 
recent amendment (reduction in the approved cap-
ital) was recorded in the Commercial Register on 
25 September 2014.

Authorization to Acquire Treasury Shares. On 
27 May 2010, the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting 
authorized the company to purchase the com-
pany’s own shares, up to a total of 10% of the 
current share capital, in the period until 26 May 
2015. The company did not purchase any of its 
own shares either in 2015 or in the previous year.
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(21)  Capital Reserve
Capital reserve includes the amounts by which 
the proceeds from the issuance of preferred and 
ordinary shares exceed their face value. In finan-
cial year 2015, capital reserves decreased by €576 
thousand (previous year: €433 thousand), from 
€43,329 thousand to €42,753 thousand, due to 
the expenses associated with raising capital the 
previous year. This included €408 thousand of tax 
effects (previous year: €0 thousand) that were im-
mediately credited to capital reserve.

(22) Retained Earnings
Retained earnings amounted to €105,820 thou-
sand as of the reporting date (previous year: 
€73,773 thousand). Most of this amount consists 
of cumulative retained earnings of €122,503 thou-
sand (previous year: €95,048 thousand). As of the 
balance sheet date, the revalued net liability un-
der defined-benefit pension plans recorded under 
Other comprehensive income totaled €-19,066 
thousand (previous year: €-23,658 thousand).  
Other retained earnings totaled €2,383 thousand 
as of the balance sheet date (previous year: €2,383 
thousand).

Dividends. At the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting 
on 19 May 2015, it was decided not to distribute 
any dividends from H&R AG’s annual net income 
for financial year 2014 as determined in accord-
ance with the German Commercial Code (HGB). 
Because the separate financial statements for H&R 
AG did not report a distributable profit for the re-
porting year, the Executive Board did not present 
any proposal for the appropriation of net income to 
the Supervisory Board. 

(23) Other Reserves
Other reserves refer to the cumulative total other 
comprehensive income and include the currency- 
translation adjustment, adjustments from marking- 
to-market financial assets and cash-flow hedges. 
As of the balance sheet date, reserves relating to 
the marking-to-market of securities totaled €195 
thousand (previous year: €265 thousand). Re-
serves totaling €2,797 thousand for cash-flow 
hedges were reversed during the financial year 
because the associated hedged item was retired. 
The foreign-currency translation adjustment to-
taled €4,519 thousand on the balance sheet date 
(previous year: €2,958 thousand).

(24) Non-controlling Interests
Non-controlling interests include shares of earn-
ings and capital held by shareholders outside 
the Group; during the year under review, these 
changed as follows.
 

€ THOUSAND 2015 2014

Status as of 1/1 39,802 -79 

Addition from contribution of 
Chinese businesses – 34,261 

Addition from capital increase  
in subsidiaries – 4,974 

Currency translation differences 2,578 852 

Proportionate shares of net 
income or loss -96 -206 

Disposals -16 –

Status as of 31/12 42,268 39,802 

Most of the non-controlling interests are account-
ed for by H&R China Holding GmbH and its sub-
sidiaries who were added to the scope of consoli-
dation in 2014. The non-controlling interest in 
this company totals 49%. 

Notes to the Consolidated Balance Sheet 
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The table below shows a summary of financial 
data for H&R China Holding GmbH:

 

€ THOUSAND 31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Current assets 50,407 72,613

Non-current assets 86,811 86,849 

Current liabilities 42,830 69,958 

Non-current liabilities 7,974 8,118

Net assets 86,414 81,386

Non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of net assets 42,343 39,879 

€ THOUSAND 2015 Oct.–Dec. 2014

Earnings 108,944 25,403

Expenses -109,083 -25,796

Net income/loss -139 -393

Non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of net income/loss -68 -192

Other net income/loss 5,166 1,707

Non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of other net income/loss 2,532 836

Total comprehensive income 5,027 1,314

Non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of total comprehensive income 2,464 644

Cash flow from operating activities 4,907 -4,537

Non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of cash flow from operating activities 2,404 -2,223

Cash flow from investing activities -2,016 -75

Non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of cash flow from investing activities -988 -37

Cash flow from financing activities -20,254 18,849

Non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of cash flow from financing activities -9,924 9,236
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(25) Research and Development Costs
In financial year 2015, research and develop-
ment activities in the Chemical-Pharmaceuticals 
Division focused on optimising product qualities 
in the product areas of formulated oils, paraffins 
and white oils. Research and development costs 
were incurred in the Plastics Division for testing 
and experiments concerning new materials in the 
plastics area as well as research relating to the 
possibility of increased implementation of plastic 
components in various sectors.

Expenses incurred in 2015 for research and de-
velopment amounted to €1,955 thousand (previ-
ous year: €1,909 thousand). For further informa-
tion regarding research and development costs 
we refer the reader to the pertinent section in the 
Management Report.

(26) Revenue
Sales revenue – less revenue reductions – is rec-
ognised at the time when the service is provided 
or upon the transfer of risk to the customer. The 
Segment Report gives an overview of the growth 
of sales by division and by geographical segment 
[see note (35)].

(27) Other Operating Income
 

€ THOUSAND 2015 2014

Exchange rate gains from foreign 
currency items 12,614 5,822 

Income from services 5,107 5,366

Income from passing on costs 3,402 2,986 

Income from insurances claims 1,689 13

Income from disposal of assets 4,833 45

Income from release of provisions 612 1,503 

Income from rents and leases 1,217 1,115 

Others 2,917 1,892

Total 32,391 18,742 

The income from passing on costs results main-
ly from re-invoicing consumption taxes, project- 
related costs and other costs to the companies 
in which there is a participating interest, West-

falen Chemie GmbH & Co. KG and SRS EcoTherm 
GmbH.

(28) Cost of Materials
 

€ THOUSAND 2015 2014

Raw materials 509,731 700,758 

Supplies 15,607 12,866 

Trade goods 145,845 129,778 

Expenditure for raw, auxiliary 
and operating materials and for 
purchased goods 671,183 843,402 

Energy costs 36,994 35,843 

Other external services 1,213 2,105 

Total expenditure on purchased 
services 38,207 37,948 

Total 709,390 881,350 

(29) Personnel Expenses
 

€ THOUSAND 2015 2014

Wages and salaries 67,084 61,680 

Social security payments 10,896 9,672 

Benefit oriented pension plan 
expenses 1,083 853 

Contribution oriented pension plan 
expenses 498 454 

Other social security expenses 300 48 

Total 79,861 72,707 

Amounts arising from the interest compounding of 
personnel provisions, particularly pension provi-
sions, are not reported as personnel expenses. They 
are reported with the interest income/expense as 
part of the financial result.

AVERAGE NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

 2015 2014

ChemPharm Refining 628 614

ChemPharm Sales 339 221

Plastics 573 578

Others 30 24

Total 1,570 1,437
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(30) Other Operating Expenses
 

€ THOUSAND 2015 2014

Freight costs, dispatch systems  
and other distribution costs 24,355 18,152 

Third-party goods and services 13,194 12,009 

Third-party repairs and 
 maintenance 13,778 12,976

Loss from foreign currency trans-
lation 13,886 6,430 

Rents and leases 8,970 8,031 

IT costs 7,365 6,533 

Legal and consultancy costs, costs 
for year-end accounts and share-
holders’ meeting 5,166 5,523 

Other personnel costs 3,438 3,124 

Commissions 1,795 2,553 

Insurance premiums, fees and 
contributions 3,052 3,047 

Costs passed on 3,081 2,973

Leasing costs 2,299 2,097 

Travel expenses 1,586 1,046 

Others 10,541 7,856

Total 112,506 92,350 

(31) Financial Income
 

€ THOUSAND 2015 2014

Interest income from short-term bank 
deposits 512 267

Income from loans 20 20

Other interest and similar income 219 225

Total interest income 751 512

Income from derivatives 1,917 4

Other financial income 12 148

Miscellaneous financial income 1,929 152

Financial income 2,680 664

(32) Financial Expenses
 

€ THOUSAND 2015 2014

Interest expense relating to loan 
interest 7,094 5,859 

Interest expenses from derivatives 2,437 2,607

Interest expense from the compound-
ing of pension provisions 1,736 2,293 

Credit commission 369 296 

Other interest and similar expenses 1,586 1,938 

Total interest expense 13,222 12,993

Expenses related to derivatives 3,915 1,330

Other financial expenses – 1

Miscellaneous financial expenses 3,915 1,331

Financial expenses 17,137 14,324 

(33) Income Tax
Since 1 January 2009, the net income of German 
companies has been subject to a uniform corpo-
ration tax rate of 15% plus a solidarity surcharge 
of 5.5%. In conjunction with a trade tax burden 
of 12.98% (prior year: 12.98%), this amounts 
to a combined income tax rate for the Group in 
Germany of 28.81% (prior year: 28.81%). In-
come tax rates for companies abroad are between 
17% and 30%. The interest due on follow-up tax 
payments has been included in interest expense. 
Deferred income tax expense includes changes in 
deferred tax assets and liabilities.

Taxes on income paid or owed in individual coun-
tries as well as tax accruals and deferrals are 
shown as income taxes. They are made up as fol-
lows:
 

€ THOUSAND 2015 2014

Current income tax expenses -10,799 -4,391

Current income tax refunds 726 – 

Total current taxes -10,073 -4,391

Deferred taxes from  
timing differences 3,034 -3,551

Deferred taxes from  
loss carry-forwards -368 165

Total deferred taxes 2,666 -3,386

Total -7,407 -7,777
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In accordance with IAS 12.34, a deferred tax asset 
is recognized for a tax loss carryforward available 
as of the reporting date if it is considered prob-
able that there will be sufficient future taxable 
profit against which the loss carryforward can be 
utilized. At H&R AG, tax loss carryforwards led to 
the recognition of €11,292 thousand of deferred 
tax assets (previous year: €11,611 thousand). 
Overall, in Group companies that reported a loss 
in the prior or the current year, deferred tax as-
sets totaling €13,547 thousand were recognized 
(previous year: €16,599 thousand). Recognition 
of the deferred tax assets is justified since the 
Group expects positive future taxable income to 
exceed the impact on earnings caused by the re-
versal of the temporary differences.

Besides the deferred tax assets recognized for 
loss carryforwards, there are also domestic corpo-
ration tax losses in the amount of €18,742 thou-
sand (previous year: €27,675 thousand), trade 
tax losses of €16,352 thousand (previous year: 
€24,753 thousand) and deductible temporary dif-
ferences totaling €1,866 thousand (previous year: 
€3,375 thousand) whose realization is not suffi-
ciently guaranteed and for which therefore no de-
ferred tax assets have been recognized. Domestic 
loss carryforwards are mainly attributable to the 
tax entity. Based on current laws, the tax carry-
forwards cannot expire. As of the balance sheet 
date, foreign loss carryforwards totaled €12,804 
thousand (previous year: €6,868 thousand) and 
may mostly be utilized without restriction with-

in a period of 1 to 5 years. The tax expense was 
reduced by €2,556 thousand in the year under 
review through the capitalization of previously 
unrecognized deferred tax assets relating to loss 
carryforwards.

For revalued defined-benefit pension obligations, 
deferred tax assets totaling €1,360 thousand 
were reversed (previous year: addition of €5,074 
thousand) and recognized in Other comprehen-
sive income. Reversal of the cash-flow hedge re-
serve due to the retirement of the hedged item 
resulted in the reclassification of deferred taxes to 
the income statement, which led to a reduction of 
€1,118 thousand (previous year: €380 thousand) 
in Other comprehensive income. The change in 
financial assets available for sale measured at 
fair value led to a change in the deferred taxes 
recognized in Other comprehensive income (with 
no effect on profit or loss) in the amount of €-69 
thousand (prior year: €52 thousand). 

For €11,852 thousand of temporary differences 
in the retained earnings of subsidiaries (previous 
year: €12,266 thousand), no deferred tax liabili-
ties were recognized, because H&R Group is able 
to control the timing of the reversal of the tempo-
rary differences, as stipulated in IAS 12.39. 

The expected income tax expense and the report-
ed income tax expense can be reconciled as fol-
lows:

 

€ THOUSAND 2015 2014

Earnings before taxes 34,766 -7,831 

Theoretical income tax expense 28.81% (prior year: 28.81%) 10,015 -2,256 

Effects from tax rate differences -2,110 -1,161 

Effects from previous years’ taxes -3,453 2,216 

Tax effects from the reversing of deferred taxes -2,319 59 

Non-deductible operating expenses 1,318 900 

Goodwill Impairment 864 – 

Tax-exempt income -317 -292

Foreign withholding tax 1,018 240 

Effects from changes in tax rates -12 100

Deferred tax assets on losses carried forwards not capitalized 1,083 6,929

Utilization of tax loss carried forwards -51 -149

Deferred tax asset allowances 1,237 1,215

Other tax effects 134 -24 

Income tax expense per Group income statement 7,407 7,777 

Notes to the Consolidated Income Statement
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The total deferred tax assets and liabilities ac-
cording to the Group Financial Statements derive 
from the following individual balance sheet items:

 

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

€ THOUSAND

Deferred tax 
assets

Deferred tax 
liabilities

Deferred tax 
assets

Deferred tax 
liabilities

Intangible assets 1,359 11,313 1,238 11,894 

Fixed assets 303 7,588 342 6,464 

Financial assets 268 873 570 1,403 

Inventories 291 5 250 837 

Receivables and other assets 400 202 258 570 

Provisions for pensions 9,528 – 11,165 – 

Other provisions 706 38 356 86 

Liabilities 1,790 426 1,338 119 

Tax losses carried forward 11,292 – 11,611 – 

Subtotal 25,937 20,445 27,128 21,373 

 of which long-term 12,826 19,612 15,014 19,218 

Netting -11,981 -11,981 -10,059 -10,059 

Total 13,956 8,464 17,069 11,314 

(34) Earnings per Share
Earnings per share are determined according to 
IAS 33 (Earnings per Share) by dividing net in-
come by the weighted average number of ordi-
nary shares in issue during the year. The capital 
increase as at September 25th 2014 led to an 
increase of subscibed capital of H&R Aktienge-
sellschaft. The average number of ordinary shares 
developed as follows:
 

 2015 2014

Number of shares issued at the 
beginning of the period 35,820,154 29,973,112 

Additional shares issued on 
 25. Sep 2014 – 5,847,042 

Number of shares issued at the 
end of the period 35,820,154 35,820,154 

Average number of shares in 
circulation 35,820,154 31,526,984 

€ THOUSAND 2015 2014

Net profit/loss to shareholders 
in thousand € 27,455 -15,402 

Ordinary shares 35,820,154 31,526,984 

Earnings per share  
(undiluted) in € 0.77 -0.49 

Earnings per share  
(diluted) in € 0.77 -0.49 

The diluted earnings per share ratio is equal to 
the basic earnings per share ratio, because H&R 
Aktiengesellschaft has not issued any potentially 
dilutive ordinary shares.
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(35) Segment Reporting
Pursuant to IFRS 8, the reporting operating seg-
ments were determined by identifying the indi-
vidual divisions whose performance is monitored 
in the context of internal reporting as a basis for 
management decisions.

The summary listing of the operating segments 
subject to separate, internal reporting is per-
formed in accordance with IFRS 8.12, which stip-
ulates that all of the following must be compar-
able within each segment: the nature of products 
and services; the types of production processes; 
the class or category of customers for products 
and services as well as the methods used to mar-
ket products and services.

The ChemPharm Refining segment includes both 
the chemical-production sites in Germany where 
lubricant refining takes place and where the pro-
duction processes, organizational structures and 
distribution networks are closely interlinked. This 
segment’s main products are paraffins, white oils, 
plasticizers, base oils, lubricants and other crude-
oil-based specialty products.

The ChemPharm Sales segment encompasses 
foreign companies involved in the processing of 
chemical-pharmaceutical raw materials and in 
the distribution of these new products and other 
merchandise. These are mainly paraffins, plasti-
cizers, wax emulsions and other crude-oil-based 
specialty products. In the future, the newly con-
solidated Chinese companies will therefore be 
part of the ChemPharm Sales segment.

The Plastics Division comprises the development, 
manufacture and sales of highly precise plas-
tic parts produced using the injection moulding 
method.

“Other activities” are those associated with 
non-operating companies as well as segments 
exempt from mandatory reporting. This includes 
H&R AG, which as a holding company is respon-
sible for the strategic leadership of the Group 
companies organised in the various segments and 
decides on the efficient allocation of funds within 
the Group. In addition, the other activities seg-
ment generates income from IT services and the 
leasing of land and buildings.

The list of shareholdings shows which segment 
each Group company belongs to.

The operating development of the segments and 
further information on their products and activi-
ties are described in the combined Management 
Report.

Remarks Concerning Segmental Data. Inter-
company sales report the level of sales between 
the segments. Sales and proceeds between the 
segments are essentially accounted for on an 
arm’s length basis. The sum of external and in-
ternal sales provides the segmental sales figure.

The consolidation column contains elimina-
tions of all intercompany transactions as well as  
intra-divisional payables and receivables.

The valuation principles for H&R AG’s segmen-
tal reporting are based on the IFRS guidelines 
applied in the consolidated financial statements. 
The geographical distribution of external sales 
is calculated according to the locations of the  
respective customers. The assets and investments 
are assigned to the regions on the basis of the 
pertinent company’s domicile.
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Chemical and Pharmaceutical Raw Materials Plastics Reconciliation

ChemPharm Refining ChemPharm Sales Plastics Others Consolidation/Reconciliation Total

€ THOUSAND 2015 2014 2015 2014  2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

External sales 602,656 757,407 320,152 244,727  60,099 56,488 – – – – 982,907 1,058,622

Intercompany sales 11,600 11,306 – –  – – – – -11,600 -11,306 – – 

Sales by segment 614,256 768,713 320,152 244,727  60,099 56,488 – – -11,600 -11,306 982,907 1,058,622 

Depreciation, amortization and impairments -21,050 -19,593 -13,324 -2,963  -1,759 -2,603 -636 -480 – – -36,769 -25,639 

 of which impairment losses – -69 -4,794 –  – -492 -332 – – – -5,126 -561 

Interest income 8 11 498 288  5 6 8,258 10,612 -8,018 -10,405 751 512 

Interest expenses -7,525 -10,521 -3,379 -1,683  -1,377 -1,526 -12,876 -10,994 8,020 10,401 -17,137 -14,323 

Earnings before income taxes 24,710 -11,903 18,895 16,072  -3,968 -5,647 -4,863 -6,267 -8 -86 34,766 -7,831 

EBIT 32,226 -1,394 21,776 15,791  -2,608 -4,151 -2,161 -4,335 -10 -82 49,223 5,829 

EBITDA 53,276 18,199 35,100 18,754  -849 -1,548 -1,525 -3,855 -10 -82 85,992 31,468 

Assets 297,640 329,560 212,345 228,005  30,147 37,936 128,112 27,344 -39,485 83,772 628,759 706,617 

Debts 44,751 89,779 47,241 58,879  6,204 10,243 6,955 8,921 236,480 289,892 341,631 457,714 

Capital expenditures 23,976 18,147 6,707 4,627  1,066 802 253 130 – – 32,002 23,706 

Result of shareholdings reported at-equity 336 124 – –  – – – – – – 336 124 

Holdings in affiliates valued with the at-equity method 790 578 – –  – – 185 185 – – 975 763 

H&R AG generated sales of €451.2 million with 
one customer in the Chemical-Pharm Refining 
segment (previous year: €553.7 million). Exter-
nal sales in the Chem-Pharm Refining segment 

include revenues from services rendered totaling 
€70.6 million (previous year: €67.1 million). All 
other sales revenues are derived from the delivery 
of products.

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

Assets long-term External sales

€ THOUSAND 31/12/2015 31/12/2014 2015 2014

Germany 200,031 200,668 548,762 695,827

Rest of Europe 4,285 4,554 125,818 134,035

Rest of world 120,557 122,851 308,327 228,760

Group 324,873 328,073 982,907 1,058,622

RECONCILIATION OF THE OPERATING RESULT TO THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME AFTER TAXES

€ THOUSAND 2015 2014

Operating result of segments (EBITDA) 87,527 35,405

Reconciliation/Consolidation -1,535 -3,937

Operating result of H&R AG (EBITDA) 85,992 31,468

Depreciation -36,769 -25,639

Financial result -14,457 -13,660

Income Taxes -7,407 -7,777

Income after taxes 27,359 -15,608
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(36)  Notes to the Consolidated  
Cash Flow Statement

The cash flow statement has been prepared in ac-
cordance with the stipulations of IAS 7. It shows 
the origin and use of cash flows.

The statement of cash flows divides the payment 
streams into the three areas of operating busi-
ness, investment activity and financing activity.

The reported financial resources consist of bank 
deposits, cash positions and cheques.

Net operating expenses, earnings and income 
from disposals of property, plant and equipment 
are eliminated from cash flow from operating ac-
tivities. Interest paid and interest received, as well 
as income taxes paid and outstanding, are allocat-
ed to this area. Cash flow from operating activities 
is calculated using the indirect method.

Cash flow from investment activities includes net 
investments in intangible, fixed and financial as-
sets, including holdings consolidated for the first 
time in the financial year.

Cash flow from financing activity includes new 
and redeemed financial liabilities and liabilities 
from financial leasing and dividend payments.

The general form of presentation of the statement 
of cash flows and the utilisation of reporting op-
tions are unchanged from the previous period.

The cash flow statement is supplemented by a 
cash reconciliation.

(37) Financial Instruments

(37.1) General Information
The original financial instruments primarily com-
prise other financial investments, receivables, 
short-term securities and cash and cash equiva-
lents on the assets side. Financial assets available 
for disposal are reported at fair value. Other finan-
cial assets are reported at historical costs. The fair 
values of financial assets available for disposal are 
derived from the stock market prices or are calcu-
lated on the basis of recognised valuation meth-
ods. In the case of other financial assets, we work 
on the assumption that fair value corresponds to 
the book value. 

Additional Notes

 

Chemical and Pharmaceutical Raw Materials Plastics Reconciliation

ChemPharm Refining ChemPharm Sales Plastics Others Consolidation/Reconciliation Total

€ THOUSAND 2015 2014 2015 2014  2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

External sales 602,656 757,407 320,152 244,727  60,099 56,488 – – – – 982,907 1,058,622

Intercompany sales 11,600 11,306 – –  – – – – -11,600 -11,306 – – 

Sales by segment 614,256 768,713 320,152 244,727  60,099 56,488 – – -11,600 -11,306 982,907 1,058,622 

Depreciation, amortization and impairments -21,050 -19,593 -13,324 -2,963  -1,759 -2,603 -636 -480 – – -36,769 -25,639 

 of which impairment losses – -69 -4,794 –  – -492 -332 – – – -5,126 -561 

Interest income 8 11 498 288  5 6 8,258 10,612 -8,018 -10,405 751 512 

Interest expenses -7,525 -10,521 -3,379 -1,683  -1,377 -1,526 -12,876 -10,994 8,020 10,401 -17,137 -14,323 

Earnings before income taxes 24,710 -11,903 18,895 16,072  -3,968 -5,647 -4,863 -6,267 -8 -86 34,766 -7,831 

EBIT 32,226 -1,394 21,776 15,791  -2,608 -4,151 -2,161 -4,335 -10 -82 49,223 5,829 

EBITDA 53,276 18,199 35,100 18,754  -849 -1,548 -1,525 -3,855 -10 -82 85,992 31,468 

Assets 297,640 329,560 212,345 228,005  30,147 37,936 128,112 27,344 -39,485 83,772 628,759 706,617 

Debts 44,751 89,779 47,241 58,879  6,204 10,243 6,955 8,921 236,480 289,892 341,631 457,714 

Capital expenditures 23,976 18,147 6,707 4,627  1,066 802 253 130 – – 32,002 23,706 

Result of shareholdings reported at-equity 336 124 – –  – – – – – – 336 124 

Holdings in affiliates valued with the at-equity method 790 578 – –  – – 185 185 – – 975 763 
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On the liabilities side, financial instruments main-
ly contain liabilities valued at historical cost. The 
stock of financial instruments is reported in the 
balance sheet. The level of the financial assets 
corresponds to the maximum default risk. If de-
fault risks are identifiable with respect to finan-
cial assets, these risks are reported using value 
adjustments.

As an international company, in the course of its 
ordinary business activities the H&R Group is ex-
posed to risks from raw material prices, curren-
cy fluctuations and interest rate changes. Details 
concerning the risk management system used to 
deal with these risks can be found in note (46), 
Risk Management Policy, Capital Management 
and Hedging Measures.

(37.2)  Information Concerning  
Derivatives

Derivative financial instruments are employed to 
hedge foreign exchange risks from the operat-
ing business and risks from changes in interest 
rates related to financing transactions. The types 
of instruments employed are primarily foreign 
currency forward transactions as well as inter-
est rate hedging transactions such as caps and  
interest-rate swaps.

There were no balance sheet based hedging oper-
ations as at 31 December 2015.

The following tables show the reported fair values 
of the various derivative financial instruments as 
of 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014.

NOMINAL AND MARKET VALUES OF DERIVATIVES 2015

 Nominal value Currency Maturity

Carrying amounts 
31/12/2015 
€ thousand

Interest rate swap € thousand 40,000 € until 2016 -1,133

Interest rate swap € thousand 40,000 € until 2018 -3,604

Currency forward
US$ thousand 

10,306 $ until 2016 -6

NOMINAL AND MARKET VALUES OF DERIVATIVES  2014

 Nominal value Currency Maturity

Carrying amounts 
31/12/2014 
€ thousand

Interest rate swap € thousand 40,000 € until 2016 -2,186 

Interest rate swap € thousand 40,000 € until 2018 -4,467 

Currency forward US$ thousand 8,879 $ until 2015 6

All subsequent changes in the fair value of the 
derivatives are immediately recognized in profit 
or loss. The amount recognized in Other compre-
hensive income up to the date when the hedging 
instrument expires will be reversed through profit 
or loss over the remaining life of the derivatives. 
Because the hedged item was retired in 2015, 
the entire remaining amount was reclassified to 
earnings for the period, leading to an expense 
of €3,915 thousand (previous year: €1,330 thou-
sand). Similarly, relevant pro-rata deferred taxes 
amounting to €1,118 thousand (previous year: 
€380 thousand) were recognized as tax income.

In financial year 2015, the net profit on financial 
instruments measured at fair value through prof-
it or loss totaled €1,916 thousand (previous year: 
net loss of €244 thousand). 
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Additional Notes

(37.3) Maturity Analysis
The H&R Group’s liquidity risk consists of contrac-
tually agreed obligations to make future interest 
rate and amortisation payments for financial liabil-

ities and derivative financial instruments. The ma-
turities of these undiscounted payment streams 
are shown in the table below:

2015

Cash flows 2016 Cash flows 2017

€ THOUSAND Book value Interest Redemption Interest Redemption

Trade accounts payable 53,343 – 53,343 – –

Liabilities to banks 161,000 4,602 82,752 3,484 12,513

Finance lease liabilities 374 – 357 – 17

Liabilities arising out of derivatives without  
balance sheet based hedging relationships 4,743 – 2,374 – 1,184

Other financial liabilities 7,090 53 7,088 – – 

2015

Cash flows 2018–2020 Cash flows 2021–2025 Cash flows 2026 ff.

€ THOUSAND Interest Redemption Interest Redemption Interest Redemption

Trade payables – – – – – – 

Liabilities to banks 3,641 53,455 722 12,280 – –

Finance lease liabilities – – – – – – 

Liabilities arising out of derivatives without 
balance sheet based hedging relationships – 1,184 – – – – 

Other financial liabilities – – – 2 – –

2014 

Cash flows 2015 Cash flows 2016

€ THOUSAND Book value Interest Redemption Interest Redemption

Trade accounts payable 112,415 – 112,415 – – 

Liabilities to banks 208,069 4,698 52,018 4,230 71,904 

Finance lease liabilities 960 45 595 9 347 

Liabilities arising out of derivatives without  
balance sheet based hedging relationships 6,653 2,275 2,308 2,269 2,030 

Other financial liabilities 9,912 – 9,910 – – 

2014 

Cash flows 2017–2019 Cash flows 2020–2024 Cash flows 2025 ff.

€ THOUSAND Interest Amortisation Interest Amortisation Interest Amortisation

Trade payables – – – – – – 

Liabilities to banks 4,928 77,897 178 6,250 – – 

Finance lease liabilities – 18 – – – – 

Liabilities arising out of derivatives without 
balance sheet based hedging relationships 2,263 2,315 – – – – 

Other financial liabilities – – – 2 – – 
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(37.4)  Information on Categories of 
Financial Instruments

According to IFRS 7, financial assets and liabilities 
have to be grouped in such a way that a distinc-
tion can be made between financial instruments 
reported at actual cash value and others valued at 
historical cost.

The following table shows the book values of the 
individual financial instruments and liabilities for 
each individual financial instrument category. To-
gether with the details of the financial instruments 
reported at fair value, the reconciliation against 
the balance sheet items serves to give the reader 
an insight into the type and nature of the financial 
instruments held by H&R AG.

31/12/2015    

Balance sheet valuation acc. to IAS 39

€ THOUSAND

Valuation 
category 

according to 
IAS 39 Book value

Acquisition 
costs carried 

forward

Fair value 
without 

impact on net 
income

Fair value 
with impact 

on net income

Balance sheet 
assumptions 
according to 

IAS 17
Fair value (for  

information)

Assets        

Cash and cash equivalents LaR 79,274 79,274    79,274

Trade accounts receivable LaR 98,838 98,838    98,838

Other financial assets        

Loans and receivables LaR 3,592 3,592    3,592

Other securities short-term FAHfT 152   152   

Financial Assets  
Available for Sale AfS 2,127 1,055 1,072    

Liabilities        

Trade accounts payable FLAC 53,343 53,343    53,343

Liabilities to banks FLAC 161,000 161,000    168,573

Other financial liabilities        

Finance lease liabilities  374    374  

Derivatives without hedging 
relationship FLHfT 4,743   4,743   

Other financial liabilities FLAC 7,090 7,090     

Loans and Receivables LaR 181,704 181,704     

Financial Assets  
Available for Sale AfS 2,127 1,055 1,072    

Financial Assets  
Held for Trading FAHfT 152   152   

Financial Liabilities 
 Measured at Amortized Cost FLAC 221,433 221,433     

Financial Liabilities  
Held for Trading FLHfT 4,743   4,743   
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31/12/2014    

Balance sheet valuation acc. to IAS 39

€ THOUSAND

Valuation 
category 

according to 
IAS 39 Book value

Acquisition 
costs carried 

forward

Fair value 
without 

impact on net 
income

Fair value 
with impact 

on net income

Balance sheet 
assumptions 
according to 

IAS 17

Fair value  
(for  

information)

Assets        

Cash and cash equivalents LaR 101,558 101,558    101,558 

Trade accounts receivable LaR 105,598 105,598    105,598 

Other financial assets        

Loans and receivables LaR 3,068 3,068    3,068 

Other securities short-term FAHfT 163   163   

Financial Assets  
Available for Sale AfS 2,128 1,055 1,073   2,128 

Other financial assets LaR 889 889    889 

Liabilities        

Trade accounts payable FLAC 112,415 112,415    112,415 

Liabilities to banks FLAC 208,069 208,069    217,859 

Other financial liabilities        

Finance lease liabilities  960    960  

Derivatives without hedging 
relationship FLHfT 6,653   6,653   

Other financial liabilities FLAC 9,912 9,912    9,912

Loans and Receivables LaR 211,113 211,113     

Financial Assets  
Available for Sale AfS 2,128 1,055 1,073    

Financial Assets  
Held for Trading FAHfT 163   163   

Financial Liabilities 
 Measured at Amortized Cost FLAC 330,396 330,396     

Financial Liabilities  
Held for Trading FLHfT 6,653   6,653   

Since trade accounts receivable and trade  
accounts payable, other financial assets and other 
financial liabilities as well as cash and cash equiv-
alents generally have short-term maturities, their 
fair value will not deviate significantly from their 
carrying amount as of the reporting date. The 
actual cash value of other long-term receivables 
and liabilities with remaining maturities of more 
than one year will correspond to the cash value of 
their associated payments, subject to the relevant  
interest-rate parameter.

Additional Notes
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Net Results by Valuation Category. The ex-
penses, income, profits and losses arising from 
financial instruments can be broken down as fol-
lows:

2015

IN € THOUSAND

Loans and  
receivables (LaR) 

Financial assets 
held for trading

Financial  
liabilities  

held for trading

Financial  
liabilities  

measured at 
amortized cost Total

Interest income 750 1 – – 751

Interest expense – – -2,437 -8,401 -10,838

Impairments -173 – – – -173

Other financial expenses/income -153 – -2,012 29 -2,136

Net income/(loss) 424 1 -4,449 -8,372 -12,396

2014

IN € THOUSAND

Loans and  
receivables (LaR)

Financial assets 
held for trading

Financial  
liabilities  

held for trading

Financial  
liabilities  

measured at 
amortized cost Total

Interest income 507 5 – – 512

Interest expense -44 – -2,607 -7,508 -10,159

Impairments -211 – – – -211

Other financial expens-es/income 259 -30 -1,162 155 -778

Net income/(loss) 511 -25 -3,769 -7,353 -10,636

There were no reclassifications to the income 
statement relating to financial instruments avail-
able for sale; losses recognized in Other compre-
hensive income totaled €1 thousand (previous 
year: gain of €82 thousand). As in the previous 
year, other financial expenses relating to assets 
and liabilities held for trading included changes in 
the fair values of derivative financial instruments 
and realized losses relating to cash-flow hedges 
totaling €3,915 thousand (previous year: €1,330 
thousand) which were reclassified from Other 
comprehensive income to the income statement.

(37.5)  Additional Information Con-
cerning Financial Instruments

GAUDLITZ GmbH holds financial assets for sale 
in the form of securities reported at fair value 
as of the reporting date. The reported market  
value was €1,072 thousand (previous year: 
€1,073 thousand).

The measurement of fair values on first level is 
based on quoted (non-adjusted) prices in active 
markets for similar assets or liabilities. If this 
is not applicable, second level measurement is 
based on comparable market transactions di-
rectly or indirectly observable in the market. The 
third level uses models to measure fair values by 
means of parameters for the assessment of assets 
and liabilities that are based on non-observable 
market data.

Financial instruments of H&R AG recognised at 
fair value are allocated to the levels as described 
before as follows: 
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31/12/2015 31/12/2014

€ THOUSAND Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets       

Financial Assets Available for Sale 1,072 – – 1,073 – – 

Financial Assets Held for Trading 152 – – 163 – – 

Total 1,224 – – 1,236 – – 

Liabilities and equity       

Derivatives without hedging relationship – 4,743 – – 6,653 – 

Total – 4,743 – – 6,653 – 

The Level 2 financial liabilities are interest rate 
swaps carried on the balance sheet at their fair 
value. The fair values are determined by means 
of interest rate curves observable on the market. 
There were no reclassifications among the indi-
vidual levels in financial year 2015.

The following table represents the allocation of 
the fair values of the financial instruments carried 
on the balance sheet at book value to the different 
levels:

ALLOCATION OF FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

€ THOUSAND 31/12/2015 31/12/2014

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Liabilities and equity       

Liabilities to banks – 168,573 – – 217,859   –

The fair values are determined by means of in-
terest rate curves observable on the market. The 
expected payment flows were appropriately dis-
counted. There were no reclassifications among 
the individual levels in financial year 2015.

No offsetting between financial assets and finan-
cial liabilities took place as no netting agreements 
were in existence.

For the presentation of market risks, IFRS 7 de-
mands sensitivity analyses showing the impact of 
hypothetical changes in relevant risk variables on 
earnings and equity. This assumes that the posi-
tion on the reporting date is representative of the 
whole year.

The open foreign currency positions of the most 
significant foreign currencies as of the reporting 
date are documented below.

31/12/2015  

  US$ thousand GBP thousand SAR thousand AUD thousand THB thousand

Cash and cash equivalents + 2,700 3,475 8,788 5,776 1,614,866

Trade accounts receivable + 6,233 1,460 173,429 2,940 158,603

of which currency hedged - 10,306 – – – –

Financial liabilities - 3,211 360 154,086 1,984 253,352

 of which currency hedged + – – – – –

Net exposure = -4,584 4,575 28,131 6,732 1,520,117

Additional Notes
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31/12/2014  

  US$ thousand GBP thousand SAR thousand AUD thousand THB thousand

Cash and cash equivalents + 11,724 3,555 74,863 14,151 940,517

Trade accounts receivable + 6,619 1,260 217,874 5,404 228,620

of which currency hedged - 8,879 – – – –

Financial liabilities - 2,357 243 204,460 5,831 279,097

 of which currency hedged + – – – 1,556 –

Net exposure = 7,107 4,572 88,277 15,280 890,040

For the currency risk, a sensitivity analysis is car-
ried out using the US dollar as an example, as 
this is the most important foreign currency for the 
Group. The indirect quotation for the US dollar 
against the euro stood at US$1.09/€ as of 31 De-
cember 2015, as against US$1.38/€ as of 31 De-
cember 2014. Assuming a realistic range of fluc-
tuation of +/-10% in the exchange rate as of the 
reporting date, the impact in terms of profit (+) or 
loss (-) would be as follows:
  

2015 2014

€ THOUSAND US$ 0.98/€ US$ 1.20/€ US$ 1.09/€ US$ 1.34/€

Impact 
(before 
taxes) -468 383 650 -532

A sensitivity analysis for interest-rate risk is per-
formed for loans with variable interest rates. On 
the 31 December 2015 balance sheet date, a hy-
pothetical 0.5% (or 50 basis-point) increase in 
the interest rate would have increased interest ex-
pense by €413 thousand and reduced the amount 
of share capital shown accordingly. 

In the operating business, the outstanding bal-
ances are continuously monitored at the divi-
sional level, i.e., locally. Insofar as the Hansen & 
Rosenthal Group handles sales and distribution, 
details are also integrated into its monitoring sys-
tem. Default risks are addressed through individ-
ual impairments and global impairments. 

Non-recoverable receivables are derecognized 
and the impairment recorded in the allowance 
for doubtful accounts (contra-asset account) is re-
versed. When a doubtful receivable is collected, 
the previous impairment is reversed. 

The maximum default risk is reflected in the car-
rying amounts of the financial assets reported in 
the balance sheet, including free-standing deriv-

atives with a positive market value. As of the re-
porting date, there were no material agreements 
in place that reduce the maximum default risk.

(38) Purchase Commitments
Capital expenditures for which contractual obli-
gations exist on the reporting date but which have 
not yet been incurred totaled €6,099 thousand 
as of 31 December 2015 (previous year: €1,712 
thousand).

(39) Contingent Liabilities
On the balance sheet date, H&R AG had joint li-
ability for pension commitments totaling €52 
thousand (previous year: €61 thousand). As of  
31 December 2014, the outstanding liability con-
tributions relating to Westfalen Chemie GmbH & 
Co. KG totaled €1,187 thousand.

Subsoil contaminated with compounds typical of 
explosives was discovered some time ago on a 
piece of land belonging to a Group company that 
was used to produce explosive materials. The in-
vestigations carried out to date have determined 
that the pollutants cannot be removed using cur-
rent technology. The company is therefore fo-
cusing its ongoing measures on monitoring and 
securing the pollutants and supporting research 
projects into developing more advanced chemi-
cal/physical treatment methods. As the owner of 
the properties, the SYTHENGRUND subsidiary is 
in principle liable for carrying out remediation of 
the legacy contamination. According to the case 
law of the German Federal Constitutional Court, 
liability for environmental pollution is generally 
limited to the market value of the property in a re-
stored condition (BVerfG NJW 2000, 2573/2576). 
This liability cap may be adjusted up or down if 
additional circumstances so dictate. The liability 
cap could be reduced in light of the fact that the 



153 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSNotes

soil contamination is probably attributable to the 
production of armaments during the First and 
Second World Wars. In such a case, the author-
ities would have to review whether the govern-
ment, instead of the property owner, should bear 
primary liability for the legacy contamination.

Part of the operating premises is rented. Clean-up 
obligations are required when the rental agree-
ment is completed. Since claims for compensa-
tion will arise vis-à-vis lessors if they give extraor-
dinary notice of termination or if the long-term 
rental agreement is not extended, no outflow of 
resources is assumed and thus no provision has 
been provided for reinstatement commitments. 
This circumstance is regularly monitored by the 
management.

In connection with deliveries of lubricants, the tax 
authorities are currently investigating whether a 
tax exemption applies or whether value-added 
taxes must be billed retroactively. The total po-
tential risk associated with unpaid value-added 
tax is €8.9 million. However, there are equivalent 
contingent receivable claims arising from rights 
of recourse against customers. H&R estimates the 
probability of occurrence at 20% in each case, 
which is equal to a probability-weighted contin-
gent liability of €1.78 million and a probability-
weighted contingent asset of the same amount.

(40) Other Financial Obligations
The financial obligations resulting from long-term 
rental and lease contracts as well as other obliga-
tions stretching over several years, become appar-
ent from the following table (nominal amounts):
 

€ THOUSAND 31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Due within one year 8,977 8,363

Due > 1 year and 5 years 12,353 10,939

Due > 5 years 21,350 22,456

Total 42,680 41,758

Other financial liabilities mainly include a long-
term rental agreement with Hamburg Port  
Authority, Hamburg.

In addition, other financial liabilities at the Salz-
bergen location include contracts for the delivery 
of natural gas, compressed air and nitrogen as 
well as maintenance and servicing contracts re-
garding the process control system. 

Further information regarding finance and oper-
ate lease contracts can be found in note (11).

Additional Notes
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(41) Governance Bodies of H&R AG

EXECUTIVE BOARD

 Membership of Supervisory or Advisory Boards

Niels H. Hansen  
Chairman of the Executive Board  
Hamburg  –

Detlev Wösten 
Member of the Executive Board in charge of refineries 
Buchholz

Member of the Supervisory Board of Glasgard AG,  
Lollar/Salzböden

SUPERVISORY BOARD

 Membership of Supervisory or Advisory Boards

Dr. Joachim Girg 
Managing Director of H&R Beteiligung GmbH, Hamburg

Member of the Supervisory Board of Hamburger  
Getreide-Lagerhaus Aktiengesellschaft, Hamburg 

Roland Chmiel 
Deputy Chairman  
CPA/Chartered Accountant  
Partner in the law and accounting firm  
Weiss-Walter-Fischer-Zernin, Munich Member of the Supervisory Board of Togal Werk AG, Munich

Nils Hansen 
Managing Partner of H&R Group companies, Hamburg

Member of the Supervisory Board of Otto M. Schröder Bank 
 Aktiengesellschaft, Hamburg

Dr. Rolf Schwedhelm 
Tax Lawyer and Partner at Streck Mack Schwedhelm, Cologne

Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Deutsche Anwalt  
Akademie Gesellschaft für Aus- und Fortbildung sowie 
Serviceleistungen mbH (German Lawyer Academy Society for 
Education, Training and Services), Berlin

Dr.-Ing. Peter J. Seifried 
Chemical Engineer, Independent Consultant  
(Since 19/5/2015)

Chairman of the Executive Board of the German Lubricants 
Industry Association (Verband der Schmierstoffindustrie e.V./
VSI) 
Elected Member of the Executive Board of UNITI, the German 
Association of Small and Medium-Sized Lubricant Manu-
facturers and Retailers (Bundesverband mittelständischer 
Mineralölunternehmen e.V.)  
Member of the Board of trustees and the Board of Directors 
of Oest Group

Anja Krusel 
CFO of Microsoft Deutschland GmbH, Munich 
(Until 19/5/2015)  –

Dr. Hartmut Schütter 
Consulting Engineer, Schwedt/Oder  –

SUPERVISORY BOARD (EMPLOYEE REPRESENTATIVE)

 Membership of Supervisory or Advisory Boards

Reinhold Grothus 
Works Council Chairman at H&R ChemPharm GmbH,  
Salzbergen –

Rainer Metzner  
Works Council Chairman at GAUDLITZ GmbH, Coburg  
(Until 31/1/2016) –

Harald Januszewski 
GAUDLITZ GmbH, Coburg –



155 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSNotes

(42)  Disclosures of Relationships  
with Related Parties according  
to IAS 24

Transactions with related parties were carried out 
on arm’s-length terms. No transactions were car-
ried out with non-consolidated affiliates.

The following goods and services have been ren-
dered for related companies and persons who 
might exercise a significant degree of influence, 
or utilised by them:

TRANSACTIONS WITH HANSEN & ROSENTHAL

Transactions to  
Hansen & Rosenthal

Transactions from  
Hansen & Rosenthal

€ THOUSAND 2015 2014 2015 2014

Supplies of chemical pharmaceutical products 377,662 393,795  94,498 103,266 

Ancillary costs from delivery transactions  
(freight costs, road tolls, etc.) – – 4,309 3,812 

Commission fees 155 799 1,283 1,569 

Other services and passed-through third party related 
costs 74,757 71,201 2,899 1,013

All companies of the majority shareholder Nils 
Hansen, including H&R Beteiligung GmbH as the 
controlling company, are pooled under Hansen & 
Rosenthal (H&R). During the current year, there 
were no business transactions involving H&R 
Beteiligung GmbH.

The supply of goods for chemical-pharmaceuti-
cal products from the Salzbergen site takes place 
under a long-term distribution and supply con-
tract, by which the relevant Hansen & Rosenthal 
company purchases the products and then resells 

them to end customers in its own name and for 
its own account. In addition, Hansen & Rosenthal 
receive a commission fee for deliveries from the 
Hamburg site included in a long-term commis-
sion contract for marketing of certain products. 
Moreover, IT as well as staffing and production-
services are provided to the Hansen & Rosenthal 
Group by subsidiaries of the H&R Group.

The following receivables and liabilities existed 
as of 31 December 2015:

RECEIVABLES AND LIABILITIES DUE TO HANSEN & ROSENTHAL

Receivables from 
Hansen & Rosenthal

Liabilities to 
Hansen & Rosenthal

€ THOUSAND 31/12/2015 31/12/2014 31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Goods and services 22,049 16,004 12,947 14,831 

Other services 23,419 28,574 8,507 6,033 

Total 45,468 44,578 21,454 20,864 

As of 31 December 2015, no trade receivables 
due from Hansen & Rosenthal (previous year: 
€7,482 thousand) had been sold to banks without 
recourse under factoring agreements.

Other receivables mainly concern receivables 
from the commission business (€23,419 thou-
sand, previous year: €28,570 thousand), where 
Hansen & Rosenthal, as commission agent, re-
ceives payments from customers and forwards 
them to H&R AG.

Additional Notes
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The following services were rendered for joint 
ventures, or utilised by them: 

TRANSACTIONS WITH JOINT VENTURES

Provided to joint ventures Received from joint ventures

€ THOUSAND 2015 2014 2015 2014

Purchase of hydrogen and steam – – 1,976 1,840 

Interest income 16 15 – – 

Rental income 41 41 – – 

Services 808 1,078 4,551 4,356 

Total 865 1,134 6,527 6,196 

The following receivables and liabilities existed 
as of 31 December 2015:

RECEIVABLES AND LIABILITIES DUE TO JOINT VENTURES

Receivables from joint ventures Liabilities owed to joint ventures

€ THOUSAND 31/12/2015 31/12/2014 31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Goods and services 473 488 207 205 

Other services 587 375 – – 

Total 1,060 863 207 205 

Executive Board and Supervisory Board. For 
performing their tasks, members of the Executive 
Board received total cash remuneration of €1,056 
thousand (previous year: €840 thousand). Of this 
sum, the performance-related components of 
the remuneration accounted for €450 thousand 
(previous year: €235 thousand). Members of the 
Executive Board receive no share-based remu-
neration and no pension commitments. There 
were no expenses associated with terminating 
the employment agreements of members of the 
Executive Board.

Former members of the Executive Board and their 
surviving dependents received payments totaling 
€202 thousand during the financial year (previous 
year: €208 thousand). For former members of the 
Executive Board and their surviving dependents, 
pension commitments amounted to €3,399 thou-
sand (previous year: €3,412 thousand). 

For members of the Supervisory Board, remuner-
ation included basic remuneration plus additional 
compensation for committee work and fees for 
attending meetings and totaled €391 thousand 
(previous year: €293 thousand).

In addition to their Supervisory Board remunera-
tion, the employee representatives on the Super-
visory Board receive fees that are not related to 
their work for the Supervisory Board. These fees 
totaled €175 thousand in financial year 2015 (pre-
vious year: €177 thousand).  

Members of the Executive Board and the Super-
visory Board receive no loans or advances from 
the company.

Data on the remuneration of individual members 
of the Executive Board and Supervisory Board 
are provided in the Remuneration Report, which 
is an integral part of the combined management 
report. The Remuneration Report can be found in 
Chapter Corporate Governance on p. 32.

In October of 2012, H&R AG established an Advi-
sory Board, which advises the Executive Board. 
Expenses of €120 thousand were incurred for 
the activities of the Advisory Board in 2015 (prior 
year: €120 thousand). In 2015, fees paid to mem-
bers of the governing bodies of H&R AG within 
the scope of consultant agreements amounted to 
€105 thousand (prior year: €107 thousand). As 
of 31 December 2015, liabilities in the amount of 
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€388 thousand (prior year: €321 thousand) exis-
ted in regard to members of the governing bodies.

(43)  Declaration of Conformity in 
 Accordance with Article 161 AktG

The declaration on the German Corporate  
Governance Code specified by Article 161 of the 
German Companies Act (AktG) was submitted in 
December 2015. It is published on the Internet at  
www.hur.com and is included in this annual  
report.

(44)  Group Audit Fees
The following fees for the services provided by 
Warth & Klein Grant Thornton AG Wirtschaftsprü-
fungsgesellschaft were recognized as expenses 
during the financial year:
 

€ THOUSAND 31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Audits 332 496

Other certification or 
valuation services 49 130

Tax advisory services – 8

Other services – 12

Total 381 646

Audit fees include the amounts paid for audit-
ing the consolidated financial statements and 
for the statutory audits of the financial state-
ments of H&R AG and its subsidiaries. The 
 prior-year  figures related to services performed 
by Price waterhouseCoopers Aktiengesellschaft 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft.

(45)  Exemption from Disclosure under 
Article 264 Paragraph 3 HGB

The following fully consolidated subsidiaries 
have elected to make use of the opportunity to 
be released from the requirement of disclosure 
in accordance with Article 264 Paragraph 3 in 
conjunction with Article 325 of the German Com-
mercial Code (HGB), and partly made use of con-
cessions regarding audits and the preparation of 
their financial statements:

– H&R Ölwerke Schindler GmbH
–   H&R Chemisch-Pharmazeutische 

Spezialitäten GmbH

– GAUDLITZ GmbH
– H&R Lube Blending GmbH
– H&R ChemPharm GmbH
– H&R Lube Trading GmbH
– H&R International GmbH
– H&R InfoTech GmbH
– H&R South Africa GmbH
– SYTHENGRUND Wasagchemie Grundstücks -
verwertungsgesellschaft Haltern mbH

(46)  Risk Management Policy, Capital 
Management and Safeguards

However, the operating business as well as the 
financing transactions of the H&R Group, as an 
internationally active company, are subject to dif-
ferent financial risks. These specifically include li-
quidity risk and counterparty default risk, as well 
as risks associated with fluctuations in raw mate-
rial prices, currency exchange rates and interest 
rates. These risks are limited through  systematic 
risk management measures, such as hedging 
transactions.

H&R AG has implemented a Group-wide risk 
management system, which serves as the basis 
for identifying, analysing and valuing these risks, 
so that informed decisions can then be taken with 
regard to preventing or limiting such risks. The 
key components of the risk management systems 
are planning and controlling, Group-internal reg-
ulations and reporting. Regular conferences are 
held to discuss current business developments, 
operational results, potential risks and opportuni-
ties, objectives and management procedures. De-
rivative financial instruments are also utilised in 
this context. The purchase of derivative financial 
instruments for speculative purposes is not per-
mitted. All transactions with derivative financial 
instruments must be approved by the Executive 
Board.

The Group companies are subject to strict risk 
management. Dealing authorisations, respon-
sibilities and supervision procedures are estab-
lished on a binding basis in internal guidelines. 
In this respect, derivative financial instruments 
may not, as a matter of principle, be implement-
ed for speculative purposes, but instead serve to 
hedge against risks in connection with the operat-
ing business. Credit risk exposure to contractual 

Additional Notes
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partners is investigated systematically at the time 
of signing a contract and monitored on an ongo-
ing basis. In addition to this, credit risk is reduced 
using appropriate types of security.

The Executive Board defines the equity of the 
Group as the basic parameter for capital man-
agement, which in turn serves to ensure that the 
Group can continue to cover its investment needs 
and debt service. In this context, the H&R Group 
tries to achieve a capital structure that optimises 
the costs of capital provided both by lenders and 

by investors. Further important basic parameters 
with regard to our capital structure are net debt 
and net gearing which describes the ratio be-
tween net debt and equity. These ratios are sub-
ject to permanent surveillance by the Executive 
Board.

Due to the bond loans, the syndicated loans and 
the bilateral loans H&R AG is obliged to meet the 
financial covenants that are connected to the re-
lation of net debt to operational result (EBITDA) 
and the financial equity ratio. 

CAPITAL STRUCTURE    

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Net Debt/EBITDA 1.00 3.41 2.24 2.97 2.15

Equity ratio in % 45.7 32.5 31.8 34.2 38.0

Net gearing in % 30.2 45.8 42.2 73.4 79.4

Liquidity Risks. The H&R Group ensures that it 
has sufficient liquidity by monitoring its liquidi-
ty status daily, by maintaining financing facilities 
that have not been utilized in full and by refinanc-
ing expiring loan agreements in a timely manner. 
Compliance with financial covenants is a crucial 
part of the financing agreements. If these cove-
nants were to be breached and could not be re-
negotiated or if alternative sources of financing 
could not be found on short notice, this would 
jeopardize the continued existence of the Group. 
H&R AG counters this risk by maintaining a 
 financing structure that includes sufficient equity, 
as well as through measures designed to ensure 
the sustainability and stability of earnings, such 
as switching the Salzbergen site to a contract-pro-
cessing model. 

Default Risk. The risks arising from delays in 
payment or defaults on the part of our customers 
are limited by our broadly diversified customer 
base and the low level of dependence on individu-
al debtors. Strict receivables management by our 
sales partner Hansen & Rosenthal reduces these 
risks even further. Trade credit insurance has also 
been taken out for a number of major customers.

The default risk for banks with which we have 
arranged credit lines, hedged transactions or in-
vested funds has increased since the outbreak of 
the financial crisis. We address this risk by only 

completing financial transactions with institutions 
that have exemplary ratings and by spreading 
larger transactions among several banks.

Raw Materials Price Risk. The H&R Group is 
exposed to price fluctuation risks among other 
things in the purchasing of raw materials, par-
ticularly the purchasing of atmospheric residue 
and vacuum gas oil. Most supply agreements 
concluded with customers relating to specialty 
products manufactured by the Chemical-Phar-
maceutical Raw Materials Division’s specialty 
refineries incorporate prices fixed for a period of 
three months at the most. A specialty refinery’s 
production process, from the delivery of raw ma-
terials to the supply of the finished product to the 
customer, can take up to eight weeks. This means 
that rapid increases in raw materials costs can-
not be passed on immediately to markets but only 
with a time delay. Relevant price developments 
are subject to constant monitoring and analysis. 
Rising raw materials prices may result in “wind-
fall losses” in earnings, and falling raw materials 
prices may lead to ”windfall profits”, which will, 
as a rule, balance out over time.

Foreign Currency Risks. The international align-
ment of the H&R Group means that its operating 
activities give rise to currency risks, among other 
things, that result from exchange-rate fluctua-
tions between the company’s currency and other 
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currencies. These arise particularly in the pur-
chasing area as a result of US dollar transactions. 
Such risks are hedged using forward transactions 
in the trading business. Hedging is not performed 
in the production process, as the length of time 
entailed in the production process means that the 
intended hedge may be reversed by the time that 
the currency forward transaction has concluded.

Interest Rate Risks. The H&R Group employs var-
iable interest-rate facilities, among other things, 
as part of its financing activities. Interest hedg-
ing instruments are implemented to limit risks 
arising from changes in market interest rates. 
These concern interest rate caps and interest rate 
swaps. Such transactions may be entered into on 
a decentralised basis within the H&R Group but 
require the prior approval of the Executive Board. 

(47) Events after the Reporting Date
During the period between 31 December 2015 
and the date of approval of the consolidated 
 financial statements, there were no events with a 
material impact on the net assets, financial posi-
tion or results of operations of H&R AG.

(48)  Approval of Financial Statements
The financial statements were approved and re-
leased for publication by the Executive Board on 
19 February 2016.

Salzbergen, 19 February 2016

The Executive Board

Niels H. Hansen Detlev Wösten
Chairman Member 
of the Executive Board of the Executive Board

Additional Notes
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Attestation by the Legal Representatives

We hereby affirm that, to the best of our knowl-
edge and according to the applicable accounting 
standards, the consolidated financial statements 
convey a true picture of the financial position and 
financial performance and the results of opera-
tions of the Group and that the combined man-
agement report presents the course of business 
including operating profits and the situation of 
the Group in such a way that a true and fair view 
is presented and the material opportunities and 
risks to the projected development of the Group 
are described.

Salzbergen, 19 February 2016

The Executive Board

Niels H. Hansen Detlev Wösten
Chairman Member 
of the Executive Board of the Executive Board
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The following repetition of the auditor’s opinion 
in English language is for translation purposes 
only:

“Auditor’s opinion:
We have audited the consolidated financial state-
ments prepared by H&R Aktiengesellschaft, Salz-
bergen – comprising a consolidated statement 
of financial position, consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for 
the period, consolidated statement of cash flows, 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
notes to the consolidated financial statements – 
and the combined management report of H&R 
Aktiengesellschaft, Salzbergen and the group for 
the financial year from 1 January to 31 Decem-
ber 2015. The preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements and the combined manage-
ment report and group management report in ac-
cordance with IFRS, as adopted by the EU, and 
with the additional requirements of the German 
commercial law pursuant to section 315a para-
graph 1 HGB are the responsibility of the parent 
company’s management. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements and combined management report 
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated finan-
cial statements in accordance with paragraph 317 
HGB and German generally accepted standards 
for the audit of financial statements promulgated 
by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of 
Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW). Those stand-
ards require that we plan and perform the audit 
such that misstatements materially affecting the 
presentation of the net assets, financial position 
and results of operations in the consolidated fi-
nancial statements in accordance with the appli-
cable financial reporting framework and in and 
the combined management report are detected 
with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the 
business activities and the economic and legal 
environment of the Group and expectations as to 
possible misstatements are taken into account in 

the determination of audit procedures. The effec-
tiveness of the accounting-related internal control 
system and the evidence supporting the disclo-
sures in the consolidated financial statements and 
the combined management report are examined 
primarily on a test basis within the framework of 
the audit. The audit includes assessing the annu-
al financial statements of those entities included 
in consolidation, the determination of entities to 
be included in consolidation, the accounting and 
consolidation principles used and significant es-
timates made by management, as well as evalu-
ating the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements and the combined manage-
ment report. We believe that our audit provides a 
reasonable basis for our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our au-
dit, the consolidated financial statements of H&R 
 Aktiengesellschaft, Salzbergen for the financial 
year from 1 January to 31 December 2015 comply 
with IFRS, as adopted by the EU, and the addi-
tional requirements of the German commercial 
law pursuant to § 315a Abs. 1 HGB and give a 
true and fair view of the net assets, financial 
 position and results of operations of the Group in 
accordance with these requirements. The com-
bined management report is consistent with the 
consolidated financial statements and as a whole 
provides a suitable view of the Group’s position 
and suitable presents the opportunities and risks 
of future development.“

Hamburg, 19 February 2016

Warth & Klein Grant Thornton AG
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Dr. Senger von Oertzen
Wirtschaftsprüfer Wirtschaftsprüfer
(German Public Auditor) (German Public Auditor)

Auditor’s Report 
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Glossary

ASEAN-5
Association of Southeast Asian Nations ( Malaysia, 
Indonesia, Thailand, Singapore and the Philip-
pines)
 

ATRES
Short for Atmospheric Residue, also known as 
“long residue”. It is a by-product of crude-oil 
distillation and is used as a feedstock by H&R to 
manufacture primary products at its refineries.

Barrel
Unit of measurement for liquid; in relation to oil 
products, a barrel contains 159 litres.

Blending
In the production of lubricants, blending refers to 
the mixing of oil and additives to form automotive 
and industrial lubricants.

Brent
Leading type of oil from the North Sea.

Cash flow
Key financial figure: cash balance of inflow and 
outflow of funds; split between current opera-
tions, investment activity and financing activity.

CONCAWE Standard
Safety figures LWIF (lost workday injury frequen-
cy) and LWIS (lost workday injury severity). The 
LWIF figure shows the frequency of accidents 
(number of work accidents with at least 1 day lost 
for every 1 million working hours). The LWIS fig-
ure shows the severity of accidents (number of 
days lost per work accident).

Earnings per Share
Key financial figure: net income for year divided 
by the weighted average number of outstanding 
shares; shows how high the profit is for each 
share.

EBITDA
(Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 
amortisation) Key financial figure: defined as con-
solidated earnings before interest earnings, taxes 
on income as well as depreciation on tangible as-
sets and amortisation of goodwill. In the case of 
H&R, operation income.

Equity Ratio
Key financial figure: shows the ratio of equity to 
total assets and represents the finance structure.

Free cash flow
Key performance indicator: the sum of cash flow 
from operating activities and cash flow from in-
vesting activities; provides information about the 
liquid funds held after capital expenditure has 
been deducted.

German Corporate Governance Code
Recommendations and suggestions on conduct 
from the governmential commission of the same 
name on corporate management and supervision 
for listed companies in Germany.

Group I Refinery
Refineries can be divided into various groups 
(Groups I to IV). This is done by reference to vari-
ous properties of the base oil, such as the sulphur 
content and the viscosity index.

Net Gearing Ratio
Key performance indicator: the ratio of net finan-
cial debt to equity; provides an insight into the 
financing structure.

Net Working Capital
Key performance indicator: net working capital is 
defined as trade receivables plus inventories less 
trade payables.



165 ADDITIONAL INFORMATIONGlossary

Paraffin
Products of special refinery production: paraffin is 
oil-based wax which is used in over 100 different 
industries and sectors for manufacturing a wide 
variety of products.

Plasticisers
Product of special refinery production: extracts 
are used as softening agents in the rubber and 
caoutchouc industry (in particular in tyre produc-
tion).

Propane Deasphalting Unit (PDU)
Extraction unit which produces deasphalted oil 
and asphalt from vacuum residue using propane 
as solvent.

REACH
Registration, Evaluation, Authorization and Re-
striction of Chemicals. The acronym stands for 
the name of the EC regulation on chemical sub-
stances.

Return on Capital Employed (ROCE)
Key performance indicator: the ratio of EBIT to 
average capital employed (equity plus net finan-
cial debt, pension provisions and other non-cur-
rent provisions); crucial for value-based corporate 
management at H&R AG.

Return on Equity
Key performance indicator: the ratio of profit 
(consolidated net profit before minority interests) 
to average equity; provides information about the 
amount of interest paid on capital from equity 
providers.

Special Refinery Activities
Production of highly refined raw materials for the 
chemical and pharmaceutical industries using oil-
based materials.

Syndicated Loan
Granting of a fixed credit line for a specified peri-
od of time by a consortium of several banks.

Tool
Designation for the injection mould in the manu-
facture of plastic parts.

Value Creation
Increase in value of goods used in the production 
process.

VGO
Vacuum-gas oil, like ATRES, is created from the 
process of refining crude oil and is also used as 
an input material for H&R’s refineries.

WACC
Weighted Average Cost of Capital

White Oil
Product of special refinery production: highly re-
fined and purified oil which is used especially as 
an input material in the cosmetics and polysty-
rene industries.
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Six-Year Overview H&R Group Key Figures (IFRS)

 

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Sales volume (main products)1) KT 762 697 734 839 872 932

Revenue € MILLION 982.9 1,058.6 1,214.4 1,228.9 1,209.5 1,056.8

Operating result (EBITDA) € MILLION 86.0 31.5 32.6 49.4 89.1 103.4

EBIT € MILLION 49.2 5.8 -4.1 25.5 68.1 82.0

Earnings before taxes € MILLION 34.8 -7.8 -16.8 1.6 54.5 73.6

Consolidated earnings   
before minority interests € MILLION 27.4 -15.6 -14.0 0.4 38.5 52.0

Group profit/(loss) after minority interests € MILLION 27.5 -15.4 -14.0 0.5 38.5 52.0

Consolidated earnings per share (undiluted) € 0.77 -0.49 -0.47 0.02 1.29 1.74

Dividend per share € 0 0 0 0 0.6 0.65

Market capitalisation as at 31/12 € MILLION 330.9 270.1 260.7 354.4 496.1 630.9

Balance sheet total € MILLION 628.8 706.6 594.7 623.1 636.6 532.4

Net Working Capital € MILLION 139.5 127.4 104.2 188.9 265.0 202.2

Equity € MILLION 287.1 248.9 189.2 213.3 236.7 226.4

Equity capital share % 45.7 35.2 31.8 34.2 37.2 42.5

Net indebtedness € MILLION 86.7 107.3 73.1 146.3 183.4 110.4

Net gearing % 30.2 45.8 38.6 68.6 77.5 48.8

Operating cash flow € MILLION 56.4 -0.4 88.9 84.7 -11.8 52.1

Free cash flow € MILLION 28.4 -10.5 72.8 50.9 -54.2 19.3

1) Chemical-Pharmaceutical Raw Materials Division.
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Our financial calendar is updated on an ongoing 
basis. Please visit our website www.hur.com in 
the Investor Relations section for the latest events.

28 January 2016 Publication of provisional figues for financial year 2015

21 March 2016 Publication of Final Figures 2015, Press and Analysts’ Conference

13 May 2016 Publication of Q1 2016

18 May 2016 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, Hamburg 

12 August 2016 Publication of Q2 2016 

15 November 2016 Publication of Q3 2016

Financial Calendar

www.hur.com



Contact

If you have further questions concerning our compa-
ny or if you would like to sign up for the company 
mailing list, please contact our  Investor Relations 
Team:

H&R AG 
Investor Relations 
Am Sandtorkai 50 
20457 Hamburg
www.hur.com 

Ties Kaiser 
Phone: +49 (0) 40-43218-321
Fax: +49 (0) 40-43218-390
Email: ties.kaiser@hur.com

Tanja Passlack
Phone: +49 (0) 40-43218-301
Fax: +49 (0) 40-43218-390
Email: tanja.passlack@hur.com

Imprint

Published by: 

H&R AG
Neuenkirchener Straße 8
48499 Salzbergen

Concept/Design: 
Berichtsmanufaktur GmbH, Hamburg

Photos: 
Yavuz Arslan

This Annual Report was published  
on 21 March 2016.

Disclaimer 

Forward-looking statements

This document contains forward-looking state-
ments that reflect management’s current views 
with respect to future events. Such statements are 
subject to risks and uncertainties that are beyond 
H&R’s ability to control or estimate precisely, such 
as future market and economic conditions, the 
behavior of other market participants, the ability 
to successfully integrate acquired businesses and 
achieve anticipated synergies and the actions of 
government regulators. If any of these or other 
risks and uncertainties occur, or if the assump-
tions underlying any of these statements prove 
incorrect, then actual results may be materially 
different from those expressed or implied by such 
statements. H&R does not intend or assume any 
obligation to update any forward-looking state-
ments to reflect events or circumstances after the 
date of these materials.

Variances for technical reasons

For technical reasons (e. g. conversion of electronic 
formats) there may be variances between the ac-
counting documents contained in this annual re-
port and those submitted to the electronic Federal 
Gazette (Bundesanzeiger). In this case, the version 
submitted to the electronic Federal Gazette shall 
be binding.

This English version of the annual report is a trans-
lation of the original German version; in the event 
of variances, the German version shall take prece-
dence over the English translation.
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H&R AG
Neuenkirchener Straße 8
48499 Salzbergen
Germany

Phone:  +49 (0)59 76-9 45-0
Fax: +49 (0)59 76-9 45-308

Email: info@hur.com
Website: www.hur.com

h
&r

 a
g

A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 
20

15


	160317umschlag_en_off_woodwing.pdf
	160318_Lage_en.pdf
	160317_Lay_HuR_GB2015_Abschluss_en.pdf



